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‘OUTH INDUSTRIAL REIT

th Industrial REIT, Inc. (NYSE:
PLYM) is a full service, vertically
integrated real estate investment company

focused on the acquisition, ownership and
management of single and multi-tenant /
industrial properties. Our mission is to
provide tenants with cost effective space
that is functional, flexible and safe.
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Square Feet
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‘PLYMOUTH REIT

Dear Fellow Shareholder:

I hope this letter finds you in good spirits. At year
end 2024, we owned (fully or through joint ventures)
36 million square feet of industrial space valued at
approximately § 2.1 billion. From the first mile to
the last mile, our mission is to continue to provide
our 500+ tenants with cost effective space that 1s

functional, flexible and safe.

The Plymouth team worked across all areas of our business to improve
operations and deliver results. The year brought both challenges and
opportunities and I want to thank them for their collective efforts. I
would be remiss if I did not continue my refrain of emphasizing that
everyone at Plymouth receives restricted common stock units as part
of their compensation. This reinforces our belief in employees as

shareholders.

Leasing

Historically low vacancy and record-high leasing activity moderated
significantly during the year. For 2024, our asset management and
property management teams executed leases totalling 5,827,136 square
feet. Of this total, 4,180,593 square feet were renewal leases and
1,646,543 square feet were new leases. The new rental rates under

these leases reflect a 17.1% increase on a cash basis. Despite our ability
to continue to raise rental rates, we experienced a reduction in Net
Operating Income (NOI) and correspondingly in Funds Irom Operation
(FFO) for the full year as a direct result of 2 tenants declaring bankruptcy
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and eventually vacating the buildings. As we
enter 2025, we have backfilled some of that

vacancy and fully expect to lease the balance
of the space at higher rents, thus recapturing

the NOI and driving future growth.

Across our markets, vacancy rates continued

to be nuanced by size segment with smaller
industrial product (under 100,000 sf) remaining
tight at 3.9%, which is the leasing segment that
we primarily operate in. Our average tenant size

is 58,340 sf.

Acquisitions

2024 was a light volume year for acquisitions.
We acquired a 1,621,241 square foot portfolio
in Memphis, Tennessee at a purchase price of
$100.5 million. Located across the Southeast
and Northeast submarkets of Memphis, the
portfolio of 14 industrial buildings had an initial
NOTI yield of 8%, was 94 % leased to 46 tenants
with a weighted average remaining lease term
of approximately 3.4 years. This acquisition
fits within our high conviction investment thesis
with existing contract rents below market, a call

center to industrial conversion, and additional

buildable land.

In December we acquired a portfolio of
primarily small bay industrial properties in
Cincinnati, Ohio for $20.1 million. The
portfolio consists of nine buildings totaling
258,082 square feet that are currently 96.9%
leased to 23 tenants with a weighted average
lease term of approximately 2.75 ycars. These
assets are a strong addition to our existing
presence that will now total over 3 million
square feet in the Cincinnati market. We
have purchased these buildings well helow
replacement cost with below-market rents.
Consistent with the plans we have previously
outlined to deploy our available capital,

we expect to improve these initial returns
significantly over the next two years through

leasing and asset management.

Our investment thesis of investing
in markets that will benefit from
the onshoring and reshoring of
manufacturing and supply lines
continues to gain momentum.

== Jeffrey E. Witherell
1 4 Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

! ' Co-Founder




Memphis, Tennessee

We strongly believe that the Memphis industrial real estate
market has a bright future. In addition to being home to the
Global Headquarters of the FedEx Corporation, Memphis has
the 2nd largest cargo airport, 3rd busiest trucking corridor,
3rd highest concentration of rail, and the 5th largest inland
port in the United States.




_~~ will be the primary beneficiary of the continuous onshoring and

The Golden Triangle

Our primary investment thesis remains focused on owning
industrial re_él.estate within the Golden Triangle - Defined roughly
as the land area starting in the Great Lakes Region, heading
Southwest towards Texas, then East to Florida, and then back

. qp_fo the Great Lakes. We believe that The Golden Triangle

reshoring of manufacturing to the United States.




Development

In 2024 we completed the construction of the
final building in what we classified as the Phase I
development plan. Plymouth was the developer
of the 52,920 square building located in Liberty
Business Park in Jacksonville, Florida, where

we own and manage the park. In December

of 2024 we began construction on the last
remaining land parcel in Liberty Business Park
with a 41,958 square foot building. The building
1s expected to be completed in December 2025.
With this completion, Liberty Business Park will

contain 519,544 square feet of leasable space.

Phase I development consisted of seven new
buildings constructed adding 772,622 of leasable
space to the Plymouth ownership portfolio.

Total development spend was approximately
$70,000,000. We currently own buildable land
that in the aggregate will allow for over 1.6
million square feet of new building area. We
continue to assess the market dynamics that

will guide us toward the start of our phase II

development program.

Sixth Street Transaction

We entered into a $250 million strategic
transaction with Sixth Street Partners (www.
sixthstreet) that will provide upwards of $500
million of capital for deployment. The two
primary components include a $140 million

preferred equity commitment and the balance

in the formation of a real estate joint venture,
with additional consideration of equity warrants
issued to Sixth Street. Our Chicago portfolio

of 34 properties with 6 million square feet

was contributed to the joint venture whereby
Plymouth retains 35% and Sixth Street owns
65%. Sixth Street completed a comprehensive
underwriting of the entire portfolio and
concluded that our market value was
substantially undervalued and did not reflect the

true value of our real estate platform.

Balance Sheet Capacity and Debt Laddering
We upsized our aggregate borrowing capacity
to $1.5 billion with a new $600 million
unsecured credit facility that extended
maturities, enhanced ability for us to pursue
other unsecured debt, and complemented our

existing $350 million in term loans.

Environmental Sustainability
We made incremental progress within several

sustainability programs across our portfolio
in 2024.

Plymouth is consistently working to convert old
lighting within our portfolio to LED lighting:
To date, we have converted 15.3 million

square feet (up from 14.9 million square feet

at the beginning of 2024). Lighting consumes
approximately 17% of the total energy that our
buildings use, and LED lights consume 75%




to 90% less energy than conventional lighting,
We estimate that these upgrades have reduced
total electricity consumption across our entire

portfolio by approximately 8%.

We advanced our Environmentally Beneficial
Roofing Initiative by continuing to install ‘cool’
roofs and silicone roof coatings across our
porttolio. Cool roofs reduce energy consumed
by our tenants, lower carbon emissions, and
increase the life span of our air conditioning
units. To date, 19.7 million square feet (up
from 17.7 million square feet at the beginning
of 2024) has a ‘cool’ roof. This total includes
2 million square feet of roofcoatings which

eliminates landfill waste.

During 2024 we completed the installation of

a 1,115 KW roof top array on our recently
constructed building in Portland, Maine.
Additionally, we have three buildings in Chicago,

[linois that were accepted into the Illinois

Community Solar Program totalling 5,481
KW. We expect these arrays to come on line in
2025. We will continue to diligently work on our

environmental initiatives across our portfolio.

Across our portfolio markets, supply and
demand fundamentals continue to come

into balance, reinforcing the resilience of our
“Golden Triangle” markets. The strategic Sixth
Street transaction has positioned us to be net
acquirers in 2025 - an opportunity the public
equity markets did not provide for most of 2023
and 2024. Our current trading price remains
at a significant discount to a conservative Net
Asset Value (NAV). As we begin 2025, we will
focus our collective efforts thru our vertically
integrated operating platform on leasing,

portfolio improvements and capital deployment.

On behalf of everyone at Plymouth Industrial
REIT, I thank you for your ongoing support.

P

Jeffrey E. Witherell
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
Co-Founder




Solar Initiative

In 2024 we continued to make progress across
our Solar Initiative. We completed the installation
of a 1,115 kilowatt roof-top array on our recently
constructed building in Portland, Maine.
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Representative Portfolio

32 Dart Road 11650 Lakeside Crossing Court Shadeland Commerce Center
194,800 square feet 100,021 square feet 1,747,411 square feet
Atlanta, GA St. Louis, MO Indianapolis, IN

Airport Business Park 30339 Diamond Parkway 2100 International Parkway
235,071 square feet 404,184 square feet 274,464 square feet
Memphis, TN Cleveland, OH Canton, OH

Salisbury Business Park 6739, 6777 & 6785 New Fisher Industrial Park

168,800 square feet Calhoun Highway 1,403,932 square feet

Jacksonville, FL 736,600 square feet Cinncinati, OH
Atlanta, GA




Following is the Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024






UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)
AANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024

or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number 001-38106
PLYMOUTH INDUSTRIAL REIT, INC.

(Exact name of registrant in its charter)

Maryland 27-5466153
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation of organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

20 Custom House Street, 11" Floor Boston, MA 02110
(Address of principal executive offices)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (617) 340-3814
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Name of Each Exchange
Title of Each Class Trading Symbol on Which Registered
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share PLYM New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yesd No ™

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act. Yes[ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1)" has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes M No[O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to
Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to submit such files). Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting

company, or emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and
“emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

99 <

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer O Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O
Emerging growth company [I

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying
with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its
internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting
firm that prepared or issued its audit report. M

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant
included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. [J

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based
compensation received by any of the registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act) Yes [ No

The aggregate market value of the registrant’s common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant (based on the closing price reported on
the NYSE on June 30, 2024) was $954,174,904.

Shares held by all executive officers and directors of the registrant have been excluded from the foregoing calculation because such persons
may be deemed to be affiliates of the registrant.

The number of shares of the registrant’s common stock outstanding as of February 27, 2025 was 45,550,898.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement relating to its 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by reference
into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The registrant expects to file its Definitive Proxy Statement with the Securities and Exchange
Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2024.



Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc.

Table of Contents
ITEM PAGE
PART I
1. BUSINESS ...ttt bt a et et b et h e h e a et b e eh bt b ekt et n b e bt et e bt bt eh e a e et et et e b nhe bt e e entetens 3
TAL RISK FACLOTS ..ttt h et ettt b e e bt e h e st es et e et e bt s bt eb e ehten s et et e besbeebeebeenn et ensen 6
1B, Unresolved Staff COMIMENES .......c.oouiriiitiriiitiierieeeie ettt ettt ettt bt bt ettt es et e st e bt bt et e eates b en e et e beseeebesbeeneeneenean 28
| T 0 011 £ T 1 L7 U 28
2. PLOPEITICS ....eeeeeteteet ettt ettt ettt e e s et et e e st esteesaeesee s e e s e enseenseemsesseeeseanseenseanseesseesae st et e enseenteeneeeneeseenseenneeneenne 29
3. @Al PrOCEEAINES ...enteeeteeieeetie ettt ettt ettt et e bt e bt et e e et e et e sa e e es e e st e st emteemeeeseees e e s e enseenseenseeneeeneeeneeneenneans 34
4, MINE SATELY DISCIOSUIES ....eeuviieiiieiii et etie et etee et e ettt e ete e tbeesaaeesebeessseessseessseessseessseassseessseessseensseessseeseeenseeenseennns 34
PART II
5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.... 35
6 RESEIVE. ...ttt et h e h e a et b e e h e bt e bt eh b e st en b et e et e e bt e bt eh e ea e et e b et e b nheebe et et eten 36
7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations .............cccceceverenieenennnne 36
7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market RiSK...........cccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicceccs e 49
8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data...........ccoocvevieiieiiiiie e 49
9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure............ccccoeevevverienirennnnne. 49
OA.  Controls and PIOCEAUIES .........cc.couiiiiiiiiiiiiite ettt ettt st besb e eb et et e st e b sbe st sbeebeeanens 49
OB.  Other INFOIMATION .....eoiiiiiiiiiieiti ettt ettt ettt et e e e e sae et e eateeseeeaeees e e s e e st emseemeeemeesaeeeseenseenseenseeneenneenean 49
9C. Holding Foreign Companies ACCOUNLADIE ACE .......ccuiiiiiieiieie ettt ettt st e see e e e eeseesaeeseeneeas 49
PART III
10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate GOVEIMANCE ...........cvieveieueertierieeteereereeereeereesseesseeseessesssesseesseesseessesseesns 50
L1, EXCCULIVE COMPENSALION. .. ..uviieietierrieireeeeesteesteeteasseeseesseesseesseesseesseassesssessaesseesseassesssesssesseesseesseessenssssssesssessesssessesssenses 50
12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters...................... 50
13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence...........c.ccoceveririeriiiiinincnicninecceennen 50
14.  Principal Accountant FEes and EXPENSES........c.ccvieruiiiiiieriieiieii ettt sttt sttt et esteenteenaeesaesseenseensesneesneenns 50
PART IV
15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement SChedULes..........c.ooiiiiiiiiiiei ettt 51

16, FOIM 10-K SUIMMATY ...oiiiiiiiiieiie ettt ettt e et e e et eeteeeataeesbeeasbaeensaeensaeenseeensaeenseeansaeanseesnsaeenseesnseeenseenn 52



CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We make statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are forward-looking statements, which are usually identified by the
use of words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “projects,” “seeks,” “should,”
“will,” and variations of such words or similar expressions. Our forward-looking statements reflect our current views about our
plans, intentions, expectations, strategies and prospects, which are based on the information currently available to us and on
assumptions we have made. Although we believe that our plans, intentions, expectations, strategies and prospects as reflected in or
suggested by our forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give no assurance that our plans, intentions, expectations,
strategies or prospects will be attained or achieved and you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.
Additionally, unforeseen factors emerge from time to time, and we cannot predict which factors will arise or their ultimate impact
on our business or the extent to which any such factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from
those contained in any forward-looking statements. Furthermore, actual results may differ materially from those described in the
forward-looking statements and may be affected by a variety of risks and factors including, without limitation:

EEINT3 ELINT3

» inflation, deflation and the general level of interest rates;

» financing risks, including the risks that our cash flows from operations may be insufficient to meet required payments of
principal and interest and we may be unable to refinance our existing debt upon maturity or obtain new financing on
attractive terms or at all;

* the uncertainty and economic impact of pandemics, epidemics or other public health emergencies or fear of such events,
such as the outbreak of COVID-19, including, without limitation, its impact on the Company’s ability to pay common
stock dividends and/or the amount and frequency of the dividends;

e the competitive environment in which we operate;

* real estate risks, including fluctuations in real estate values and the general economic climate in local markets and
competition for tenants in such markets;

* decreased rental rates or increasing vacancy rates;

*  potential defaults on or non-renewal of leases by tenants;

»  potential bankruptcy or insolvency of tenants;

e acquisition risks, including failure of such acquisitions to perform in accordance with projections;

« the timing of acquisitions and dispositions;

e potential natural disasters such as earthquakes, wildfires or floods;

e  national, international, regional and local economic conditions;

*  potential changes in the law or governmental regulations that affect us and interpretations of those laws and regulations,
including changes in real estate and zoning or real estate investment trust (“REIT”) tax laws, potential increases in real
property tax rates, and changes to trade policies and tariffs that affect U.S. relations with the rest of the world;

e lack of or insufficient amounts of insurance;

»  possible cybersecurity breaches;

e our ability to maintain our qualification as a REIT;

» litigation, including costs associated with prosecuting or defending claims and any adverse outcomes; and

e possible environmental liabilities, including costs, fines or penalties that may be incurred due to necessary remediation of
contamination of properties presently owned or previously owned by us.

For additional information on the risks associated with our business, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and “Item 7A. Quantitative
and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made. New risks and uncertainties arise over time, and
it is not possible for us to predict those events or how they may affect us. Except as required by law, we are not obligated to, and
do not intend to, update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.



Glossary

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

“annualized rent” means the monthly base rent for the applicable property or properties as of December 31, 2024,
multiplied by 12 and then multiplied by our percentage ownership interest for such property, where applicable, and “total
annualized rent” means the annualized rent for the applicable group of properties;

“capitalization rate” means the ratio of a property’s annual net operating income to its purchase price;

“Company Portfolio” means the 129 distribution centers, warehouse, light industrial and small bay industrial properties
which we wholly own as of December 31, 2024, and does not include properties held by unconsolidated joint ventures or
our property management office located in Columbus, Ohio;

“Gateway Markets” means gateway cities and the following six largest metropolitan areas in the U.S., each generally
consisting of more than 300 million square feet of industrial space: Los Angeles, San Francisco, New York, Washington,
DC, Miami and Seattle;

“OP Units” means units of limited partnership interest in our Operating Partnership;

“Operating Partnership” means Plymouth Industrial OP, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, and the subsidiaries through
which we conduct substantially all of our business;

“Plymouth,” the “company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc., a Maryland corporation, and
its consolidated subsidiaries, except where it is clear from the context that the term only means Plymouth Industrial
REIT, Inc., the issuer of the shares of common and preferred stock;

“Primary Markets” means the following two metropolitan areas in the U.S., each generally consisting of more than
300 million square feet of industrial space: Chicago and Atlanta; and

“Secondary Markets” means for our purposes non-primary markets, each generally consisting of between 100 million and
300 million square feet of industrial space, including the following metropolitan areas in the U.S.: Austin, Baltimore,
Boston, Charlotte, Cincinnati, Cleveland, Columbus, Dallas, Detroit, Houston, Indianapolis, Jacksonville, Kansas City,
Memphis, Milwaukee, Nashville, Norfolk, Orlando, Philadelphia, Pittsburgh, Raleigh/Durham, San Antonio, South
Florida, St. Louis and Tampa.

Our definitions of Primary Markets and Secondary Markets may vary from the definitions of these terms used by investors,
analysts or other industrial REITs.



PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

EEINT3 EEINT3

Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc., collectively with its consolidated subsidiaries (“Plymouth,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and
“our”), is a full service, vertically integrated, self-administered and self-managed REIT focused on the acquisition, ownership,
management, redevelopment and development of single and multi-tenant industrial properties, including distribution centers,
warehouses, light industrial and small bay industrial properties, located in Primary Markets and Secondary Markets, as well as
select sub-markets, with access to large pools of skilled labor in the main industrial, distribution and logistics corridors of the United
States. The Company was founded in March 2011 by Jeffrey Witherell who has over 30 years of experience acquiring, owning and
operating commercial real estate properties. We are a Maryland corporation and our common stock is publicly traded on the New
York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) under the symbol “PLYM”. Our headquarters and executive offices are located in Boston,
Massachusetts. Additionally, we have regional offices in Columbus, Ohio, Jacksonville, Florida, Memphis, Tennessee, and Atlanta,
Georgia.

We are structured as an umbrella partnership REIT, commonly called an “UPREIT,” and own substantially all of our assets
and conduct substantially all of our business through Plymouth Industrial OP, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Operating
Partnership”). As of December 31, 2024, the Company owned a 98.9% equity interest in the Operating Partnership. Any net
proceeds from our public offerings will be contributed to the Operating Partnership in exchange for OP Units. Our interest in the
Operating Partnership will generally entitle us to share in cash distributions from, and in the profits and losses of, our Operating
Partnership in proportion to our percentage ownership. As the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership, we generally have
the exclusive power under the partnership agreement to manage and conduct its business and affairs, subject to certain limited
approval and voting rights of the limited partners.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s portfolio consists of 129 industrial properties (the “Company Portfolio”) comprising
of 199 buildings located in eleven states with an aggregate of approximately 29.3 million rentable square feet. The Company
Portfolio was 92.3% leased to 443 different tenants across 34 industry types as of December 31, 2024. We also own a 35% equity
interest in, and provide services to, a joint venture through a wholly owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership. The joint
venture is accounted for using the equity method of accounting. As such, the operating data of the joint venture is not consolidated
with that of the Company.

Investment Strategy

We intend to continue to focus on the acquisition of industrial properties located in Primary Markets and Secondary Markets,
as well as select sub-markets, with access to large pools of skilled labor in the main industrial, distribution and logistics corridors
of the United States, which we refer to as our target markets. We believe industrial properties in such target markets will provide
superior and consistent cash flow returns at generally lower acquisition costs relative to replacement cost and to industrial properties
in Gateway Markets. Further, we believe there is a greater potential for higher rates of appreciation in the value of industrial
properties in our target markets relative to industrial properties in Gateway Markets.

We believe our target markets provide us with opportunities to acquire both stabilized properties generating favorable cash
flows, as well as properties where we can enhance returns through leasing, value-add renovations, value-add redevelopment and
ground-up development. We focus primarily on the following investments:

* single-tenant and multi-tenant industrial properties where tenants are paying below-market rents with near-term lease
expirations that we believe have a high likelihood of renewal at market rents; and

*  multi-tenant industrial properties that we believe would benefit from our value-add management approach to create
attractive leasing options for our tenants, and as a result of the presence of smaller tenants, obtain higher per-square-foot
rents.

We believe there are a significant number of attractive acquisition opportunities available to us in our target markets and that
the fragmented ownership of industrial properties within our target markets and the complex operating requirements of the industrial
properties we target generally make it more difficult for less-experienced or less-focused operators to access comparable investment
opportunities on a consistent basis. While we will focus on investment opportunities in our target markets, we may make
opportunistic acquisitions of industrial properties in other markets when we believe we can achieve attractive risk-adjusted returns.

We also intend to continue pursuing joint venture arrangements with institutional partners which could provide management
fee income, a residual profit-sharing income and the ability to purchase properties out of the joint venture over time. Such joint
ventures may involve investing in industrial assets that would be characterized as opportunistic or value-add investments. These
may involve development or redevelopment strategies that may require significant up-front capital expenditures, lengthy lease-up
periods and result in inconsistent cash flows. As such, these properties’ risk profiles and return metrics would likely differ from the
non-joint venture properties that we target for acquisition.



Investment Criteria

We believe that our market knowledge, operations systems and internal processes allow us to efficiently analyze the risks
associated with an asset’s ability to produce cash flow going forward. We blend fundamental real estate analysis with corporate
credit analysis to make an assessment of probable cash flows that will be realized in future periods. We also use data-driven and
event-driven analytics and primary research to identify and pursue emerging investment opportunities.

Our investment strategy focuses on industrial properties in Primary Markets and Secondary Markets, as well as select sub-
markets, with access to large pools of skilled labor in the main industrial, distribution and logistics corridors of the United States
for the following reasons:

* investment yields for industrial properties located in our target markets are often greater than investment yields on both
industrial properties and other commercial property types located in Gateway Markets;

* we believe there is less competition for industrial properties in our target markets from institutional real estate buyers; our
typical competitors are local investors who often do not have ready access to debt or equity capital,

» the industrial markets that we target are highly fragmented with complex operating requirements, which we believe makes
it difficult for less-experienced or less-focused operators to access comparable investment opportunities on a consistent
basis;

e we believe that there is a limited new supply of industrial space in our target markets;

*  our target markets generally have less occupancy and rental rate volatility than Gateway Markets;

* we believe our target markets generally have more capital appreciation and growth potential at a lower cost basis than
Gateway Markets; and

*  we believe that the demand for e-commerce-related properties, or e-fulfillment facilities, will continue to grow and play a
significant role in our investing strategy.

We seek to maximize our cash flows through proactive asset management. Our asset management team actively manages our
properties in an effort to maintain high retention rates, lease vacant space, manage operating expenses and maintain our properties
to an appropriate standard. In doing so, we have developed strong tenant relationships. We intend to leverage those relationships
and market knowledge to increase renewals, achieve market rents, obtain early notification of departures to provide longer re-
leasing periods and work with tenants to properly maintain the quality and attractiveness of our properties.

Our asset management team functions include strategic planning and decision-making, centralized leasing activities and
management of third-party leasing companies. Our asset management team oversees property management activities relating to our
properties which include controlling capital expenditures and expenses that are not reimbursable by tenants, making regular property
inspections, overseeing rent collections and cost control and planning and budgeting activities. Tenant relations matters, including
monitoring of tenant compliance with their property maintenance obligations and other lease provisions, will be handled by in-
house personnel for most of our properties.

Financing Strategy

We intend to maintain a flexible and growth-oriented capital structure. We intend to use the net proceeds from our public
offerings and issuances of preferred stock along with additional indebtedness to acquire industrial properties. Our additional
indebtedness may include unsecured arrangements such as our revolving credit facility and term loans, or, secured arrangements
such as mortgages. We believe that we will have the ability to leverage newly-acquired properties with our long-term target debt-
to-value ratio of less than 50%. We also anticipate using OP Units to acquire properties from existing owners interested in tax-
deferred transactions.

Joint Venture

On August 26, 2024, the Operating Partnership, Isosceles JV Investments, LLC, an affiliate of Sixth Street Partners, LLC (the
“Investor”), and Isosceles JV, LLC, an affiliate of Sixth Street Partners, LLC (the “Joint Venture”), entered into a Limited Liability
Company Interest Contribution Agreement, pursuant to which the Operating Partnership ultimately contributed (the “Contribution”)
100% of its equity interests in directly and indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries owning 34 properties located in and around the
Chicago metropolitan statistical area (each, a “Chicago Property” and, collectively the “Chicago Properties”) to the Joint Venture,
which is owned 35% by Plymouth Chicago Portfolio, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership, and 65% by
the Investor. The Operating Partnership completed the Contribution on November 13, 2024.

Competition

In acquiring our properties, we compete with other public industrial property sector REITs, income oriented non-traded REITs,
private real estate fund managers and local real estate investors and developers. Historically, local real estate investors and
developers have represented our dominant competition for acquisition opportunities, however, they do not typically have the same
access to capital as afforded to us as a publicly traded entity. We also face significant competition in leasing available space to
prospective tenants and in re-leasing space to existing tenants.



We believe we have a competitive advantage in sourcing attractive acquisitions because the competition for our target assets is
primarily from local investors who are not likely to have ready access to debt or equity capital. In addition, our umbrella partnership
real estate investment trust, or UPREIT, structure enables us to acquire industrial properties on a non-cash basis in a tax efficient
manner through the issuance of OP Units as full or partial consideration for the transaction. We will also continue to develop our
large existing network of relationships with real estate and financial intermediaries. These individuals and companies give us access
to significant deal flow — both those broadly marketed and those exposed through only limited marketing. The acquisition of
properties will be transacted primarily from third-party owners of existing leased buildings and secondarily from owner-occupiers
through sale-leaseback transactions.

Regulation
General

Our properties are subject to various laws, ordinances and regulations, including regulations relating to common areas and fire
and safety requirements. We believe that we have the necessary permits and approvals to operate each of our properties.

Americans with Disabilities Act

Our properties must comply with Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (the “ADA”) to the extent that such
properties are “public accommodations” as defined thereunder. Under the ADA, all public accommodations must meet federal
requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. The ADA may require removal of structural barriers to access by persons
with disabilities in certain public areas of our properties where such removal is readily achievable. Although we believe that the
properties in the Company Portfolio in the aggregate substantially comply with present requirements of the ADA, and we have not
received any notice for correction from any regulatory agency, we have not conducted a comprehensive audit or investigation of all
of our properties to determine whether we are in compliance and therefore we may own properties that are not in compliance with
the ADA.

ADA compliance is dependent upon the tenant’s specific use of the property, and as the use of a property changes or
improvements to existing spaces are made, we will take steps to ensure compliance. Noncompliance with the ADA could result in
additional costs to attain compliance, imposition of fines by the U.S. government or an award of damages or attorney’s fees to
private litigants. The obligation to make readily achievable accommodations is an ongoing one, and we will continue to assess our
properties and to make alterations to achieve compliance as necessary. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to the Real
Estate Industry and the Broader Economy.”

Environmental Matters

The Company Portfolio is subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws. Under these laws, courts and government
agencies have the authority to require us, as owner of a contaminated property, to clean up the property, even if we did not know of
or were not responsible for the contamination. These laws also apply to persons who owned a property at the time it became
contaminated, and therefore, it is possible we could incur these costs even after we sell some of the properties we acquire. In addition
to the costs of cleanup, environmental contamination can affect the value of a property and, therefore, an owner’s ability to borrow
using the property as collateral or to sell the property. Under applicable environmental laws, courts and government agencies also
have the authority to require that a person who sent waste to a waste disposal facility, such as a landfill or an incinerator, pay for
the clean-up of that facility if it becomes contaminated and threatens human health or the environment. Furthermore, various court
decisions have established that third parties may recover damages for injury caused by property contamination, and some
environmental laws restrict the use of a property or place conditions on various activities.

We could be responsible for any of the costs discussed above. These and other risks related to environmental matters are
described in more detail in “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to the Real Estate Industry and the Broader Economy.”

Insurance

We carry commercial property, liability and terrorism coverage on all the properties in the Company Portfolio under a blanket
insurance policy. Generally, we do not carry insurance for certain types of extraordinary losses, including, but not limited to, losses
caused by riots, war, earthquakes and wildfires unless the property is in a higher risk area for those events. We believe the policy
specifications and insured limits are appropriate and adequate given the relative risk of loss, the cost of the coverage and standard
industry practice, however, our insurance coverage may not be sufficient to fully cover all of our losses. In addition, our title
insurance policies may not insure for the current aggregate market value of the Company Portfolio, and we do not intend to increase
our title insurance coverage as the market value of the Company Portfolio increases.

Human Capital

As of December 31, 2024, we had forty-six full time employees. None of our employees are represented by a collective
bargaining agreement.

We are committed to maintaining a work culture that treats all employees fairly and with respect, promotes inclusivity, provides
equal opportunities for the professional development of our employees and advancement based on merit. As of December 31, 2024,
females constituted approximately 56% of our workforce and 50% of our managerial employees. We intend to continue utilizing a



multifaceted recruiting, talent development, and internal promotion strategy to expand the diversity of our employee base across all
roles and functions.

To attract and retain top talent in our highly competitive industry, we have designed our compensation and benefits programs
to provide an effective reward structure aligned with the achievement of key business objectives. Our employees are eligible for
medical and dental insurance, a savings/retirement plan, disability insurance and receive restricted stock grants per the 2014
Incentive Plan.

Legal Proceedings

We are not currently a party, as plaintiff or defendant, to any material legal proceedings. From time to time, we may become
party to various lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business. There can be no
assurance that these matters that may arise in the future, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition or results of operations.

Our Corporate Information

Our principal executive offices are located at 20 Custom House Street, 11" Floor, Boston, Massachusetts 02110. Our telephone
number is (617) 340-3814. Our website is www.plymouthreit.com. We electronically file our Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Access to those reports and other filings with the SEC may be obtained, free of
charge from our website, www.plymouthreit.com or through the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. These reports are available as
soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed or furnished to the SEC.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following risk factors and other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” should be carefully considered. The
risks and uncertainties described below are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us
or that we may currently deem immaterial also may impair our business operations. If any of the following or other risks occur,
our business financial condition, operating results, cash flows and distributions, as well as the market price of our securities, could
be materially adversely affected.

Summary of Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Business and Operations:

e Our assets are concentrated in the industrial real estate sector, and our business could be materially adversely affected by
an economic downturn in that sector.

*  We are subject to risks associated with single-tenant leases, and the default by one or more tenants could materially
adversely affect our results of operations and financial results.

*  We are subject to risks related to tenant concentration, which could materially adversely affect our cash flows, result of
operations and financial condition.

*  Our Company Portfolio is geographically concentrated in two of our Primary Markets and ten of our Secondary Markets,
which causes us to be particularly susceptible to adverse developments in those markets.

Risks Associated with Our Indebtedness:
*  We have significant indebtedness outstanding, which may expose us to the risk of default under our debt obligations.

» Inflation, high interest rates or deflation could materially adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.

*  Restrictive covenants in our debt instruments could restrict our operations, and failure to comply with these restrictions
could result in the acceleration of our debt, which would have a material adverse effect on our cash flows and financial
condition.

*  High mortgage rates and/or unavailability of mortgage debt may make it difficult for us to finance or refinance properties,
which could reduce the number of properties we can acquire, our net income and the amount of cash distributions we can
make.

*  Certain of our existing loan agreements, and some of our future financing arrangements are expected to, provide for balloon
payment obligations, which may materially adversely affect our financial condition and our ability to make distributions.

»  Certain of our loan agreements are secured by various properties within our Company Portfolio, and any uncured default
under any of these loan documents could result in a loss of one or more of the secured properties.

*  Our hedging strategies may not mitigate our risks associated with our variable-rate indebtedness.



Risks Related to the Real Estate Industry and the Broader Economy:

The illiquidity of real estate investments could significantly impede our ability to respond to adverse changes in the
performance of our properties and harm our financial condition.

Our business could be materially adversely affected by the effects of health pandemics or epidemics.

Declining real estate valuations and impairment charges could materially adversely affect our financial condition, results
of operations, cash flows and ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our common stock.

Adverse economic conditions and the dislocation in the credit markets could materially adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our
common stock.

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure:

Our success depends on key personnel whose continued service is not guaranteed, and the departure of one or more of our
key personnel could materially adversely affect our ability to manage our business and to implement our growth strategies
or could create a negative perception in the capital markets.

Conlflicts of interest may exist or could arise in the future between the interests of our stockholders and the interests of
holders of OP Units, which may impede business decisions that could benefit our stockholders.

Certain provisions of our charter, bylaws and Maryland law could inhibit changes in control, which may discourage third
parties from conducting a tender offer or seeking other change of control transactions that could trigger rights to require
us to redeem our shares of common stock.

Our charter contains certain ownership limits with respect to our stock.

We could increase the number of authorized shares of stock, classify and reclassify unissued stock and issue stock without
stockholder approval.

Risks Related to Our Status as a REIT:

Failure to maintain our qualification as a REIT would have material adverse consequences to us and the per-share trading
price of our stock.

If our Operating Partnership failed to qualify as a partnership or a disregarded entity for federal tax purposes, we would
cease to qualify as a REIT and suffer other adverse consequences.

To maintain our REIT qualification, we may be forced to borrow funds during unfavorable market conditions.
Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends.

Complying with REIT requirements may affect our profitability and may force us to liquidate or forgo otherwise attractive
investments.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock:

The rights of the holders of our common stock are limited by and subordinate to the rights of the holders of the Operating
Partnership’s Series C Preferred Units and these rights may have a material adverse effect on the per-share trading price
of our common stock.

We have issued and may continue to issue Series C Preferred Units that rank senior to our common stock in priority of
dividend payment and upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Operating Partnership or the Company and
redemption rights upon the occurrence of Fundamental Change, and have additional corporate governance rights that may
materially adversely affect our ability to pay dividends to holders of our common stock and the per-share trading price of
our common stock.

The Fundamental Change redemption feature of our Series C Preferred Units may make it more difficult for a party to take
over our Company or Operating Partnership or discourage a party from taking over our Company or Operating Partnership.

The strike price and the warrant entitlement of the Warrants are subject to automatic adjustments pursuant to the terms of
the Warrants for, among other things, stock splits and the payment of dividends, including regular quarterly cash dividends
on our common stock, and certain other issuances of common stock, OP Units and equity-linked securities and may
materially adversely impact the per-share trading price of our common stock and ability to pay or increase dividends on
our common stock.



Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

Our Company Portfolio is concentrated in the industrial real estate sector, and our business could be adversely affected by an
economic downturn in that sector.

Our Company Portfolio is comprised entirely of industrial properties, including distribution centers, warehouses, light
industrial and small bay industrial properties. This concentration may make us particularly susceptible to adverse economic
developments in the industrial real estate sector, such as downturns that may result from economic uncertainty with respect to
imports and international trade or changes to trade agreements, to a greater extent than if our properties were more diversified across
other sectors of the real estate industry. In particular, an economic downturn affecting the market for industrial properties could
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and our ability to pay distributions to our
stockholders.

We are subject to risks associated with single-tenant leases, and the default by one or more tenants could materially adversely
affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We depend on tenants for revenue. We are therefore subject to the risk that the default, financial distress or bankruptcy of a
single tenant could cause interruptions in the receipt of rental revenue and/or result in a vacancy, which is likely to result in the
complete reduction in the operating cash flows generated by the property leased to that tenant and may decrease the value of that
property. Further, global impacts to tenants, including those arising as a result of changes in market or economic conditions, natural
disasters, outbreaks of an infectious disease, pandemic or any other serious public health concern, political events or other factors
that may impact our tenants and their operations, may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

In addition, a majority of our leases generally require the tenant to pay all or substantially all of the operating expenses normally
associated with the ownership of the property, such as utilities, real estate taxes, insurance and routine maintenance. Following a
vacancy at a single-tenant property, we will be responsible for all of the operating costs at such property until it can be re-leased, if
at all.

Our Company Portfolio is geographically concentrated in two of our Primary Markets and ten of our Secondary Markets, which
causes us to be particularly susceptible to adverse developments in those markets.

In addition to general, regional, national, and international economic conditions, our operating performance is impacted by the
economic conditions of the specific geographic markets in which we have concentrations of properties. Our wholly owned Company
Portfolio consists of holdings in the following markets (which accounted for the percentage of our total annualized rent indicated)
as of December 31, 2024: Memphis (21.1%); Jacksonville (13.5%); Cleveland (13.1%); Indianapolis (11.3%); Cincinnati (10.3%);
Columbus (9.4%); St. Louis (8.7%); Atlanta (7.7%); South Bend (2.2%); Boston (1.8%); and Charlotte (0.9%). This geographic
concentration could adversely affect our operating performance if conditions become less favorable in any of the markets in which
we have a concentration of properties. We cannot assure you that any of these markets will grow or that underlying real estate
fundamentals will be favorable to owners and operators of industrial properties. Our operations may also be materially affected if
competing properties are built in these markets. Any adverse economic or real estate developments in the markets in which our
Company Portfolio is concentrated in, or any decrease in demand for industrial space resulting from the regulatory environment,
business climate or energy or fiscal problems, could materially adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations, cash
flow, our ability to satisfy our debt service obligations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Our business strategy depends on achieving revenue growth from anticipated increases in demand for industrial space in our
target markets; accordingly, any delay or a weaker than anticipated economic activity could materially adversely affect us and
our growth prospects.

Our business strategy depends on achieving revenue growth and capital appreciation from anticipated near-term increases in
demand for industrial space in our target markets as a result of sustained or elevated demographic trends and generally favorable
market conditions. As a result, any delay or a weaker than anticipated economic activity, particularly in our target markets, could
materially adversely affect us and our growth prospects. Furthermore, even if economic conditions are generally strong, we cannot
provide any assurance that demand for industrial space in our target markets will increase from current levels. If demand does not
increase in the near future, or if demand weakens, our future results of operations and our growth prospects could be materially
adversely affected.

We may not be aware of characteristics or deficiencies involving any one or all of the properties that we acquire in the future,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Newly acquired properties may have characteristics or deficiencies unknown to us that could affect their valuation or revenue
potential, and, as a result, such properties may not ultimately perform to our expectations. We cannot provide any assurance that
the operating performance of any newly acquired properties will not decline under our management. Any characteristics or
deficiencies in any newly acquired properties that adversely affect the value of the properties or their revenue-generation potential
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.



We may be unable to renew leases, lease vacant space or re-lease space as leases expire.

Leases representing 12.6%, 19.0% and 18.4% of the rentable square footage of the industrial properties in our Company
Portfolio will expire in 2025, 2026 and 2027, respectively. We cannot provide any assurance that our leases will be renewed or that
our properties will be re-leased at rental rates equal to or above the current average rental rates or that we will not offer substantial
rent abatements, tenant improvements, early termination rights or below-market renewal options to attract new tenants or retain
existing tenants. If the rental rates for our properties decrease, if our existing tenants do not renew their leases or if we do not re-
lease a significant portion of our available space and space for which leases will expire, our financial condition, results of operations,
cash flows and our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock could be adversely affected.

We may be unable to identify and complete acquisitions of properties that meet our investment criteria, which may have a
material adverse effect on our growth prospects.

Our primary investment strategy involves the acquisition of industrial properties located in Primary Markets and Secondary
Markets, as well as select sub-markets, with access to large pools of skilled labor in the main industrial, distribution and logistics
corridors of the United States. These activities require us to identify suitable acquisition candidates or investment opportunities that
meet our investment criteria and are compatible with our growth strategies. We may be unable to acquire properties identified as
potential acquisition opportunities. Our ability to acquire properties on favorable terms, or at all, may expose us to the following
significant risks:

e we may incur significant costs and divert management attention in connection with evaluating and negotiating potential
acquisitions, including ones that we are subsequently unable to complete;

» even if we enter into agreements for the acquisition of properties, these agreements are subject to conditions to closing,
which we may be unable to satisfy; and

* we may be unable to finance any given acquisition on favorable terms or at all.

If we are unable to finance property acquisitions or acquire properties on favorable terms, or at all, our financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows and our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock could be
adversely affected. In addition, failure to identify or complete acquisitions of suitable properties could limit our growth.

Our acquisition activities may pose risks that could harm our business.

In connection with future acquisitions, we may be required to incur debt and expenditures and issue additional common stock,
preferred stock, or OP Units, to pay for the acquired properties. These acquisitions may dilute our stockholders’ ownership interests,
delay or prevent our profitability and expose us to risks such as:

» the possibility that we may not be able to successfully integrate any future acquisitions into our Company Portfolio;

» the possibility that senior management may be required to spend considerable time negotiating agreements and integrating
acquired properties, diverting their attention from our other objectives;

*  the possibility that we may overpay for a property;
*  the possible loss or reduction in the value of acquired properties; and

« the possibility of pre-existing undisclosed liabilities regarding acquired properties, including environmental or asbestos
liability, for which our insurance may be insufficient or for which we may be unable to secure insurance coverage.

We cannot assure you that the price for any future acquisitions will be similar to prior acquisitions. If our revenue does not
keep pace with these potential acquisition and expansion costs, we may incur net losses. There is no assurance that we will
successfully overcome these risks or other problems encountered with acquisitions. See risk factor “—We are a holding company
with no direct operations and, as such, we will rely on funds received from our Operating Partnership to pay liabilities, and the
interests of our stockholders will be structurally subordinated to all liabilities and obligations of our Operating Partnership and its
subsidiaries.”

We may obtain limited or no warranties when we acquire a property, which increases the risk that we may lose invested capital
in, or rental income from, such property.

The seller of a property will often sell such property in its “as is” condition on a “where is” basis and “with all faults,” without
any warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular use or purpose. In addition, purchase agreements may contain only
limited warranties, representations and indemnifications that will only survive for a limited period after the closing. Also, many
sellers of real estate are single-purpose entities without any other significant assets. The acquisition of properties with limited
warranties or from undercapitalized sellers increases the risk that we may lose some or all of our invested capital in the property as
well as the loss of rental income from such property.



We face significant competition for acquisitions of industrial properties, which may reduce the number of acquisition
opportunities available to us and increase the costs of these acquisitions.

The current market for acquisitions of industrial properties in our target markets continues to be extremely competitive. This
competition may increase the demand for our target properties and, therefore, reduce the number of suitable acquisition
opportunities available to us and increase the prices paid for such acquisition properties. We also face significant competition for
attractive acquisition opportunities from an indeterminate number of investors, including publicly traded and privately held REITs,
private equity investors and institutional investment funds, some of which have greater financial resources than we do, a greater
ability to borrow funds to acquire properties and the ability to accept more risk than we can prudently manage, including risks with
respect to the geographic proximity of investments and the payment of higher acquisition prices. This competition will increase if
investments in real estate become more attractive relative to other forms of investment. Competition for investments may reduce
the number of suitable investment opportunities available to us and may have the effect of increasing prices paid for such acquisition
properties and/or reducing the rents we can charge and, as a result, adversely affecting our operating results.

Our future acquisitions may not yield the returns we expect.

Our future acquisitions and our ability to successfully operate the properties we acquire in such acquisitions may be exposed
to the following significant risks:

« even if we are able to acquire a desired property, competition from other potential acquirers may significantly increase the
purchase price;

* we may acquire properties that are not accretive to our results upon acquisition, and we may not successfully manage and
lease those properties to meet our expectations;

»  our cash flow may be insufficient to meet our required principal and interest payments;
*  we may spend more than budgeted amounts to make necessary improvements or renovations to acquired properties;

* we may be unable to quickly and efficiently integrate new acquisitions, particularly acquisitions of portfolios of properties,
into our existing operations, and as a result our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected,

«  market conditions may result in higher-than-expected vacancy rates and lower than expected rental rates; and

* we may acquire properties subject to liabilities and without any recourse, or with only limited recourse, with respect to
unknown liabilities such as liabilities for clean-up of undisclosed environmental contamination, claims by tenants, vendors
or other persons dealing with the former owners of the properties, liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business
and claims for indemnification by general partners, directors, officers and others indemnified by the former owners of the
properties.

If we cannot operate acquired properties to meet our financial expectations, our financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows and our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock could be materially adversely affected.

We may not be able to successfully operate our business or generate sufficient cash flows to make or sustain distributions to our
stockholders as a publicly traded company.

We may not be able to successfully operate our business or implement our operating policies and investment strategy as
described in this prospectus. Failure to operate successfully as a listed public company, to develop and implement appropriate
control systems and procedures in accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or maintain our qualification as a REIT would have an
adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and per-share trading price of our stock. Furthermore, we
may not be able to generate sufficient cash flows to pay our operating expenses, service any debt we may incur in the future and
make distributions to our stockholders. Our ability to successfully operate our business and implement our operating policies and
investment strategy will depend on many factors, including:

»  the availability of, and our ability to identify, attractive acquisition opportunities consistent with our investment strategy;
*  our ability to contain renovation, maintenance, marketing, and other operating costs for our properties;
*  our ability to maintain high occupancy rates and target rent levels;

*  costs that are beyond our control, including title litigation, litigation with tenants, legal compliance, real estate taxes and
insurance; interest rate levels and volatility, such as the accessibility of short- and long-term financing on desirable terms;
and

*  economic conditions in our target markets as well as the condition of the financial and real estate markets and the economy
generally.

We face significant competition in the leasing market, which may decrease or prevent increases of the occupancy and rental
rates of our properties.

We compete with numerous developers, owners, and operators of real estate, many of whom own properties similar to ours in
the same sub-markets in which our properties are located. If our competitors offer space at rental rates below current market rates,
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or below the rental rates we currently charge our tenants, we may lose existing or potential tenants and we may be pressured to
reduce our rental rates below those we currently charge or to offer more substantial rent abatements, tenant improvements, early
termination rights or below-market renewal options in order to retain tenants when our tenants’ leases expire. As a result, our
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our
stock could be materially adversely affected.

We may be required to make rent or other concessions and/or significant capital expenditures to improve our properties in order
to retain and attract tenants, causing our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and our ability to pay distributions
on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock to be adversely affected.

In order to attract and retain tenants, we may be required to make rent or other concessions to tenants, accommodate requests
for renovations, build-to-suit remodeling and other improvements or provide additional services to our tenants. Additionally, when
a tenant at one of our properties does not renew its lease or otherwise vacates its space, it is likely that, in order to attract one or
more new tenants, we will be required to expend funds for improvements in the vacated space. As a result, we may have to make
significant capital or other expenditures in order to retain tenants whose leases expire and to attract new tenants. Additionally, we
may need to raise capital to make such expenditures. If we are unable to do so or if capital is otherwise unavailable, we may be
unable to make the required expenditures. This could result in difficulty maintaining current tenants upon expiration of their leases
and attracting new tenants to available properties, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.

A substantial majority of the leases in our Company Portfolio are with tenants who have non-investment grade credit ratings,
which may result in our leasing to tenants that are more likely to default in their obligations to us than an entity with an
investment grade credit rating.

A substantial majority of the leases in our Company Portfolio are with tenants who have non-investment grade credit ratings.
The ability of a non-investment grade tenant to meet its obligations to us cannot be considered as well assured as that of an
investment grade tenant. All of our tenants may face exposure to adverse business or economic conditions which could lead to an
inability to meet their obligations to us. However, non-investment grade tenants may not have the financial capacity or liquidity to
adapt to these conditions or may have less diversified businesses, which may exacerbate the effects of adverse conditions on their
businesses. Moreover, the fact that so many of our tenants are not investment grade may cause investors or lenders to view our cash
flows as less stable, which may increase our cost of capital, limit our financing options or adversely affect the per-share trading
price of our stock.

The actual rents we receive for our properties may be less than our asking rents, and we may experience lease roll down from
time to time.

As a result of various factors, including competitive pricing pressure in our sub-markets, adverse conditions in our target
markets, a general economic downturn and a decline in the desirability of our properties compared to other properties in our sub-
markets, we may be unable to realize the asking rents for properties in our Company Portfolio. In addition, the degree of discrepancy
between our asking rents and the actual rents we are able to obtain may vary both from property to property and among different
leased spaces within a single property. If we are unable to obtain rental rates comparable to our asking rents for the properties in
our Company Portfolio, our ability to generate cash flow growth will be materially adversely affected. In addition, depending on
fluctuations in asking rental rates at any given time, from time-to-time rental rates for expiring leases in our Company Portfolio
may be higher than starting rental rates for new leases.

Our acquisition of properties or portfolios of properties through tax-deferred contribution transactions, which could result in
stockholder dilution and limit our ability to sell such assets.

We have acquired, and in the future we may acquire, properties or portfolios of properties through tax-deferred contribution
transactions in exchange for OP Units, which may result in stockholder dilution. This acquisition structure may have the effect of,
among other things, reducing the amount of tax depreciation we are able to deduct over the tax life of the acquired properties, and
requires that we agree to protect the contributors’ ability to defer recognition of taxable gain through restrictions on our ability to
dispose of the acquired properties and/or the allocation of partnership debt to the contributors to maintain their tax bases. These
restrictions limit our ability to sell an asset at a time, or on terms, that would be favorable absent such restrictions.

Potential losses, including from adverse weather conditions and natural disasters, may not be covered by insurance.

We carry commercial property, liability, and terrorism coverage on all the properties in our Company Portfolio under a blanket
insurance policy, in addition to other coverages that may be appropriate for certain of our properties. We will select policy
specifications and insured limits that we believe to be appropriate and adequate given the relative risk of loss, the cost of the
coverage and industry practice. Some of our policies will be insured subject to limitations involving large deductibles or co-
payments and policy limits that may not be sufficient to cover losses, which could affect certain of our properties that are located
in areas particularly susceptible to natural disasters. In addition, we may discontinue terrorism or other insurance on some or all of
our properties in the future if the cost of premiums for any such policies exceeds, in our judgment, the value of the coverage
discounted for the risk of loss. We do not carry insurance for certain types of extraordinary losses, such as loss from riots, war,
earthquakes, and wildfires because such coverage may not be available or is cost prohibitive or available at a disproportionately
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high cost. As a result, we may incur significant costs in the event of loss from riots, war, earthquakes, wildfires, and other uninsured
losses.

If we or one or more of our tenants experiences a loss that is uninsured or that exceeds policy limits, we could lose the capital
invested in the damaged properties as well as the anticipated future cash flows from those properties. In addition, if the damaged
properties are subject to recourse indebtedness, we would continue to be liable for the indebtedness, even if these properties were
irreparably damaged. Furthermore, we may not be able to obtain adequate insurance coverage at reasonable costs in the future as
the costs associated with property and casualty renewals may be higher than anticipated. Uninsured or underinsured loss could have
a material adverse effect on our cash flows and financial condition.

We may not be able to rebuild our Company Portfolio to its existing specifications if we experience a substantial or
comprehensive loss of such properties.

In the event that we experience a substantial or comprehensive loss of one of our properties, we may not be able to rebuild such
property to its existing specifications. Further, reconstruction or improvement of such a property would likely require significant
upgrades to meet zoning and building code requirements. Environmental and legal restrictions could also restrict the rebuilding of
our properties. As a result, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and our ability to pay distributions on, and the
per-share trading price of, our stock could be materially adversely affected.

We may be unable to sell a property if or when we decide to do so.

We expect to hold the various properties in our portfolio until such time as we decide that a sale or other disposition is
appropriate. Our ability to dispose of properties on advantageous terms depends on factors beyond our control, including
competition from other sellers and the availability of attractive financing for potential buyers of our properties. We cannot predict
the various market conditions affecting the industrial real estate market which will exist at any particular time in the future. Due to
the uncertainty of market conditions which may affect the future disposition of our properties, we cannot assure you that we will be
able to sell our properties at a profit in the future, which could materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.

Furthermore, we may be required to expend funds to correct defects or to make improvements before a property can be sold.
We cannot provide any assurance that we will have funds available to correct such defects or to make such improvements.

Joint venture investments could be materially adversely affected by our lack of sole decision-making authority, our reliance on
co-venturers’ financial condition and disputes between us and our co-venturers.

We have co-invested and may co-invest in the future with third parties through partnerships, joint ventures, or other entities,
acquiring non-controlling interests in or sharing responsibility for managing the affairs of a property, partnership, joint venture or
other entity. In such event, we have not been and would not be in a position to exercise sole decision-making authority regarding
the property, partnership, joint venture or other entity. Investments in partnerships, joint ventures or other entities may, under certain
circumstances, involve risks not present were a third party not involved, including the possibility that partners or co-venturers might
become bankrupt or fail to fund their share of required capital contributions. Partners or co-venturers may have economic or other
business interests or goals which are inconsistent with our business interests or goals and may be in a position to take actions
contrary to our policies or objectives, and they may have competing interests in our markets that could create conflict of interest
issues. Such investments may also have the potential risk of impasses on decisions, such as a sale, because neither we nor the partner
or co-venturers would have full control over the partnership or joint venture. In addition, prior consent of our joint venture partners
may be required for a sale or transfer to a third party of our interests in the joint venture, which would restrict our ability to dispose
of our interest in the joint venture. If we become a limited partner or non-managing member in any partnership or limited liability
company and such entity takes or expects to take actions that could jeopardize our company’s status as a REIT or require us to pay
tax, we may be forced to dispose of our interest in such entity. Disputes between us and partners or co-venturers may result in
litigation or arbitration that could materially increase our expenses, which would have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, and prevent our officers and/or directors from focusing their time and effort on our business. Consequently, actions by
or disputes with partners or co-venturers might result in subjecting properties owned by the partnership or joint venture to additional
risk. In addition, we may in certain circumstances be liable for the actions of our third-party partners or co-venturers. Our joint
ventures may be subject to debt and, in the current volatile credit market, the refinancing of such debt may require equity capital
calls.

If we fail to implement and maintain an effective system of integrated internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report
our financial results.

We are required to implement substantial control systems and procedures in order to maintain our qualification as a REIT,
satisfy our periodic and current reporting requirements under applicable SEC regulations and comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the “Dodd Frank Act”) and the NYSE or other relevant
listing standards. As a result, we incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses, and our management and other personnel
must devote a substantial amount of time to comply with these rules and regulations and maintain and enhance, as appropriate, the
corporate infrastructure and control systems and procedures demanded of a publicly traded REIT. These costs and time
commitments could be substantially more than we currently expect.
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Matters impacting our internal controls may cause us to be unable to report our financial information on a timely basis and
thereby subject us to adverse regulatory consequences, including sanctions by the SEC or violations of applicable stock exchange
listing rules, and result in a breach of the covenants under the agreements governing any of our financing arrangements. There could
also be a negative reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of investor confidence in the Company and the reliability of our
financial statements. Confidence in the reliability of our financial statements could also suffer if we or our independent registered
public accounting firm were to report a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting. This could materially
adversely affect us and lead to a decline in the trading price of our stock.

Our growth depends on external sources of capital that are outside of our control and may not be available to us on commercially
reasonable terms or at all.

In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we are required under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), to, among other things, distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the
dividends paid deduction and excluding any net capital gain. In addition, we will be subject to income tax at regular corporate rates
to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income, including any net capital gains. Because of these
distribution requirements, we may not be able to fund future capital needs, including any necessary acquisition financing, from
operating cash flow. Consequently, we intend to rely on third-party sources to fund our capital needs. We may not be able to obtain
such financing on favorable terms or at all and any additional debt we incur will increase our leverage and likelihood of default.
Our access to third-party sources of capital depends, in part, on:

»  general market conditions;

*  the market’s perception of our growth potential;
e our current debt levels;

*  our current and expected future earnings;

e our cash flow and cash distributions; and

» the market price per share of our common stock.

In recent years, the capital markets have been subject to significant disruptions. If we cannot obtain capital from third-party
sources, we may not be able to acquire or develop properties when strategic opportunities exist, meet the capital and operating needs
of our portfolio, satisfy our debt service obligations, or make the cash distributions to our stockholders necessary to maintain our
qualification as a REIT.

We may be subject to litigation, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

We may be subject to litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. Such litigation may result in potentially
significant judgments against us, some of which are not, or cannot be, insured against. Resolution of these types of matters against
us may result in our payment of significant fines or settlements, which, if not insured against, or if these fines and settlements exceed
insured levels, could materially adversely impact our results of operations and cash flows. Certain litigation or the resolution of
certain litigation may affect the availability or cost of some of our insurance coverage, which could adversely impact our results of
operations and cash flows, expose us to increased risks that would be uninsured and/or adversely impact our ability to attract and
retain officers and directors.

We face risks associated with security breaches through cyber-attacks, cyber intrusions or otherwise, as well as other significant
disruptions of our information technology systems.

Our IT related systems are essential to the operation of our business and our ability to perform day-to-day operations. We face
risks associated with security breaches, whether through cyber-attacks, computer viruses, attachments to e-mails, phishing schemes,
persons inside our organization or persons with access to systems inside of our organization, and other significant disruptions of
our IT related systems. The risk of a cybersecurity breach or disruption, particularly through a cyber-incident, including by computer
hackers, foreign governments, and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity and sophistication of attempted
attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased.

Although we employ a number of measures to prevent, detect and mitigate these threats, which include password protection,
frequent password change events, firewall detection systems, frequent backups, and a redundant data system for core applications,
even the most well protected information, networks, systems and facilities remain potentially vulnerable because the techniques
used in such attempted security breaches continuously evolve and generally are not recognized until launched against a target, and
in some cases are designed to not be detected and, in fact, may not be detected.

Moreover, we also depend on third parties to provide key information technology services such as payroll administration,
financial information, lease and portfolio administration and electronic communications. The security measures employed by such
third-party providers may prove to be ineffective at preventing breaches of their systems. A security breach or other significant
disruption involving our IT related systems could disrupt the proper functioning of our systems; compromise the confidential
information of our employees, tenants and vendors; result in misstated financial reports, violations of loan covenants and/or missed
reporting deadlines; result in our inability to monitor our compliance with the rules and regulations regarding our qualification as a
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REIT; result in the unauthorized access to, and destruction, loss, theft, misappropriation or release of proprietary, confidential,
sensitive or otherwise valuable information of ours or others, which others could use to compete against us or for disruptive,
destructive or otherwise harmful purposes and outcomes; require significant management attention and resources to remedy any
damages that result; subject us to claims for breach of contract or failure to safeguard personal information, damages, credits,
penalties or termination of leases or other agreements; or damage our reputation among our tenants and investors generally.

An increased focus on metrics and reporting related to corporate responsibility, specifically related to ESG factors, may
impose additional costs, and expose us to new risks.

Investors and other stakeholders have focused on how companies address a variety of environmental, social and governance
("ESG") matters and look to rating systems developed by third party groups to allow comparisons between companies. Although
we participate in some of these rating systems, we do not participate, and may not score well, in all of them. Further, the criteria
used in these rating systems change frequently, and our scores may drop as criteria changes. We supplement our participation in
these rating systems with public disclosures regarding our ESG activities, but investors and stakeholders may look for specific
disclosures that we do not provide. Our failure to participate, or score well, in certain ratings systems or to provide certain ESG
disclosures and engage in certain ESG initiatives could result in reputational harm and could cause certain investors to be unwilling
to invest in our stock, which could impair our ability to raise capital.

In addition, in recent years “anti-ESG” sentiment has gained momentum across the U.S., with several state legislatures and the
U.S. Congress having proposed or enacted “anti-ESG” policies, legislation, or initiatives or issued related legal opinions, and the
President having recently issued an executive order opposing diversity equity and inclusion (“DEI”) initiatives in the private sector.
To the extent we take actions that are seen as positive to some investors, other investors may take issue with such actions or face
state regulatory pressure to refrain from investing in, or divest from, our business. Such anti-ESG and anti-DEI-related policies,
legislation, initiatives, litigation, legal opinions, and scrutiny could therefore impact our ability to compete as effectively to attract
and retain employees, customers, or business partners, which may materially adversely impact our operations.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness
We have significant indebtedness outstanding, which may expose us to the risk of default under our debt obligations.

Our total consolidated indebtedness as of December 31, 2024 consists of approximately $646.4 million of indebtedness. In
addition, we may incur significant additional debt to finance future acquisition and development activities.

Payments of principal and interest on borrowings may leave us with insufficient cash resources to operate our properties or to
pay the dividends currently contemplated or necessary to maintain our REIT qualification. Our level of debt and the limitations
imposed on us by our debt agreements could have significant adverse consequences, including the following:

*  our cash flow may be insufficient to meet our required principal and interest payments;

e we may be unable to borrow additional funds as needed or on favorable terms, which could, among other things, adversely
affect our ability to meet operational needs;

* we may be unable to refinance our indebtedness at maturity or the refinancing terms may be less favorable than the terms
of our original indebtedness;

* we may be forced to dispose of one or more of our properties, possibly on unfavorable terms or in violation of certain
covenants to which we may be subject;

* we may violate restrictive covenants in our loan documents, which would entitle the lenders to accelerate our debt
obligations; and

*  our default under any loan with cross default provisions could result in a default on other indebtedness.

If any one of these events were to occur, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and our ability to pay
distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock could be materially adversely affected. Furthermore, foreclosures
could create taxable income without accompanying cash proceeds, which could hinder our ability to meet the REIT distribution
requirements imposed by the Code.

Inflation, high interest rates or deflation could materially adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

Our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected by increases in interest
rates and other actions taken by the Federal Reserve or changes in the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”). While the
Federal Reserve began to lower interest rates in 2024 and signaled that there may be additional rate decreases in 2025, interest rates
remain high, and there can be no certainty as to the magnitude or pace of potential decreases or even if such decreases will occur,
especially if inflation accelerates. Future periods of increased inflation and high interest rates could have an adverse impact under
our unhedged variable rate borrowings and would increase the costs of refinancing existing indebtedness or obtaining new debt. As
of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $20.0 million (or 4.3% of our indebtedness then outstanding) in variable rate debt
outstanding not hedged by interest rate swaps. If we are unable to enter into hedging arrangements with respect to, or otherwise
refinance, this indebtedness with acceptable terms, the ultimate impact of future interest rate increases could result in significant
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unanticipated reductions in our net operating income. In addition, increases in market interest rates may result in a decrease in the
value of our real estate and a decrease in the market price of our common stock. Increases in market interest rates may also adversely
affect the securities markets generally, which could reduce the market price of our common stock without regard to our operating
performance. Accordingly, unfavorable changes to our borrowing costs and stock price could significantly impact our ability to
access new debt and equity capital going forward.

Our tenants may also be adversely impacted by inflation and high interest rates, which could materially adversely affect their
ability to pay rent and reduce demand for our properties. Such adverse impacts on our tenants may cause increased vacancies, which
may add pressure to decrease rents and increase our expenditures for re-leasing. Inflation could also have an adverse effect on
consumer spending, which could materially adversely our tenants’ operations and, in turn, reduce demand for our properties.
Conversely, deflation could lead to downward pressure on rents and other sources of income.

Certain of our existing loan agreements contain, and future indebtedness we incur may contain, various covenants, and the
failure to comply with those covenants could materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows
and ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.

Our existing loan agreements contain, and any future indebtedness we incur, including debt assumed pursuant to property
acquisitions, may contain, certain covenants, which, among other things, restrict our activities. Such covenants include, as
applicable, our ability to sell the underlying property without the consent of the holder of such indebtedness, to repay or defease
such indebtedness or to engage in mergers or consolidations that result in a change in control of our company. We may also be
subject to financial and operating covenants. Failure to comply with any of these covenants would likely result in a default under
the applicable indebtedness that would permit the acceleration of amounts due thereunder and under other indebtedness and
foreclosure of properties, if any, serving as collateral therefor.

High mortgage rates and/or unavailability of mortgage debt may make it difficult for us to finance or refinance properties, which
could reduce the number of properties we can acquire, our net income and the amount of cash distributions we can make.

If mortgage debt is unavailable to us in the future at reasonable rates, we may not be able to finance the purchase of additional
properties or refinance our properties on favorable terms or at all. If interest rates are higher when we refinance our properties, our
income could be reduced. If any of these events occur, our cash flow could be reduced. This, in turn, could reduce cash available
for distribution to our stockholders and materially adversely affect our ability to raise more capital by issuing additional equity
securities or by borrowing more money.

Certain of our existing loan agreements, and some of our future financing arrangements are expected to, provide for balloon
payment obligations, which may materially adversely affect our financial condition and our ability to make distributions.

Our existing loan agreements require, and some of our future financing arrangements may require, us to make a lump-sum or
“balloon” payment at maturity. Our ability to satisfy a balloon payment at maturity is uncertain and may depend upon our ability to
obtain additional financing or our ability to sell property securing such financing. At the time the balloon payment is due, we may
or may not be able to refinance the existing financing on terms as favorable as the original loan or sell the property at a price
sufficient to satisfy the balloon payment. The effect of a refinancing or sale could affect the rate of return to stockholders and the
projected time of disposition of our assets. In addition, payments of principal and interest made to service our debts may leave us
with insufficient cash to pay the distributions that we are required to pay to maintain our qualification as a REIT.

Certain of our loan agreements are secured by various properties within our Company Portfolio, and any uncured default under
any of these loan documents could result in a loss of one or more of the secured properties.

Certain loan agreements are secured by a first lien mortgage on various properties within our Company Portfolio. A default
under certain of the loan agreements could result in the foreclosure on all, or a material portion, of the properties within our Company
Portfolio, which could leave us with insufficient cash to make debt service payments under our loan agreements and to make
distributions to our stockholders.

Our existing loan agreements restrict our ability to engage in some business activities, which could put us at a competitive
disadvantage and materially adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Our existing loan agreements contain customary negative covenants and other financial and operating covenants that, among
other things:

e restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness;
»  restrict our ability to dispose of properties;

*  restrict our ability to make certain investments;

*  restrict our ability to enter into material agreements;
* limit our ability to make capital expenditures;

e require us to maintain a specified amount of capital as guarantor;

15



e restrict our ability to merge with another company;
e restrict our ability to make distributions to stockholders; and
*  require us to maintain financial coverage and leverage ratios.

These limitations could restrict our ability to engage in some business activities, which could materially adversely affect our
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our
stock. In addition, debt agreements we enter into in the future may contain specific cross-default provisions with respect to specified
other indebtedness, giving the lenders the right to declare a default if we are in default under other loans in some circumstances.

Future mortgage and other secured debt obligations expose us to the possibility of foreclosure, which could result in the loss of
our investment in a property or group of properties subject to mortgage debt.

Incurring mortgage and other secured debt obligations increases our risk of property losses because defaults on indebtedness
secured by properties may result in foreclosure actions initiated by lenders and ultimately our loss of the property securing any
loans for which we are in default. Any foreclosure on a mortgaged property or group of properties could adversely affect the overall
value of our portfolio. For tax purposes, a foreclosure on any of our properties that is subject to a nonrecourse mortgage loan would
be treated as a sale of the property for a purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If the
outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property, we would recognize taxable income
on foreclosure, but would not receive any cash proceeds, which could hinder our ability to meet the REIT distribution requirements
imposed by the Code.

Our hedging strategies may not mitigate our risks associated with our variable-rate indebtedness.

Changes in the interest rates on a material portion of our variable rate debt (95.7% of total variable rate debt) have been hedged
by interest rate swap agreements. These derivative financial instruments involve certain risks, such as the risk of failure of the
counterparty to perform under the terms of the contract, that these arrangements may not be effective in reducing our exposure to
interest rate changes and that a court could rule that such agreements are not legally enforceable. The gross income tests applicable
to REITs generally exclude any income or gain from a hedging or similar transaction entered into by the REIT primarily to manage
the risk of interest rate, price changes or currency fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or to be made to acquire or carry
real estate assets or to manage the risk of currency fluctuations with respect to an item of income or gain that would be qualifying
income under the applicable gross income test (or any property which generates such income or gain); provided, that we properly
identify such hedges and other transactions in the manner required by the Code and regulations. To the extent that we do not properly
identify such transactions as hedges or we hedge with other types of financial instruments, or hedge asset values or other types of
indebtedness, the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of the gross income
tests and may affect our ability to qualify as a REIT.

In addition, the nature, timing and costs of hedging transactions may influence the effectiveness of our hedging strategies.
Poorly designed strategies or improperly executed transactions could increase our risk and losses. We provide any assurance that
our hedging strategies and derivative financial instruments will adequately offset the risk of interest rate volatility or that such
instruments will not result in losses that may adversely impact our financial condition.

Risks Related to the Real Estate Industry and the Broader Economy

The illiquidity of real estate investments could significantly impede our ability to respond to adverse changes in the performance
of our properties and harm our financial condition.

Real estate investments are not as liquid as other types of investments. As a result, our ability to promptly sell one or more
properties in our portfolio in response to changing economic, financial and investment conditions is limited. Return of capital and
realization of gains, if any, from an investment generally will occur upon disposition or refinancing of the underlying property. We
may be unable to realize our investment objectives by sale, other disposition or refinancing at attractive prices within any given
period of time or may otherwise be unable to complete any exit strategy. Our ability to dispose of one or more properties within a
specific time period is subject to the possible weakness in or even the lack of an established market for a property, changes in the
financial condition or prospects of prospective purchasers, changes in national or international economic conditions, and changes
in laws, regulations or fiscal policies of jurisdictions in which the property is located.

In addition, the Code imposes restrictions on a REIT’s ability to dispose of properties that are not applicable to other types of
real estate companies. In particular, the tax laws applicable to REITs effectively require that we hold our properties for investment,
rather than primarily for sale in the ordinary course of business, which may cause us to forego or defer sales of properties that
otherwise would be in our best interest. Therefore, we may not be able to vary our portfolio in response to economic or other
conditions promptly or on favorable terms, which may adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows
and our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.

Our performance and value are subject to risks associated with real estate assets and the real estate industry.

Our ability to pay expected dividends to our stockholders depends on our ability to generate revenues in excess of expenses,
scheduled principal payments on debt and capital expenditure requirements. Events and conditions generally applicable to owners
and operators of real property that are beyond our control may decrease cash available for distribution and the value of our
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properties. These events include many of the risks set forth above under “—Risks Related to Our Business and Operations,” as well
as the following:

* local oversupply or reduction in demand for industrial space;
» adverse changes in financial conditions of buyers, sellers, and tenants of properties;

e vacancies or our inability to rent space on favorable terms, including possible market pressures to offer tenants rent
abatements, tenant improvements, early termination rights or below-market renewal options, and the need to periodically
repair, renovate and re-lease space;

* increased operating costs, including insurance premiums, utilities, real estate taxes and state and local taxes;

»  civil unrest, acts of war, terrorist attacks and natural disasters, including earthquakes, floods, and wildfires, which may
result in uninsured or underinsured losses;

* decreases in the underlying value of our real estate;
*  changing sub-market demographics; and
» changing traffic patterns.

In addition, periods of economic downturn or recession, rising interest rates or declining demand for real estate, or the public
perception that any of these events may occur, could result in a general decline in rents or an increased incidence of defaults under
existing leases, which would adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and our ability to pay
distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.

Our business could be materially adversely affected by the effects of health pandemics or epidemics.

Our business could be materially adversely affected by public health crises, including pandemics, epidemics, outbreaks of novel
diseases or other serious public health concern. A severe public health crisis could disrupt our business and materially adversely
affect our financial condition, results of operations and ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. Further, the impact of a
widespread public health emergency may have the effect of exacerbating many of the other risks described in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

Any real estate development and redevelopment activities are subject to risks particular to development and redevelopment.

We may engage in development and redevelopment activities with respect to certain properties. To the extent that we do so,
we will be subject to the following risks associated with such development and redevelopment activities:

* unsuccessful development or redevelopment opportunities could result in direct expenses to us;

»  construction or redevelopment costs of a project may exceed original estimates, possibly making the project less profitable
than originally estimated, or unprofitable;

e time required to complete the construction or redevelopment of a project or to lease up the completed project may be
greater than originally anticipated, thereby adversely affecting our cash flow and liquidity;

*  contractor and subcontractor disputes, strikes, labor disputes or supply disruptions;
» failure to achieve expected occupancy and/or rent levels within the projected time frame, if at all;

* delays with respect to obtaining or the inability to obtain necessary zoning, occupancy, land use and other governmental
permits, and changes in zoning and land use laws;

*  occupancy rates and rents of a completed project may not be sufficient to make the project profitable;

*  our ability to dispose of properties developed or redeveloped with the intent to sell could be impacted by the ability of
prospective buyers to obtain financing given the current state of the credit markets; and

* the availability and pricing of financing to fund our development activities on favorable terms or at all.

These risks could result in substantial unanticipated delays or expenses and, under certain circumstances, could prevent
completion of development or redevelopment activities once undertaken, any of which could have an adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows and our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.

Declining real estate valuations and impairment charges could materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our common stock.

We review the carrying value of our properties when circumstances, such as adverse market conditions, indicate a potential
impairment may exist. We intend to base our review on an estimate of the future cash flows (excluding interest charges) expected
to result from the property’s use and eventual disposition on an undiscounted basis. We intend to consider factors such as future
operating income, trends, and prospects, as well as the effects of leasing demand, competition and other factors. If our evaluation
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indicates that we may be unable to recover the carrying value of a real estate investment, an impairment loss will be recorded to the
extent that the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of the property.

Impairment losses have a direct impact on our operating results because recording an impairment loss results in an immediate
negative adjustment to our operating results. The evaluation of anticipated cash flows is highly subjective and is based in part on
assumptions regarding future occupancy, rental rates and capital requirements that could differ materially from actual results in
future periods. A worsening real estate market may cause us to reevaluate the assumptions used in our impairment analysis.
Impairment charges could materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to pay
distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.

Adverse economic conditions and the dislocation in the credit markets could materially adversely affect our financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows and ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our common stock.

Ongoing challenging economic conditions have negatively impacted the lending and capital markets, particularly for real estate.
The capital markets have experienced significant adverse conditions in recent years, including a substantial reduction in the
availability of, and access to, capital. The risk premium demanded by lenders has increased markedly, as they are demanding greater
compensation for risk, and underwriting standards have been tightened. In addition, failures and consolidations of certain financial
institutions have decreased the number of potential lenders, resulting in reduced lending sources available to the market. These
conditions may limit the amount of indebtedness we are able to obtain and our ability to refinance our indebtedness and may impede
our ability to develop new properties and to replace construction financing with permanent financing, which could result in our
having to sell properties at inopportune times and on unfavorable terms. Further, the recent imposition by the United States of tariffs
on imported goods from China and efforts to impose tariffs on imported goods from certain other countries may result in adverse
economic conditions. Such tariffs also increase the risk that foreign governments will implement retaliatory tariffs on goods
imported from the United States. For example, Canada and the European Union have recently announced their intention to
implement retaliatory tariffs on the United States. In the event these economic conditions continue or worsen, our financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock could be
materially adversely affected.

The lack of availability of debt financing may require us to rely more heavily on additional equity issuances, which may be
dilutive to our current stockholders, or on less efficient forms of debt financing. Additionally, the limited amount of financing
currently available may reduce the value of our properties and limit our ability to borrow against such properties, which could
materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to pay distributions on, and the per-
share trading price of, our stock.

Acquired properties may be located in new markets where we may face risks associated with investing in an unfamiliar market.

We have acquired, and may continue to acquire, properties in markets that are new to us. When we acquire properties located
in new markets, we may face risks associated with a lack of market knowledge or understanding of the local economy, forging new
business relationships in the area and unfamiliarity with local government and permitting procedures.

We may choose not to distribute the proceeds of any sales of real estate to our stockholders, which may reduce the amount of
our cash distributions to stockholders.

We may choose not to distribute any proceeds from the sale of real estate investments to our stockholders. Instead, we may
elect to use such proceeds to:

* acquire additional real estate investments;

*  repay debt;

*  buy out interests of any partners in any joint venture in which we are a party;

»  create working capital reserves; or

*  make repairs, maintenance, tenant improvements or other capital improvements or expenditures on our other properties.

Any decision to retain or invest the proceeds of any sales, rather than distribute such proceeds to our stockholders may reduce
the amount of cash distributions you receive on your stock.

Uninsured losses relating to real property may adversely affect your returns.

We attempt to ensure that all of our properties are adequately insured to cover casualty losses and evaluate our insurance
coverage annually against current industry practice through an analysis prepared by outside consultants. However, there are certain
losses, including losses from floods, earthquakes, wildfires, acts of war, acts of terrorism or riots, that are not generally insured
against or that are not generally fully insured against because it is not deemed economically feasible or prudent to do so. In addition,
changes in the cost or availability of insurance could expose us to uninsured casualty losses. In the event that any of our properties
incurs a casualty loss that is not fully covered by insurance, the value of our assets will be reduced by the amount of any such
uninsured loss, and we could experience a significant loss of capital invested and potential revenue in these properties and could
potentially remain obligated under any recourse debt associated with the property. Moreover, we, as the general partner of our
Operating Partnership, generally will be liable for all of our Operating Partnership’s unsatisfied recourse obligations, including any
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obligations incurred by our Operating Partnership as the general partner of joint ventures. Any such losses could adversely affect
our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our
stock. In addition, we may have no source of funding to repair or reconstruct the damaged property, and we cannot provide any
assurance that any such sources of funding will be available to us for such purposes in the future.

Our property taxes could increase due to property tax rate changes or reassessment, which could materially adversely impact
our cash flows.

Even if we maintain our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we will be required to pay some state and
local taxes on our properties. The real property taxes on our properties may increase as property tax rates change or as our properties
are assessed or reassessed by taxing authorities. The amount of property taxes we pay in the future may increase substantially from
what we have paid in the past. If the property taxes we pay increase, our cash flow would be adversely impacted to the extent that
we are not reimbursed by tenants for those taxes, and our ability to pay any expected dividends to our stockholders could be
materially adversely affected.

We could incur significant costs related to government regulation and litigation over environmental and health and safety
matters, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and our ability
to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.

Under various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the environment, as a current or former owner or operator
of real property, we may be liable for costs and damages resulting from the presence or discharge of hazardous or toxic substances,
waste or petroleum products at, on, in, under or migrating to or from such property, including costs to investigate, clean up such
contamination and liability for harm to natural resources. Such laws often impose liability without regard to whether the owner or
operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such contamination, and the liability may be joint and several. These
liabilities could be substantial and the cost of any required remediation, removal, fines or other costs could exceed the value of the
property and/or our aggregate assets. In addition, the presence of contamination or the failure to remediate contamination at our
properties may expose us to third-party liability for costs of remediation and/or personal, property, or natural resources damage or
materially adversely affect our ability to sell, lease or develop our properties or to borrow using the properties as collateral. In
addition, environmental laws may create liens on contaminated sites in favor of the government for damages and costs it incurs to
address such contamination. Moreover, if contamination is discovered on our properties, environmental laws may impose
restrictions on the manner in which property may be used or businesses may be operated, and these restrictions may require
substantial expenditures.

From time to time, we may acquire properties that have been or may be impacted by contamination arising from current or
prior uses of the property, or adjacent properties, for commercial or industrial purposes, or properties with known adverse
environmental conditions where we believe that the environmental liabilities associated with these conditions are quantifiable and
that the acquisition will yield a superior risk-adjusted return. We perform a Phase I environmental site assessment at any property
we are considering acquiring. In connection with certain financing transactions our lenders have commissioned independent
environmental consultants to conduct Phase I environmental site assessments on the properties in our portfolio. However, we have
not always received copies of the Phase I environmental site assessment reports commissioned by our lenders and, as such, may not
be aware of all potential or existing environmental contamination liabilities at the properties in our portfolio. In addition, Phase I
environmental site assessments are limited in scope and may not include or identify all potential environmental liabilities or risks
associated with the property. Even where subsurface investigation is performed, it can be very difficult to ascertain the full extent
of environmental contamination or the costs that are likely to flow from such contamination. We cannot provide any assurance that
the Phase I environmental site assessment or other environmental studies identified all potential environmental liabilities, or that
we will not face significant remediation costs or other environmental contamination that makes it difficult to sell any affected
properties. Also, we have not always implemented actions recommended by these assessments, and the recommended investigation
and remediation of known or suspected contamination has not always been performed. As a result, we could potentially incur
material liability for these issues, which could adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability
to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.

Environmental laws also govern the presence, maintenance, and removal of asbestos-containing building materials (“ACBM”)
and may impose fines and penalties for failure to comply with these requirements. Such laws require that owners or operators of
buildings containing ACBM (and employers in such buildings) properly manage and maintain the asbestos, adequately notify, or
train those who may come into contact with asbestos, and undertake special precautions, including removal or other abatement, if
asbestos would be disturbed during renovation or demolition of a building. In addition, the presence of ACBM in our properties
may expose us to third-party liability (e.g., liability for personal injury associated with exposure to asbestos).

In addition, the properties in our portfolio also are subject to various federal, state, and local environmental and health and
safety requirements, such as state and local fire requirements. Moreover, some of our tenants routinely handle and use hazardous
or regulated substances and wastes as part of their operations at our properties, which are subject to regulation. Such environmental
and health and safety laws and regulations could subject us or our tenants to liability resulting from these activities. Environmental
liabilities could affect a tenant’s ability to make rental payments to us. In addition, changes in laws could increase the potential
liability for noncompliance. This may result in significant unanticipated expenditures or may otherwise materially adversely affect
our operations, or those of our tenants, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on us.
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We cannot provide any assurance that costs or liabilities incurred as a result of environmental issues will not affect our ability
to make distributions to you or that such costs or other remedial measures will not have an adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows, and our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock. If we do incur
material environmental liabilities in the future, we may face significant remediation costs, and we may find it difficult to sell any
affected properties.

We face risks related to the potential direct and indirect impacts of climate change.

Climate change related events could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. The
potential effects of climate change are highly uncertain, and climate change could expose our properties to rare catastrophic weather
events, such as severe storms, drought, earthquakes, floods, wildfires or other extreme weather events. If the frequency of extreme
weather events increases, our exposure to these events could increase and could impact our tenants’ operations and their ability to
pay rent. We carry comprehensive insurance coverage to mitigate our casualty risk, in amounts and of a kind that we believe are
appropriate for the markets where each of our properties and their business operations are located given climate change risk. The
potential impacts of climate change on our real estate properties could adversely affect our ability to lease, develop or sell such
properties or to borrow using such properties as collateral.

Climate change could also increase utility and other costs of operating our properties, including increased costs for energy and
other supply chain materials, which, if not offset by rising rental income and/or paid by tenants, could have a material adverse effect
on our properties, operations and business. In addition, we may incur significant costs in preparing for possible future climate
change or climate-related events or in response to our tenants’ requests for such investments, and we may not realize desirable
returns on those investments.

Our properties may contain or develop harmful mold or suffer from other air quality issues, which could lead to liability for
adverse health effects and costs of remediation.

When excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials, mold growth may occur, particularly if the
moisture problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over a period of time. Some molds may produce airborne toxins or
irritants. Indoor air quality issues can also stem from inadequate ventilation, chemical contamination from indoor or outdoor
sources, and other biological contaminants such as pollen, viruses, and bacteria. Indoor exposure to airborne toxins or irritants above
certain levels can be alleged to cause a variety of adverse health effects and symptoms, including allergic or other reactions. As a
result, the presence of significant mold or other airborne contaminants at any of our properties could require us to undertake a costly
remediation program to contain or remove the mold or other airborne contaminants from the affected property or increase indoor
ventilation. In addition, the presence of significant mold or other airborne contaminants could expose us to liability from our tenants,
employees of our tenants or others if property damage or personal injury is alleged to have occurred.

We may incur significant costs complying with various federal, state, and local laws, regulations and covenants that are
applicable to our properties.

The properties in our portfolio are subject to various covenants and federal, state, and local laws and regulatory requirements,
including permitting and licensing requirements. Local regulations, including municipal or local ordinances and zoning restrictions
may restrict our use of our properties and may require us to obtain approval from local officials or restrict our use of our properties
and may require us to obtain approval from local officials of community standards organizations at any time with respect to our
properties, including prior to acquiring a property or when undertaking renovations of any of our portfolio. Among other things,
these restrictions may relate to fire and safety, seismic or hazardous material abatement requirements. There can be no assurance
that existing laws and regulatory policies will not adversely affect us or the timing or cost of any future acquisitions or renovations,
or that additional regulations will not be adopted that increase such delays or result in additional costs. Our growth strategy may be
adversely affected by our ability to obtain permits, licenses, and zoning relief. Our failure to obtain such permits, licenses, and
zoning relief or to comply with applicable laws could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows and our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.

In addition, federal and state laws and regulations, including laws such as the ADA and the Fair Housing Amendment Act of
1988 (the “FHAA”), impose further restrictions on our properties and operations. Under the ADA and the FHAA, all public
accommodations must meet federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. Some of our properties may
currently be in non-compliance with the ADA or the FHAA. If one or more of the properties in our portfolio is not in compliance
with the ADA, the FHAA or any other regulatory requirements, we may be required to incur additional costs to bring the property
into compliance, including the removal of access barriers, and we might incur governmental fines or the award of damages to private
litigants. In addition, we do not know whether existing requirements will change or whether future requirements will require us to
make significant unanticipated expenditures that will adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and
our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.
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Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

Our success depends on key personnel whose continued service is not guaranteed, and the departure of one or more of our key
personnel could materially adversely affect our ability to manage our business and to implement our growth strategies or could
create a negative perception in the capital markets.

Our continued success and our ability to manage anticipated future growth depend, in large part, upon the efforts of key
personnel, particularly Mr. Jeffrey E. Witherell, our Chief Executive Officer, and Mr. Anthony Saladino, our Chief Financial
Officer, who have extensive market knowledge and relationships and exercise substantial influence over our operational, financing,
acquisition and disposition activity.

Our ability to retain our senior management, particularly Messrs. Witherell and Saladino, or to attract suitable replacements
should any member of our senior management leave, is dependent on the competitive nature of the employment market. We have
not obtained and do not expect to obtain key person insurance on any of our key personnel. The loss of services of one or more
members of our senior management team, or our inability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel, could adversely affect our
business, diminish our investment opportunities, and weaken our relationships with lenders, business partners, existing and
prospective tenants and industry participants. Further, the loss of a member of our senior management team could be negatively
perceived in the capital markets. Any of these developments could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations,
cash flows and our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.

Conflicts of interest may exist or could arise in the future between the interests of our stockholders and the interests of holders
of OP Units, which may impede business decisions that could benefit our stockholders.

Conflicts of interest may exist or could arise in the future as a result of the relationships between us and our affiliates, on the
one hand, and our Operating Partnership or any partner thereof, on the other. Our directors and officers have duties to our company
under Maryland law in connection with their management of our company. At the same time, we, as the general partner of our
Operating Partnership, have fiduciary duties and obligations to our Operating Partnership and its limited partners under Delaware
law and the partnership agreement of our Operating Partnership in connection with the management of our Operating Partnership.
Our fiduciary duties and obligations as the general partner of our Operating Partnership may come into conflict with the duties of
our directors and officers to our company.

Under Delaware law, a general partner of a Delaware limited partnership has fiduciary duties of loyalty and care to the
partnership and its partners and must discharge its duties and exercise its rights as general partner under the partnership agreement
or Delaware law consistent with the obligation of good faith and fair dealing. The partnership agreement provides that, in the event
of a conflict between the interests of our Operating Partnership or any partner, on the one hand, and the separate interests of our
company or our stockholders, on the other hand, we, in our capacity as the general partner of our Operating Partnership, may give
priority to the separate interests of our company or our stockholders (including with respect to tax consequences to limited partners,
assignees or our stockholders), and, in the event of such a conflict, any action or failure to act on our part or on the part of our
directors that gives priority to the separate interests of our company or our stockholders that does not result in a violation of the
contract rights of the limited partners of our Operating Partnership under its partnership agreement does not violate the duty of
loyalty or any other duty that we, in our capacity as the general partner of our Operating Partnership, owe to our Operating
Partnership and its partners or violate the obligation of good faith and fair dealing.

Additionally, the partnership agreement provides that we generally will not be liable to our Operating Partnership or any partner
for any action or omission taken in our capacity as general partner, for the debts or liabilities of our Operating Partnership or for the
obligations of the Operating Partnership under the partnership agreement, except for liability for our fraud, willful misconduct or
gross negligence, pursuant to any express indemnity we may give to our Operating Partnership or in connection with a redemption
of our OP Units. Our Operating Partnership must indemnify us, our directors and officers, officers of our Operating Partnership and
our designees from and against any and all claims that relate to the operations of our Operating Partnership, unless (1) an act or
omission of the person was material to the matter giving rise to the action and either was committed in bad faith or was the result
of active and deliberate dishonesty, (2) the person actually received an improper personal benefit in violation or breach of the
partnership agreement or (3) in the case of a criminal proceeding, the indemnified person had reasonable cause to believe that the
act or omission was unlawful. Our Operating Partnership must also pay or reimburse the reasonable expenses of any such person
in advance of a final disposition of the proceeding upon its receipt of a written affirmation of the person’s good faith belief that the
standard of conduct necessary for indemnification has been met and a written undertaking to repay any amounts paid or advanced
if it is ultimately determined that the person did not meet the standard of conduct for indemnification. Our Operating Partnership is
not required to indemnify or advance funds to any person with respect to any action initiated by the person seeking indemnification
without our approval (except for any proceeding brought to enforce such person’s right to indemnification under the partnership
agreement) or if the person is found to be liable to our Operating Partnership on any portion of any claim in the action.
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Certain provisions of our charter, bylaws and Maryland law could inhibit changes in control, which may discourage third parties
firom conducting a tender offer or seeking other change of control transactions that could trigger rights to require us to redeem
our shares of common stock.

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporate Law (“MGCL”) may have the effect of inhibiting a third party from
making a proposal to acquire us or of impeding a change of control under circumstances that otherwise could provide the holders
of shares of our common stock with the opportunity to realize a premium over the then-prevailing market price of such shares,
including:

*  “business combination” provisions that, subject to certain exceptions, prohibit certain business combinations between us
and an “interested stockholder” (defined generally as any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power
of our shares or an affiliate thereof or an affiliate or associate of ours who was the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly,
of 10% or more of the voting power of our then outstanding voting stock at any time within the two-year period); and

e “control share” provisions that provide that holders of “control shares” of our company (defined as shares that, when
aggregated with other shares controlled by the stockholder, entitle the stockholder to exercise voting power in the election
of directors within one of three increasing ranges) acquired in a “control share acquisition” (defined as the direct or indirect
acquisition of ownership or control of the voting power of issued and outstanding “control shares,” subject to certain
exceptions) have no voting rights with respect to their control shares, except to the extent approved by our stockholders
by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding all interested shares.

As permitted by the MGCL, our bylaws provide that we will not be subject to the control share provisions of the MGCL, and
our board of directors has, by resolution, exempted us from the business combination between us and any other person. In addition,
the board resolution opting out of the business combination provisions of the MGCL provides that any alteration or repeal of the
resolution shall be valid only if approved, at a meeting duly called, by the affirmative vote of a majority of votes cast by stockholders
entitled to vote generally for directors, and our bylaws provide that any such alteration or repeal of the resolution, or any amendment,
alteration or repeal of the provision in our bylaws exempting from the control share acquisition statute any and all acquisitions by
any person of shares of our stock, will be valid only if approved, at a meeting duly called, by the affirmative vote of a majority of
votes cast by stockholders entitled to vote generally for directors.

Certain provisions of the MGCL permit the board of directors of a Maryland corporation with at least three independent
directors and a class of stock registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) without stockholder approval
and regardless of what is currently provided in its charter or bylaws, to implement certain corporate governance provisions, some
of which (for example, a classified board) are not currently applicable to us. These provisions may have the effect of limiting or
precluding a third party from making an unsolicited acquisition proposal for our company or of delaying, deferring, or preventing
a change in control under circumstances that otherwise could provide the holders of our stock with the opportunity to realize a
premium over the current market price.

Certain provisions in the partnership agreement of our Operating Partnership may delay or prevent unsolicited acquisitions
of us.

Provisions of the partnership agreement of our Operating Partnership may delay or make more difficult unsolicited acquisitions
of us or changes of our control. These provisions could discourage third parties from making proposals involving an unsolicited
acquisition of us or change of our control, although some stockholders or limited partners might consider such proposals, if made,
desirable. These provisions include, among others:

* redemption rights of qualifying parties;
* arequirement that we may not be removed as the general partner of our Operating Partnership without our consent;
e transfer restrictions on OP Units;

*  our ability, as general partner, in some cases, to amend the partnership agreement and to cause our Operating Partnership
to issue additional partnership interests with terms that could delay, defer, or prevent a merger or other change of control
of us or our Operating Partnership without the consent of our stockholders or the limited partners; and

o the right of the limited partners to consent to certain transfers of our general partnership interest (whether by sale,
disposition, statutory merger or consolidation, liquidation or otherwise).

Our charter and bylaws, the partnership agreement of our Operating Partnership and Maryland law also contain other provisions
that may delay, defer, or prevent a transaction or a change of control that might involve a premium price for our common stock or
that our stockholders otherwise believe to be in their best interest.

Our charter contains certain ownership limits with respect to our stock.

Our charter authorizes our board of directors to take such actions as it determines are advisable, in its sole and absolute
discretion, to preserve our qualification as a REIT. Our charter also prohibits the actual, beneficial, or constructive ownership by
any person of more than 9.8% in value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of the outstanding shares of any class or
series of our capital stock, in each case excluding any shares that are not treated as outstanding for federal income tax purposes.
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Our board of directors, in its sole and absolute discretion, may exempt a person, prospectively or retroactively, from these ownership
limits if certain conditions are satisfied. However, our bylaws provide that the board of directors must waive the ownership limit
with respect to a particular person if it: (1) determines that such person’s ownership will not cause any individual’s beneficial
ownership of shares of our stock to violate the ownership limit and that any exemption from the ownership limit will not jeopardize
our status as a REIT; and (2) determines that such stockholder does not and will not own, actually or constructively, an interest in
a tenant of ours (or a tenant of any entity whose operations are attributed in whole or in part to us) that would cause us to own,
actually or constructively, more than a 9.8% interest (as set forth in Section 856(d)(2)(B) of the Code) in such tenant or that any
such ownership would not cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT under the Code. The restrictions on ownership and transfer of our
stock may:

« discourage a tender offer or other transactions or a change in management or of control that might involve a premium price
for our common stock or that our stockholders otherwise believe to be in their best interests; or

« result in the transfer of shares acquired in excess of the restrictions to a trust for the benefit of a charitable beneficiary and,
as a result, the forfeiture by the acquirer of the benefits of owning the additional shares.

We could increase the number of authorized shares of stock, classify and reclassify unissued stock and issue stock without
stockholder approval.

Our board of directors, without stockholder approval, has the power under our charter to amend our charter to increase the
aggregate number of shares of stock or the number of shares of stock of any class or series that we are authorized to issue, to
authorize us to issue authorized but unissued shares of our common stock or preferred stock and to classify or reclassify any unissued
shares of our common stock or preferred stock into one or more classes or series of stock and set the terms of such newly classified
or reclassified shares. As a result, we may issue additional classes or series of preferred stock with preferences, powers and rights,
voting or otherwise, that are senior to, or otherwise conflict with, the rights of holders of our common stock and could, depending
on the terms of such series, delay or prevent a transaction or change of control that might involve a premium price for our common
stock or that our stockholders otherwise believe to be in their best interest. The holders of our common stock bear the risk of our
future offerings reducing the market price of our securities and diluting their proportionate ownership.

Our board of directors may change our investment and financing policies without stockholder approval, and we may become
more highly leveraged, which may increase our risk of default under our debt obligations.

Our investment and financing policies are exclusively determined by our board of directors. Accordingly, our stockholders, do
not control these policies. Further, our charter and bylaws do not limit the amount or percentage of indebtedness, funded or
otherwise, that we may incur. Our board of directors may alter or eliminate our current policy on borrowing at any time without
stockholder approval. If this policy changed, we could become more highly leveraged which could result in an increase in our debt
service. Higher leverage also increases the risk of default on our obligations. In addition, a change in our investment policies,
including the manner in which we allocate our resources across our Company Portfolio or the types of assets in which we seek to
invest, may increase our exposure to interest rate risk, real estate market fluctuations and liquidity risk. Changes to our policies with
regard to the foregoing could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and our ability to pay
distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited.

As permitted by Maryland law, our charter eliminates the liability of our directors and officers to us and our stockholders for
money damages, except for liability resulting from:

* actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property, or services; or

« active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or officer that was established by a final judgment and was material to the
cause of action adjudicated.

In addition, our charter authorizes us to obligate our company, and our bylaws require us, to indemnify our directors and
officers for actions taken by them in those and certain other capacities to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law in effect
from time to time. Generally, Maryland law permits a Maryland corporation to indemnify its present and former directors and
officers except in instances where the person seeking indemnification acted in bad faith or with active and deliberate dishonesty,
actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services or, in the case of a criminal proceeding, had reasonable
cause to believe that his or her actions were unlawful. Under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation also may not indemnify a
director or officer in a suit by or on behalf of the corporation in which the director or officer was adjudged liable to the corporation
or for a judgment of liability on the basis that a personal benefit was improperly received. A court may order indemnification if it
determines that the director or officer is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnification, even though the director or officer did
not meet the prescribed standard of conduct; however, indemnification for an adverse judgment in a suit by us or on our behalf, or
for a judgment of liability on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received, is limited to expenses. As a result, we and our
stockholders may have more limited rights against our directors and officers than might otherwise exist. Accordingly, in the event
that actions taken in good faith by any of our directors or officers impede the performance of our company, your ability to recover
damages from such director or officer will be limited.

23



We are a holding company with no direct operations and, as such, we will rely on funds received from our Operating Partnership
to pay liabilities, and the interests of our stockholders will be structurally subordinated to all liabilities and obligations of our
Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries.

We are a holding company and conduct substantially all of our operations through our Operating Partnership. We do not have,
apart from an interest in our Operating Partnership, any independent operations. As a result, we will rely on distributions from our
Operating Partnership to pay any distributions we might declare on our stock. We will also rely on distributions from our Operating
Partnership to meet any of our obligations, including any tax liability on taxable income allocated to us from our Operating
Partnership. In addition, because we are a holding company, your claims as stockholders will be structurally subordinated to all
existing and future liabilities and obligations (whether or not for borrowed money) of our Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries.
Therefore, in the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization, our assets and those of our Operating Partnership and its
subsidiaries will be available to satisfy the claims of our stockholders only after all of our and our Operating Partnership’s and its
subsidiaries’ liabilities and obligations have been paid in full.

Our Operating Partnership may issue additional OP Units to third parties without the consent of our stockholders, which would
reduce our ownership percentage in our Operating Partnership and would have a dilutive effect on the amount of distributions made
to us by our Operating Partnership and, therefore, the amount of distributions we can make to our stockholders.

As of December 31, 2024, we have 490,299 OP Units outstanding, which were issued in connection with the acquisition of
certain properties in our portfolio. On August 26, 2024, the Company issued warrants that are exercisable into 11,760,000 of OP
Units (the “Warrants™) in connection with the Joint Venture. See "Item 1A. Risk Factors--Risks Related to Our Common Stock--
OP Units issued upon exercise of the Warrants would be immediately redeemable, for cash or shares of our common stock at our
option. The exercise of such Warrants and potential redemption of the converted OP Units for shares of common stock could have
an immediate dilutive effect on the ownership interests of our common stockholders" for more details on the Warrants. We may in
the future, in connection with our acquisition of properties or otherwise, cause our Operating Partnership to issue additional OP
Units to third parties. Such issuances would reduce our ownership percentage in our Operating Partnership and affect the amount
of distributions made to us by our Operating Partnership and, therefore, the amount of distributions we can make to our stockholders.
Because you will not directly own OP Units, you will not have any voting rights with respect to any such issuances or other
partnership level activities of our Operating Partnership.

Risks Related to Our Status as a REIT

Failure to maintain our qualification as a REIT would have material adverse consequences to us and the per-share trading
price of our stock.

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable year ended December
31, 2012, and have operated in a manner that we believe will allow us to maintain our qualification as a REIT. We cannot assure
you that we will remain qualified as a REIT in the future. If we lose our REIT qualification, we will face serious tax consequences
that would substantially reduce the funds available for distribution to you for each of the years involved because:

* we would not be allowed a deduction for distributions to stockholders in computing our taxable income and would be
subject to federal income tax at regular corporate rates; and

* we also could be subject to the federal alternative minimum tax (for taxable years prior to 2018) and possibly increased
state and local taxes.

Any such corporate tax liability could be substantial and would reduce our cash available for, among other things, our
operations and distributions to stockholders. In addition, if we fail to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we will not be required
to make distributions to our stockholders. As a result of all these factors, our failure to maintain our qualification as a REIT also
could impair our ability to expand our business and raise capital and could materially adversely affect the per-share trading price of
our stock.

Qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex Code provisions for which there are only
limited judicial and administrative interpretations. The complexity of these provisions and of the applicable Treasury regulations
that have been promulgated under the Code, or the Treasury regulations, is greater in the case of a REIT that, like us, holds its assets
through a partnership. The determination of various factual matters and circumstances not entirely within our control may affect
our ability to qualify as a REIT. In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must satisfy a number of requirements,
including requirements regarding the ownership of our stock, requirements regarding the composition of our assets and a
requirement that at least 95% of our gross income in any year must be derived from qualifying sources, such as “rents from real
property.” Also, we must make distributions to stockholders aggregating annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income,
determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gains and losses. In addition, legislation, new
regulations, administrative interpretations, or court decisions may materially adversely affect our investors, our ability to maintain
our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes or the desirability of an investment in a REIT relative to other
investments. Even if we maintain our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to some federal,
state and local income, property and excise taxes on our income or property and, in certain cases, a 100% penalty tax, in the event
we sell property as a dealer. In addition, any taxable REIT subsidiaries that we own will be subject to tax as regular C corporations
in the jurisdictions in which they operate.
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If our Operating Partnership failed to qualify as a partnership or a disregarded entity for federal income tax purposes, we would
cease to qualify as a REIT and suffer other adverse consequences.

We believe that our Operating Partnership will be treated as a partnership or a disregarded entity for federal income tax
purposes. During periods in which our Operating Partnership is treated as a disregarded entity, our Operating Partnership will not
be subject to federal income tax on its income. Rather, its income will be attributed to us as the sole owner for federal income tax
purposes of the Operating Partnership. During periods in which our Operating Partnership has limited partners other than Plymouth
OP Limited, LLC, the Operating Partnership will be treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. As a partnership, our
Operating Partnership would not be subject to federal income tax on its income. Instead, each of its partners would be allocated,
and may be required to pay tax with respect to, its share of our Operating Partnership’s income. We cannot assure you, however,
that the Internal Revenue Service, or the IRS, will not challenge the status of our Operating Partnership or any other subsidiary
partnership in which we own an interest as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, or that a court would not sustain such a
challenge. If the IRS were successful in treating our Operating Partnership or any such other subsidiary partnership as an entity
taxable as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, we would fail to meet the gross income tests and certain of the asset tests
applicable to REITs and, accordingly, we would likely cease to maintain our qualification as a REIT. Also, if our Operating
Partnership or any subsidiary partnerships were treated as entities taxable as corporations, such entities could become subject to
federal and state corporate income tax, which would reduce significantly the amount of cash available for debt service and for
distribution to its partners, including us.

Our taxable REIT subsidiaries will be subject to federal income tax, and we will be required to pay a 100% penalty tax on certain
income or deductions if our transactions with our taxable REIT subsidiaries are not conducted on arm’s length terms.

We own interests in one taxable REIT subsidiary and may acquire interests in more taxable REIT subsidiaries in the future. A
taxable REIT subsidiary is a corporation other than a REIT in which a REIT directly or indirectly holds stock, and that has made a
joint election with such REIT to be treated as a taxable REIT subsidiary. If a taxable REIT subsidiary owns more than 35% of the
total voting power or value of the outstanding securities of another corporation, such other corporation will also be treated as a
taxable REIT subsidiary. Other than some activities relating to lodging and health care facilities, a taxable REIT subsidiary may
generally engage in any business, including the provision of customary or non-customary services to tenants of its parent REIT. A
taxable REIT subsidiary is subject to federal income tax as a regular C corporation. In addition, a 100% excise tax will be imposed
on certain transactions between a taxable REIT subsidiary and its parent REIT that are not conducted on an arm’s length basis.

To maintain our REIT qualification, we may be forced to borrow funds during unfavorable market conditions.

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we generally must distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable
income each year, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gains, and we will be subject
to regular corporate income taxes to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income each year. In addition,
we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which distributions paid by us in any calendar year
are less than the sum of 85% of our ordinary income, 95% of our capital gain net income and 100% of our undistributed income
from prior years. Accordingly, we may not be able to retain sufficient cash flow from operations to meet our debt service
requirements and repay our debt. Therefore, we may need to raise additional capital for these purposes, and we cannot assure you
that a sufficient amount of capital will be available to us on favorable terms, or at all, when needed, which would materially
adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading
price of, our stock. Further, in order to maintain our REIT qualification and avoid the payment of income and excise taxes, we may
need to borrow funds to meet the REIT distribution requirements even if the then prevailing market conditions are not favorable for
these borrowings. These borrowing needs could result from, among other things, differences in timing between the actual receipt
of cash and inclusion of income for federal income tax purposes, or the effect of non-deductible capital expenditures, the creation
of reserves or required debt or amortization payments. These sources, however, may not be available on favorable terms or at all.
Our access to third-party sources of capital depends on a number of factors, including the market’s perception of our growth
potential, our current debt levels, the per-share trading price of our stock, and our current and potential future earnings. We cannot
assure you that we will have access to such capital on favorable terms at the desired times, or at all, which may cause us to curtail
our investment activities and/or to dispose of assets at inopportune times, and could adversely affect our financial condition, results
of operations, cash flows and our ability to pay distributions on, and the per-share trading price of, our stock.

Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends.

The maximum tax rate applicable to “qualified dividend income” payable to U.S. stockholders that are individuals, trusts and
estates is 20%. Dividends payable by REITs, however, generally are not eligible for such reduced tax rates. Instead, our ordinary
dividends generally are taxed at the higher tax rates applicable to ordinary income, the current maximum rate of which is 37%.
Although these rules do not adversely affect the taxation of REITs or dividends payable by REITs, investors who are individuals,
trusts and estates may perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of non-REIT
corporations that pay dividends, which could adversely affect the value of the shares of REITs, including the per-share trading price
of our stock. However, for taxable years prior to 2026, individual stockholders are generally allowed to deduct 20% of the aggregate
amount of ordinary dividends distributed by us, subject to certain limitations, which would reduce the maximum marginal effective
federal income tax rate for individuals on the receipt of such ordinary dividends to 29.6%.
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The tax imposed on REITs engaging in “prohibited transactions” may limit our ability to engage in transactions which would
be treated as sales for federal income tax purposes.

A REIT’s net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100% penalty tax. In general, prohibited transactions are sales
or other dispositions of property, other than foreclosure property, held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of
business. Although we do not intend to hold any properties that would be characterized as held for sale to customers in the ordinary
course of our business, unless a sale or disposition qualifies under certain statutory safe harbors, such characterization is a factual
determination, and no guarantee can be given that the IRS would agree with our characterization of our properties or that we will
always be able to make use of the available safe harbors.

Complying with REIT requirements may affect our profitability and may force us to liquidate or forgo otherwise attractive
investments.

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other things, the nature and
diversification of our assets, the sources of our income and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders. We may be required to
liquidate or forgo otherwise attractive investments in order to satisfy the asset and income tests or to qualify under certain statutory
relief provisions. We also may be required to make distributions to stockholders at disadvantageous times or when we do not have
funds readily available for distribution. As a result, having to comply with the distribution requirement could cause us to: (1) sell
assets in adverse market conditions; (2) borrow on unfavorable terms; or (3) distribute amounts that would otherwise be invested
in future acquisitions, capital expenditures or repayment of debt. Accordingly, satisfying the REIT requirements could have an
adverse effect on our business results, profitability and ability to execute our business plan. Moreover, if we are compelled to
liquidate our investments to meet any of these asset, income or distribution tests, or to repay obligations to our lenders, we may be
unable to comply with one or more of the requirements applicable to REITs or may be subject to a 100% tax on any resulting gain
if such sales constitute prohibited transactions.

Legislative, regulatory, or administrative changes could adversely affect us or our security holders.

The tax laws or regulations governing REITs, or the administrative interpretations thereof, may be amended at any time. We
cannot predict if or when any new or amended law, regulation, or administrative interpretation will be adopted, promulgated, or
become effective, and any such change may apply retroactively. New or amended laws, regulations, or administrative
interpretations, could materially adversely affect our ability to qualify as a REIT or the federal income consequences of such
qualification or may reduce the relative attractiveness of an investment in a REIT compared to other corporations not qualified as a
REIT.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act made significant changes to the U.S. federal tax rules related to the taxation of individuals and
corporations, including REITs and their stockholders. Additional technical corrections, amendments, or administrative guidance
with respect to the Tax Cut and Jobs Act may be issued at any time, and we cannot predict the long-term impact of any future
changes on REITs and their stockholders.

If our assets are deemed to be ERISA plan assets, we may be exposed to liabilities under Title I of ERISA and the Internal
Revenue Code.

In some circumstances where an ERISA plan holds an interest in an entity, the assets of the entire entity are deemed to be
ERISA plan assets unless an exception applies. This is known as the “look-through rule.” Under those circumstances, the obligations
and other responsibilities of plan sponsors, plan fiduciaries and plan administrators, and of parties in interest and disqualified
persons, under Title I of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code, as applicable, may be applicable, and there may be liability under
these and other provisions of ERISA and the Code. We believe that our assets should not be treated as plan assets because the shares
should qualify as “publicly-offered securities” that are exempt from the look-through rules under applicable Treasury Regulations.
We note, however, that because certain limitations are imposed upon the transferability of shares so that we may qualify as a REIT,
and perhaps for other reasons, it is possible that this exemption may not apply. If that is the case, and if we are exposed to liability
under ERISA or the Code, our performance and results of operations could be adversely affected. Prior to making an investment in
us, our stockholders should consult with their legal and other advisors concerning the impact of ERISA and the Code on their
investment and our performance.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

The rights of the holders of our common stock are limited by and subordinate to the rights of the holders of the Operating
Partnership’s Series C Preferred Units and these rights may have a material adverse effect on the per-share trading price of our
common stock.

The holders of shares of the Operating Partnership’s Non-Convertible Cumulative Series C Preferred Units (“Series C Preferred
Units”) have rights and preferences generally senior to those of the holders of our common stock. The existence of these senior
rights and preferences may have a material adverse effect on the per-share trading price of shares of our common stock. These rights
are more fully set forth in the certificate of designation governing our Series C Preferred Units and include but are not limited to:
(1) dividend and distribution rights, (ii) rights on liquidation, winding-up or dissolution of us or of the Operating Partnership, as
applicable and (iii) redemption rights upon the occurrence of a Fundamental Change (as defined in the certificate of designations).
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We have issued and may continue to issue Series C Preferred Units that rank senior to our common stock in priority of dividend

payment and upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Operating Partnership or the Company and redemption rights
upon the occurrence of Fundamental Change, and have additional corporate governance rights that may materially adversely
affect our ability to pay dividends to holders of our common stock and the per-share trading price of our common stock.

On August 26, 2024, we issued 60,910 Series C Preferred Units to the Investor, and we will be required to issue an additional
79,090 Series C Preferred Units to the Investor in one or more additional closings to occur on or before May 23, 2025. The holders
ofthe Series C Preferred Units are entitled to a quarterly distribution payable in arrears on January 15, April 15, July 15 and October
15 of each year in both cash and additional Series C Preferred Units. The Series C Preferred Units rank senior to our common stock
with respect to priority of such dividend payments, as well as to rights upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Operating
Partnership and the Company and redemption rights upon the occurrence of a Fundamental Change. As a result, distributions on
the Series C Preferred Units may limit our ability to make distributions to holders of our common stock. Further, upon our Operating
Partnership’s liquidation, holders of our Series C Preferred Units will receive a distribution of our Operating Partnership’s available
assets before common stockholders in an amount of cash equal to the greater of (i) $1,000 per Series C Preferred Unit, subject to
certain adjustments for, among other things, OP Unit splits and the payment of dividends, including regular quarterly cash dividends
on our common stock, plus all accrued but unpaid dividends thereon to or (ii) an amount of cash equal to $1,350 less the aggregate
amount of Cash Distributions actually paid in respect of such share after the date of issuance and through but not including the
applicable liquidation date, redemption date or other applicable measurement date. Holders of shares of our common stock bear the
risk that our future issuances of equity securities, including additional Series C Preferred Units as quarterly dividend payments to
the holders of our Series C Preferred Units, will dilute the ownership interest of existing holders of our common stock, and may
materially adversely affect our results of operations and the per-share trading price of our common stock.

In addition, so long as any Series C Preferred Units are outstanding, the consent of a majority of the holders of the Series C
Preferred Units, voting as a single class, is required for us to take certain actions which include, but are not limited to: (i) amend
our charter or our Operating Partnership’s partnership agreement to authorize, create or increase the amount of any series of capital
stock or OP Units that rank senior (“Senior Securities”) to or pari passu (“Parity Securities”) with the Series C Preferred Units with
respect to dividends or distributions, or the distribution of assets on any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation
or the Operating Partnership, as applicable; (ii) amend, alter or waive the charter or the partnership agreement in a manner that
would adversely affect the rights, preferences and privileges of the Series C Preferred Units; (iii) issue any Senior Securities or
Parity Securities, or securities or rights convertible into, or exercisable for, Senior Securities or Parity Securities; (iv) issue any
equity securities of any subsidiary of the Operating Partnership to a third-party; (v) incur, refinance or create any indebtedness,
subject to certain exceptions; (vi) effect a Fundamental Change and (vii) pay dividends or distributions or repurchase or redeem
Parity Securities or securities junior to the Series C Preferred Units with respect to dividend and distribution rights on liquidation,
winding-up or dissolution of the Operating Partnership or the Company, subject to certain exceptions, including a distribution to
the Company and payment of dividends using all proceeds of such distribution as necessary to maintain the Company’s status as a
REIT or to avoid the payment of any federal, state or local income or excise tax. Further, the Investor was granted the right to
designate one non-voting observer on the Board of Directors. Such governance rights may materially adversely affect our ability to
run our business and may adversely affect the per-share trading price of our common stock.

The Fundamental Change redemption feature of our Series C Preferred Units may make it more difficult for a party to take
over our Company or Operating Partnership or discourage a party from taking over our Company or Operating Partnership.

Upon the occurrence of Fundamental Change, holders of our Series C Preferred Units will have the right to redeem all of their
Series C Preferred Units for cash at a price determined in accordance with the certificate of designation. The Fundamental Change
redemption features of our Series C Preferred Units may have the effect of discouraging a third-party from making an acquisition
proposal for our Company or Operating Partnership or of delaying, deferring or preventing certain change of control transactions
of our Company or Operating Partnership under circumstances that otherwise could provide the holders of our common stock with
the opportunity to realize a premium over the then-current market price or that stockholders may otherwise believe is in their best
interests.

OP Units issued upon exercise of the Warrants would be immediately redeemable, for cash or shares of our common stock at
our option. The exercise of such Warrants and potential redemption of the converted OP Units for shares of common stock
could have an immediate dilutive effect on the ownership interests of our common stockholders.

On August 26, 2024 (the “Initial Issue Date”), the Company issued the Warrants to the Investor. The Warrants will become
exercisable for either OP Units or cash on the fifth anniversary of the Initial Issue Date (the “Exercise Period”), provided, however,
that if the volume-weighted average price of our common stock for the ninety (90) consecutive trading days ending on the fifth
anniversary of the Initial Issue Date is equal to or less than the applicable conversion price of the Warrants in effect at such date,
then the Exercise Period shall be extended until the seventh anniversary of the Initial Issue Date. The conversion price of the
Warrants may be automatically adjusted pursuant to the terms of the Warrants for, among other things, stock splits and the payment
of dividends, including regular quarterly cash dividends on our common stock. All OP Units received upon exercise of the Warrants
may be immediately tendered for redemption for cash or for shares of common stock at the Company’s option, subject to the terms
and conditions set forth in the Warrant Agreement and the partnership agreement. To the extent the Warrants are exercised for OP
Units and such OP Units are redeemed for shares of common stock, our existing common stockholders would experience an
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immediate, and potentially significant, dilutive effect on their ownership interest in the Company, which could cause the market
price of our common stock to be materially adversely affected.

Furthermore, pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 26, 2024, by and among the Company, the
Operating Partnership and the Investor, the holders of our Warrants have registration rights which provide for customary “demand”
and “piggyback” registration rights for our common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Warrants. We will bear all costs in
connection with registration of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Warrants. Sales of our common stock issuable
upon the exercise of the Warrants, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of holders of shares of our
common stock intend to sell shares of our common stock, could reduce the market price of our common stock.

The strike price and the warrant entitlement of the Warrants are subject to automatic adjustments pursuant to the terms of the
Warrants for, among other things, stock splits and the payment of dividends, including regular quarterly cash dividends on our
common stock, and certain other issuances of common stock, OP Units and equity-linked securities and may materially adversely
impact the per-share trading price of our common stock and ability to pay or increase dividends on our common stock.

The strike price and the warrant entitlement of the Warrants are subject to automatic adjustments pursuant to the terms of the
Warrants for, among other things, stock splits and the payment of dividends, including regular quarterly cash dividends, on our
common stock, and certain other issuances of common stock, OP Units and equity-linked securities. The payment of dividends,
including our regular cash dividends, has resulted in a corresponding reduction in the strike price and corresponding increase of the
warrant entitlement of the Warrants. The strike price of the Warrants will continue to decrease, and the warrant entitlement of the
Warrants will continue to increase, in each quarter in connection with the payment of dividends, including our regular cash
dividends. The adjustments associated with the Warrants may make it less likely that we will increase our regular cash dividends
or declare other dividends except to the extent necessary to maintain our status as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes,
which may adversely impact the market price of our common stock. Furthermore, the strike price of the Warrants is subject to
adjustment upon the issuance or sale of any shares of our common stock, OP Units or any equity-linked securities at a price less
than the then-current strike price of the Warrants (a “Degressive Issuance”) and would result in a corresponding decrease in the
strike price of the Warrants. As a result, the adjustment to the strike price of the Warrants upon a Degressive Issuance may limit
our ability to issue or sell common stock, OP Units or any other equity-linked securities and limit our potential growth. To the
extent the Warrants are exercised, the common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Warrants will result in dilution to the existing
holders of our common stock. Sales of substantial numbers of shares of common stock issued upon the exercise of Warrants in the
public market or the potential that such Warrants may be exercised could also adversely affect the per-share trading price of our
common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

We have developed and implemented a cybersecurity risk management program intended to protect the confidentiality,
integrity, and availability of our critical systems and information.

We design and assess our program based on the National Institute of Standards and Technology Cybersecurity Framework
(the “NIST CSF”) and Al Risk Management Framework. This does not mean that we meet any particular technical standards,
specifications, or requirements, but only that we use the NIST CSF as a guide to help us identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity
risks relevant to our business.

Information about cybersecurity risks and our risk management processes is collected, analyzed and considered as part of our
overall enterprise risk management (“ERM?”).

Key components of our cybersecurity risk management program include:

*  risk assessments designed to help identify cybersecurity risks to our critical systems, information, services, and our
broader enterprise information technology (“IT”) environment;

* asecurity team principally responsible for managing (1) our cybersecurity risk assessment processes, (2) our security
controls, and (3) our response to cybersecurity incidents;

* the use of external service providers, where appropriate, to assess, test or otherwise assist with aspects of our security
processes;

* cybersecurity awareness training of our employees, incident response personnel and senior management;
* acybersecurity incident response plan that includes procedures for responding to cybersecurity incidents; and

* athird-party cyber risk management process for vendors including, among other things, a security assessment and
contracting program for vendors based on their risk profile.
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At this time, we have not identified risks from known cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any prior cybersecurity
incidents, that have materially affected us, including our operations, business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition.
We face certain ongoing risks from cybersecurity threats that, if realized, are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our
operations, business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. See “Item IA. Risk Factors— Risks Related to Our
Business and Operations—We face risks associated with security breaches through cyber-attacks, cyber intrusions, as well as other
significant disruptions of our information systems.”

Cybersecurity Governance

Our board of directors recognizes the critical importance of maintaining the trust and confidence of our tenants, business
partners, investors, and employees. Our board of directors considers cybersecurity risk as part of its risk oversight function and has
delegated to the Cybersecurity Committee (the “Committee”) oversight of cybersecurity and other information technology risks.
The Committee oversees management’s implementation of our cybersecurity risk management program.

The Committee receives regular presentations and reports on cybersecurity risks, which address a wide range of topics including
recent developments, evolving standards, vulnerability assessments, third-party and independent reviews, the threat environment,
technological trends, and information security considerations. The Committee also receives prompt and timely information
regarding any cybersecurity incident that meets established reporting thresholds, as well as ongoing updates regarding any such
incident until it has been addressed. The Committee provides regular reports to our board of directors and provides our board of
directors with timely updates regarding any ongoing cybersecurity incident. On an annual basis, our board of directors and the
Committee discuss our approach to cybersecurity risk management with members of our management’s cybersecurity committee.

Our management cybersecurity committee, led by our CFO and Director of Information Technology, are responsible for
assessing and managing our material risks from cybersecurity threats. The team has primary responsibility for our overall
cybersecurity risk management program and supervises both our internal cybersecurity personnel and any retained external
cybersecurity consultants. Our Director of Information Security has served in various roles in information technology and
information security for over 20 years. Our managed service provider has over 20 years of experience managing multi-national IT
operations, including strategy, applications, infrastructure, information security, support, and execution.

Our management cybersecurity committee is informed about and monitors the prevention, detection, mitigation, and
remediation of cybersecurity risks and incidents through various means, which may include, among other things, briefings with
internal security personnel, threat intelligence and other information obtained from governmental, public or private sources,
including external consultants engaged by us, and alerts and reports produced by security tools deployed in our IT environment.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The following table provides certain information with respect to the Company Portfolio, as of December 31, 2024.

Percent of Annualized

Total Rent/
Year Built/ Square Annualized Annualized Square
Market Property City State Property Type Renovated ®  Footage Occupancy  Rent ® Rent @  Footage ®
Atlanta 1099 Dodds Avenue Adairsville GA  Warehouse/Distribution 2005 150,000 100% $ 656,625 0.5% $ 438
1413 Lovers Lane Augusta GA  Warehouse/Distribution 1999 200,000 100% $ 738,075 0.6% $  3.69
1665 Dogwood Drive SW Conyers GA  Warehouse/Distribution 1973 198,000 100% 8 745,707 0.6% $ 377
1715 Dogwood Drive Conyers GA  Warehouse/Distribution 1973 100,000 100% $ 284,614 0.2% $ 2385
11236 Harland Drive Covington GA  Warehouse/Distribution 1988 32,361 100% 8 161,805 0.1% $  5.00
40 Pinyon Road Covington GA Warehouse/Distribution 1997 60,148 100% $ 375,074 0.3% $ 624
32 Dart Road Newnan GA Warehouse/Light 1988/2014 194,800 100% $ 899,190 0.7% $ 462
Manufacturing
Peachtree City Peachtree GA Small Bay Industrial 1979 & 2013 297,926 100% $ 1,818,714 1.4% $  6.11
City
Peachtree City II Peachtree GA  Small Bay Industrial 1989 117,000 98% $ 961,944 0.7% $ 838
City
6739 New Calhoun Highway NE =~ Rome GA  Warehouse/Distribution 1981/1996 & 320,000 100% $ 1,014,400 0.8% $ 317
2017
6777-6785 New Calhoun Rome GA  Warehouse/Distribution 2023 416,600 100% $ 2,454,346 1.9% $ 589
Highway NE
Boston 54-56 Milliken Portland ME Warehouse/Light 1966 & 268,713 100% $ 2,361,129 1.8% $ 879
Manufacturing 2022/2013
Charlotte 1570 East P Street Extension Newton NC Warehouse/Light 2005 155,220 100% $ 1,229,184 0.9% $ 792
Manufacturing
Cincinnati ~ Cornell Commerce Center Blue Ash OH Small Bay Industrial 1976 165,521 98% $ 1,089,646 0.8% $ 674
1220-1230 Hillsmith Drive Cincinnati OH Warehouse/Distribution 1975 46,039 100% $ 260,034 0.2% $§ 5.65
1-45 Techview Drive Cincinnati OH Warehouse/Distribution 1981-1982 86,462 91% $ 423316 0.3% $ 535
4225-4331 Dues Drive Cincinnati OH Warehouse/Distribution 1972 303,000 100% $ 1,651,663 1.3% § 545
613-637 Redna Terrace Cincinnati OH Warehouse/Distribution 1965 74,521 100% $ 459,401 0.4% $  6.16
8080 Reading Road Cincinnati OH Warehouse/Distribution 2007 10,000 100%  $ 68,000 0.1% $ 6.80
3741 Port Union Rd Fairfield OH Warehouse/Distribution 1995/2001 53,602 93% $ 313,167 0.2% $ 630
4115 Thunderbird Fairfield OH Warehouse/Distribution 1991 70,000 100% $§ 278,567 0.2% $§ 398
Fisher Industrial Park Fairfield OH Warehouse/Light 1946, 2023 1,403,932 99% $ 5,970,010 4.6% $ 431
Manufacturing
Fairfield Business Center Fairfield OH Small Bay Industrial 1990 39,558 100% $ 248,029 0.2% $ 627
7585 Empire Drive Florence KY Warehouse/Light 1973 148,415 61% $ 361,460 0.3% $  4.00
Manufacturing
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Percent of Annualized

Total Rent/
Year Built/ Square Annualized Annualized Square
Market Property City State Property Type Renovated ®  Footage Occupancy  Rent ® Rent @  Footage ©
3825 Symmes Road Hamilton OH Warehouse/Distribution 1990/1994 41,060 100% S 301,729 0.2% $ 735
11540-11630 Mosteller Sharonville OH Warehouse/Light 1959 358,386 66% $ 763,747 0.6% $ 323
Manufacturing
2700 Kemper Road Sharonville OH Small Bay Industrial 1990 85,718 100%  $ 663,648 0.5% $ 775
2800 Kemper Road Sharonville OH Small Bay Industrial 1989 82,832 94% $ 663,306 0.5% $ 850
Cleveland 1200 Chester Industrial Avon OH Warehouse/Distribution 2007/2009 207,160 100% $ 942,578 0.7% $ 455
Parkway N
1200 Chester Industrial Parkway S Avon OH Warehouse/Light 1991 90,628 100% $ 472,182 0.4% $ 521
Manufacturing
1350 Moore Road Avon OH Warehouse/Distribution 1997 109,075 0% $ - 0.0% $ -
22209 Rockside Road Bedford OH Warehouse/Distribution 2008/2021 197,518 100% $ 1,121,902 0.9% $ 568
1120 West 130th St Brunswick OH Warehouse/Distribution 2000 100,301 100% $ 534,849 0.4% $§ 533
4211 Shuffel Street NW Canton OH Warehouse/Light 1994 255,000 100% $ 1,473,502 1.1% $ 578
Manufacturing
2100 International Parkway Canton OH Warehouse/Light 2000 274,464 0% $ - 0.0% $ -
Manufacturing
2210 International Parkway Canton OH Warehouse/Distribution 2001 350,000 100% $ 1,568,000 1.2% $ 448
14801 County Rd 212 Findlay OH Warehouse/Distribution 1998 405,000 100% $ 1,560,804 1.2% $ 385
30339 Diamond Parkway Glenwillow OH Warehouse/Distribution 2007 400,184 100% $ 2,735,835 2.1% $ 684
Gilchrist Road 1 Mogadore OH Warehouse/Distribution 1961-1978 209,592 100% $ 882,291 0.7% $ 421
Gilchrist Road II Mogadore OH Warehouse/Distribution 1991-1994 473,046 100% $ 1,768,210 1.4% $ 374
Gilchrist Road IIT Mogadore OH Warehouse/Distribution 1994/1998 335,521 93% $ 1,252,039 1.0% $  4.02
1366 Commerce Drive Stow OH Warehouse/Distribution 1960 216,000 93% $ 765,000 0.6% $ 383
1755 Enterprise Twinsburg OH Warehouse/Light 1978/2005 255,570 100% $ 1,426,236 1.1% $ 558
Manufacturing
31000 Viking Parkway Westlake OH Small Bay Industrial 1998 100,150 100%  $ 665,295 0.5% $ o6.64
Columbus  1650-1654 Williams Road Columbus OH Warehouse/Distribution 1973/1974 & 772,450 100% $ 2,364,186 1.8% $  3.06
1975
2120-2138 New World Columbus OH Warehouse/Distribution 1971 121,200 100% $ 446,892 0.3% $  3.69
2626 Port Road Columbus OH Warehouse/Distribution 1994 156,641 100% $ 531,358 0.4% $ 339
8273 Green Meadows Lewis Center OH Warehouse/Distribution 1996/2007 77,271 100% $ 417,934 0.3% $ 541
8288 Green Meadows Lewis Center OH Warehouse/Distribution 1988 300,000 100% $ 1,096,030 0.8% $ 365
Graphics Way Lewis Center OH Small Bay Industrial 2000 73,426 80% $ 393,506 0.3% $ 673
Orange Point Lewis Center OH Small Bay Industrial 2001 143,863 100% $ 833,791 0.6% $ 580
3100 Creekside Lockbourne OH Warehouse/Distribution 2000 340,000 100% $ 1,479,000 1.1% $ 435
100 Paragon Parkway Mansfield OH Warehouse/Distribution 1995 314,736 100% $ 975,000 0.7% $ 3.0
7001 Americana Reynoldsburg OH Warehouse/Distribution 1986/2007 & 54,100 100% 8 273,151 0.2% $ 5.05
2012
2800 Howard Street Sidney OH Warehouse/Distribution 2016 480,000 100% $ 1,695,809 1.3% $ 353
1520 Experiment Farm Road Troy OH Warehouse/Light 1997 160,000 100%  $ 755,580 0.6% $ 472
Manufacturing
2180 Corporate Drive Troy OH Warehouse/Light 1996 160,000 100% $ 740,176 0.6% $ 463
Manufacturing
952 Dorset Road Troy OH Small Bay Industrial 1988/1999 76,300 100% $ 308,261 0.2% $ 401
Indianapolis 2900 Shadeland Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1957/1992 933,439 80% $ 2,255,104 1.7% $  3.01
3035 North Shadeland Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1962/2001 & 562,497 91% $ 1,794,542 1.4% $ 352
2004
3169 North Shadeland Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1979/1993 44,374 95% $ 223,570 0.2% $ 533
3333 N. Franklin Road Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1967 276,240 100% $ 911,592 0.7% $ 330
3525 S. Arlington Indianapolis ~ IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1990 219,104 100%  $ 787,009 0.6% $ 359
6555 E 30th Street Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1969/1997 314,775 100% $ 1,470,079 1.1% $ 467
6575 E 30th Street Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1998 60,000 100% $ 331,200 0.3% $ 552
6585 E 30th Street Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1998 100,000 100% $ 409,117 0.3% $  4.09
6635 E 30th Street Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1998 99,877 100% $ 476,039 0.4% $ 477
6701 E 30th Street Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1990 7,820 100% $ 89,902 0.1% $ 11.50
6737 E 30th Street Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1995 87,500 100% $ 476,917 0.4% $ 545
6751 E 30th Street Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1997 100,000 100% $ 377,600 0.3% $ 378
6951 E 30th Street Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1995 44,000 100% $ 222,825 0.2% $  5.06
7750 Georgetown Road Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 2006 102,934 100% $ 715,649 0.5% $ 695
7901 W. 21st Street Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1985/1994 353,000 72% $ 972,803 0.7% $ 3383
Sam Jones Indianapolis IN  Warehouse/Light 1970 484,879 100% $ 1,451,085 1.1% $ 299
Manufacturing
3701 David Howarth Drive Lafayette IN  Warehouse/Distribution 2008/2019 294,730 100% $ 1,828,913 1.4% $ 621
Jacksonville 8000-8001 Belfort Parkway Jacksonville ~ FL  Small bay Industrial 1999 85,920 100% 8 942,746 0.7% $ 1097
8451 Western Way Jacksonville FL Warehouse/Light 1968/1975& 288,750 100% $ 2,162,786 1.7% $ 749
Manufacturing 1986-1987
Center Point Business Park Jacksonville FL Small Bay Industrial 1990-1997 537,800 100% $ 4,617,667 3.5% $ 859
Liberty Business Park Jacksonville  FL  Small Bay Industrial 1996-2023 519,586 100% $ 5,678,136 4.3% $ 1093
Salisbury Business Park Jacksonville FL Small Bay Industrial 2001-2023 209,372 100% $ 2,218,941 1.7% $  10.60
265 Industrial Boulevard Midway GA  Warehouse/Distribution 1988/1999 187,205 100% $ 748,820 0.6% $  4.00
338 Industrial Boulevard Midway GA Warehouse/Distribution 1996/2001 309,084 100% $ 989,636 0.8% $ 320
430 Industrial Boulevard Midway GA  Warehouse/Distribution 1988 47,599 100% $ 174,113 0.1% $  3.66
Memphis 7585 AE Beaty Drive/2995 Bartlett TN Warehouse/Distribution 2006 67,557 89% $ 586,698 0.4% $ 976
Appling Road
2950 Brother Boulevard Bartlett TN Warehouse/Distribution 1987/2019 232,375 85% $ 792,795 0.6% $  4.00
210 American Jackson TN  Warehouse/Distribution 1967/1981 & 638,400 100% $ 1,489,872 1.1% $ 233
2012
1590-1680 Century Center Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1990-2004 520,052 95% $ 4,949,938 3.8% $  10.06
Parkway
1700-1710 Dunn Avenue Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1957- 316,935 100% $ 925,018 0.7% $ 292
1959/1963/1973
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Percent of Annualized

Total Rent/
Year Built/ Square Annualized Annualized Square
Market Property City State Property Type Renovated ®  Footage Occupancy  Rent ® Rent @  Footage ©
1814 S Third Street Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1966 88,950 100% $ 195,690 0.1% $ 220
3635 Knight Road Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1986 131,904 0% $ - 0.0% $ -
3650 Distriplex Drive Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1997 330,253 100% $ 1,370,550 1.0% $ 415
3670 South Perkins Road Memphis TN Warehouse/Light 1974 74,582 100%  $ 242,391 0.2% $ 325
Manufacturing
3980 Premier Avenue Memphis TN  Warehouse/Distribution 1964 141,256 98% $ 352,730 0.3% $ 256
4370-4450 South Mendenhall Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1984 665,053 97% $ 2,934,683 2.2% $ 457
Road
4575 Pleasant Hill Road Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1991 320,186 100% $ 1,087,673 0.8% $ 340
4740 Shelby Drive Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1991 115,950 55% $ 260,673 0.2% $ 4.05
5846 Distribution Drive Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1984 34,560 100% $ 163,469 0.1% $ 473
6290 Shelby View Drive Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1999/2003 74,665 100%  § 454,357 0.3% $  6.09
Airport Business Park Memphis TN Small Bay Industrial 1985-1989 235,071 93% $ 2,739,280 2.1% $ 12.54
Collins Industrial Memphis Memphis TN Small Bay Industrial 1989-2001 247217 95% $ 1,187,025 0.9% $ 505
Outland Center Memphis I Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1988-1989 175,337 86% $ 698,790 0.5% $  4.66
Outland Center Memphis 1T Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1989 232,200 100% $ 822,009 0.6% $ 354
Outland/Burbank Industrial Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1969-1996 367,416 100% $ 1,195,280 0.9% $ 325
Place Industrial Memphis Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1980-1988 85,631 88% $ 333,811 0.3% $ 441
Shelby Distribution Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1989 202,303 100% 8 734,115 0.6% $ 3.63
Shelby Distribution IT Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1998 113,240 100% $ 440,034 0.3% $ 3.89
South Park Memphis TN  Warehouse/Distribution 1991/2005 566,281 100% $ 1,930,826 1.5% $ 341
Willow Lake Industrial Memphis TN Warehouse/Distribution 1989 75,643 100% $ 358,505 0.3% $ 474
10455 Marina Drive Olive Branch  MS Warehouse/Light 1986 161,200 100% $ 547,149 0.4% $ 339
Manufacturing
10682 Ridgewood Road Olive Branch MS Warehouse/Distribution 1985 90,000 100% $ 343,732 0.3% $ 382
7560 Priority Lane Olive Branch  MS Warehouse/Distribution 1988 48,750 100% 8 195,195 0.1% $  4.00
8970 Deerfield Drive Olive Branch MS Warehouse/Distribution 1977 51,320 100% $ 200,412 0.2% $ 391
South Bend 5681 Cleveland Road South Bend IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1994 62,550 100% $ 227,057 0.2% $ 363
South Bend 4491 Mayflower South Bend IN  Warehouse/Distribution 2000 77,000 100% $ 302,610 0.2% $ 393
South Bend 4955 Ameritech South Bend IN  Warehouse/Distribution 2004 228,000 100% $ 1,096,680 0.8% $ 481
South Bend 5855 Carbonmill South Bend IN  Warehouse/Distribution 2002 198,000 100% $ 920,700 0.7% $ 4.65
South Bend Brick Road South Bend IN  Warehouse/Distribution 1998 101,450 100% $ 368,264 0.3% $ 363
St. Louis 9150 Latty Avenue Berkeley MO Warehouse/Distribution 1965/2018 142,364 70% $ 450,000 0.3% $  4.50
160-275 Corporate Woods Place  Bridgeton MO Warehouse/Distribution 1990 155,434 72% $ 464,227 0.4% $ 414
3051 Gateway Edwardsville IL  Warehouse/Light 2016 521,171 100% $ 2,626,324 2.0% $ 5.04
Manufacturing
349 Gateway Edwardsville IL  Warehouse/Light 2016 624,159 100% $ 2,786,967 2.1% $ 447
Manufacturing
3919 Lakeview Corporate Drive ~ Edwardsville ~IL  Warehouse/Distribution 2019 769,500 0% $ - 0.0% $ -
4848 Park 370 Boulevard Hazelwood MO Warehouse/Light 2006 76,092 100% $ 499,007 0.4% $ 656
Manufacturing
Phantom Drive Hazelwood MO Warehouse/Distribution 1971 129,000 97% $ 558,931 0.4% $ 446
Metro St Louis Maryland MO Warehouse/Light 1979 59,055 73% $ 237246 0.2% § 552
Heights Manufacturing
1901-1939 Beltway Dr Overland MO Warehouse/Light 1986 76,485 67% $ 529,216 0.4% $ 10.38
Manufacturing
11646 Lakeside Crossing St. Louis MO Warehouse/Distribution 2005 100,021 100% $ 748,492 0.6% $ 748
Grissom Drive St. Louis MO Warehouse/Light 1970 79,258 100% $ 319,410 0.3% $ 403
Manufacturing
St. Louis Commerce Center St. Louis MO Warehouse/Distribution 1999-2001 487,150 100% $ 2,207,586 1.7% $ 453
Existing Portfolio — Industrial Properties 29,250,971 92.3%  $ 130,898,135 100% $ 4.85

(1)Property listing includes all wholly owned properties as of December 31, 2024.

(2)Renovation means significant upgrades, alterations, or additions to building areas, interiors, exteriors and/or systems.

(3) Annualized rent is calculated by multiplying rental payments (defined as cash rents before abatements) for the month ended December 31, 2024, by 12.

(4)Represents the percentage of total annualized rent for properties owned as of December 31, 2024.

(5)Calculated by multiplying rental payments (defined as cash rents before abatements) for the month ended December 31, 2024, by 12, and then dividing by leased
square feet for such property as of December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024, 29 of our 129 properties were encumbered by mortgage indebtedness totaling $176,400, excluding
unamortized deferred financing fees and debt issuance costs. See “Note 7—Indebtedness” in the accompanying notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.
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Functionality Diversification

The following tables set forth information relating to functionality diversification by building type based on total square footage
and annualized rent as of December 31, 2024.

Percentage Percentage  Annualized
of of Base Rent
Number of Total Rentable Rentable Annualized Annualized per

Property Type Properties Occupancy Square Feet Square Feet Base Rent Base Rent  Square Foot
Warehouse/Distribution............... 91 91.7% 20,062,452 68.6% $ 78,014,224 59.8% $ 4.24
Warehouse/Light Manufacturing . 22 91.7% 6,170,759 21.1% 27,853,977 21.3% 4.92
Small Bay Industrial ¥ ................ 16 98.2% 3,017,760 10.3% 25,029,934 18.9% 8.45
Total Company Portfolio........... 129 92.3% 29,250,971 100% $ 130,898,135 100% $ 4.85

(1)Small bay industrial is inclusive of flex space totaling 603,134 rentable square feet and annualized base rent of $7,257,028.
Geographic Diversification

The following tables set forth information relating to geographic diversification of the Company Portfolio by market based on
total annualized rent as of December 31, 2024.

Percentage of Percentage of

Number of Total Rentable Rentable Annualized Annualized

Market Properties  Occupancy Square Feet Square Feet Base Rent Base Rent
Memphis.......cccooeveninininene 29 94.6% 6,404,287 21.9% $ 27,532,700 21.1%
Indianapolis ........ccceeveeeirinennennne 17 91.8% 4,085,169 14.0% 14,793,944 11.3%
Cleveland.........cccoovvvcnininenenne 16 89.3% 3,979,209 13.6% 17,168,723 13.1%
CInCINNati ...oo.eeeeveeeeenieieeeeeeenne. 15 92.7% 2,969,046 10.2% 13,515,723 10.3%
Columbus .......oovvieriieieieeenne, 14 99.5% 3,230,487 11.0% 12,310,675 9.4%
St. LOUIS cvveeeeiieiieiieieseeeeeee 12 72.0% 3,219,689 11.0% 11,427,406 8.7%
Atlanta ......occooeevinieiieee 11 99.9% 2,086,835 7.1% 10,110,495 7.7%
Jacksonville .......ccceverieniinennnne. 8 100.0% 2,185,316 7.5% 17,532,846 13.5%
South Bend .......cccoovevieniiiine 5 100.0% 667,000 2.3% 2,915,310 2.2%
BoSton......coocveeviiniiciece 1 100.0% 268,713 0.9% 2,361,129 1.8%
Charlotte ......oooveieeiciieeee 1 100.0% 155,220 0.5% 1,229,184 0.9%
Total Company Portfolio .......... 129 92.3% 29,250,971 100% $ 130,898,135 100%

Industry Diversification

The following tables set forth information relating to tenant diversification of the leased portion of the Company Portfolio by
industry based on total square feet occupied and annualized rent as of December 31, 2024.

Percentage of Percentage of Annualized
Total Leased Number of Leased Annualized Annualized Base Rent per

Industry Square Feet Leases Square Feet Base Rent Base Rent Square Foot
Logistics & Transportation..................... 8,160,867 76 30.2% $ 33,911,975 25.9% $ 4.16
AULOMOTIVE ..o 2,156,884 23 8.0% 10,210,625 7.8% 4.73
Wholesale/Retail .........ccoeivevininciincenne 2,060,636 29 7.6% 10,502,267 8.0% 5.10
Home & Garden ........ccccevevieniinienicnen. 1,773,751 22 6.6% 6,106,583 4.7% 3.44
CONSIUCHION ...cveeeeiiieieeeeeeeee 1,357,672 37 5.0% 6,730,160 5.1% 4.96
Healthcare..........cocoovveniiiincniiinicce 1,297,715 50 4.8% 9,448,831 7.2% 7.28
Printing & Paper.........cccccoveeeccccnnnn. 1,109,317 10 4.1% 3,811,799 2.9% 3.44
PlastiCs ...cveueviiiiieese e 1,268,619 17 4.7% 5,833,572 4.5% 4.60
Food & Beverage ..........cccocvvvcicececcicnnnn. 930,068 17 3.4% 5,422,827 4.1% 5.83
Industrial Equipment Components 842,725 24 3.1% 4,159,659 3.2% 4.94
Other Industries ...........cocevevveneenvennennen. 6,052,287 192 22.5% 34,759,837 26.6% 5.74
Total Company Portfolio 27,010,541 497 100% $ 130,898,135 100% $ 4.85

Tenants

The following table sets forth information about the ten largest tenants in our Company Portfolio based on total annualized rent
as of December 31, 2024.
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Percent of

Annualized Total
#of Total Leased Base Annualized  Annualized

Tenant Market Industry Leases Square Feet Expiration Rent/SF Base Rent Rent
Accredo Health, Inc................. Memphis Healthcare 7 250,731 3/31/2030 $ 1213 $ 3,040,599 2.3%
Geodis Logistics, LLC ............ St. Louis Logistics & Transportation 1 624,159 8/31/2025 4.47 2,786,967 2.1%
Royal Canin U.S.A, Inc........... St. Louis Wholesale/Retail 1 521,171 12/31/2026 5.04 2,626,324 2.0%
ODW Logistics, Inc Columbus Logistics & Transportation 1 772,450 6/30/2025 3.06 2,364,186 1.8%
Archway Marketing Holdings,
INC. i South Bend  Logistics & Transportation 3 503,000 3/31/2026 4.61 2,319,990 1.8%
ASW Supply Chain Services,
LLC ittt Cleveland Logistics & Transportation 5 577,237 11/30/2027 3.74 2,158,177 1.6%
Balta US, Inc. ..ccovevvevenrenenne. Jacksonville Home & Garden 2 629,084 10/31/2029 3.19 2,004,036 1.5%
Communications Test Design,
InC. oo Memphis Logistics & Transportation 2 566,281 12/31/2025 3.41 1,930,826 1.5%
Winston Products, LLC........... Cleveland Wholesale/Retail 2 266,803 4/30/2032 7.08 1,888,831 1.4%
Advanced Composites, Inc...... Columbus Automotive 1 480,000 12/31/2031 3.53 1,695,809 1.3%
Ten Largest Tenants by Annualized Rent...........c.ccoocuiirinincocinincincienccees 25 5,190,916 $ 440 S 22815745  17.3%
ATLOTNET ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ae et e se s ess et e s e s eseeaeeaeas 472 21,819,625 4.95 108,082,390 82.7%
Total Company Portfolio..............cccocoiiiiiiiniiiniiiiiccc s 497 27,010,541 $ 485 $ 130,898,135  100%

Lease Overview

Triple-net lease: In our triple-net leases, the tenant is responsible for all aspects of, and costs related to, the property and its
operation during the lease term. The landlord may have responsibility under the lease to perform or pay for certain capital repairs
or replacements to the roof, structure, or certain building systems, such as heating and air conditioning and fire suppression. As of
December 31, 2024, there were 403 triple-net leases in the Company Portfolio, representing approximately 83.6% of our total
annualized base rent.

Modified net lease: In our modified net leases, the landlord is responsible for some property related expenses during the lease
term, but the cost of most of the expenses is passed through to the tenant. As of December 31, 2024, there were 51 modified net
leases in the Company Portfolio, representing approximately 8.9% of our total annualized base rent.

Gross lease: In our gross leases, the landlord is responsible for all aspects of and costs related to the property and its operation
during the lease term. As of December 31, 2024, there were 43 gross leases in the Company Portfolio, representing approximately
7.5% of the annualized base rent.

Lease Expirations

As of December 31, 2024, the weighted average in-place remaining lease term of the Company Portfolio was 3.2 years. The
following table sets forth a summary schedule of lease expirations for lease space currently available as of December 31, 2024 and
each of the ten full calendar years commencing after December 31, 2024. The information set forth in the table assumes that tenants
exercise no renewal options and no early termination rights.

Total Percentage Percentage Annualized
Rentable of Rentable Annualized of Annualized Base Rent per
Year of Expiration Square Feet Square Feet Base Rent Base Rent @ Square Foot ©®
AVailable ......ooovvi 2,240,430 7.7% $ — — $ —
2025........... 3,683,898 12.6% 18,325,271 14.0% 4.97
5,555,784 19.0% 25,693,967 19.7% 4.62
5,386,687 18.4% 25,707,343 19.7% 4.77
3,668,517 12.5% 18,372,941 14.0% 5.01
3,090,996 10.6% 14,350,431 11.0% 4.64
2,664,814 9.1% 11,936,787 9.1% 4.48
1,009,060 3.4% 4,889,979 3.7% 4.85
1,143,592 3.9% 6,350,339 4.9% 5.55
359,371 1.2% 2,147,342 1.6% 5.98
40,592 0.1% 194,842 0.1% 4.80
407,230 1.5% 2,928,893 2.2% 7.19
29,250,971 100% $ 130,898,135 100% $ 4.85

(1) Annualized rent is calculated by multiplying rental payments (defined as cash rents before abatements) for the month ended December 31, 2024, by 12.

(2)Calculated as annualized base rent set forth in this table divided by total annualized base rent for the Company Portfolio as of December 31, 2024.

(3)Calculated as annualized base rent for such leases divided by leased square feet for such leases at each of the properties so impacted by the lease expirations as
of December 31, 2024.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the normal course of business, we could become party to legal actions and proceedings involving matters that are generally
incidental to our business. While it will likely not be possible to ascertain the ultimate outcome of such matters, management expects
that the resolution of any such legal actions and proceedings would not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
statements.

There are no legal proceedings at this time.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

As of February 27, 2025, we had 45,550,898 shares of common stock outstanding held of record by a total of approximately
133 stockholders; however, because many shares of our common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of
stockholders, we believe there are substantially more beneficial holders of our common stock than record holders. The number of
stockholders is based on the records of Continental Stock Transfer & Trust, which serves as our transfer agent.

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the NYSE under the symbol “PLYM.” On December 31, 2024, the closing price of our common
stock, as reported on the NYSE, was $17.80.

Distribution Policy

It is our policy to declare quarterly dividends to the stockholders so as to comply with applicable provisions of the Code
governing REITs. The declaration and payment of quarterly dividends remains subject to the review and approval of the board of
directors. To satisfy the requirements to qualify as a REIT, we have paid and intend to continue to pay regular quarterly cash
dividends of all or substantially all of our REIT taxable income (excluding net capital gains) to holders of our common stock.

We intend to distribute at least 90% of our taxable income each year (subject to certain adjustments as described below) to our
stockholders in order to qualify as a REIT under the Code and generally expect to meet the minimum distribution requirements set
forth in the Code so as to avoid the excise tax on undistributed REIT taxable income.

Distributions to our common stockholders are authorized by our board of directors in its sole discretion and declared by us out
of funds legally available therefor. We expect that our board of directors, in authorizing the amounts of distributions, will consider
a variety of factors, including:

* actual results of operations and our cash available for distribution;

*  the timing of the investment of the net proceeds from our offerings;

*  debt service requirements and any restrictive covenants in our loan agreements;
»  capital expenditure requirements for our properties;

e our taxable income;

+  the annual distribution requirement under the REIT provisions of the Code;

e our operating expenses;

*  requirements under applicable law; and

e other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.

Our distributions may exceed our earnings and profits as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes primarily due to
depreciation and amortization. Any distributions in excess of our earnings and profits may represent a return of capital for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, subject to the extent that such distributions do not exceed the stockholder's adjusted tax basis in their
shares of common or preferred stock, but rather will reduce the adjusted basis of the shares of common or preferred stock. Therefore,
the gain (or loss) recognized on the sale of the common stock or preferred stock or upon our liquidation will be increased (or
decreased) accordingly. To the extent those distributions exceed a taxable U.S. stockholder's adjusted tax basis in their shares of
common or preferred stock, they generally will be treated as a capital gain realized from the taxable disposition of those shares. The
percentage of our stockholder distributions that exceeds our earnings and profits may vary substantially from year to year.

Although we have no current intention to do so, we may in the future also choose to pay distributions in the form of our own
shares.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Performance Graph

The following graph provides a comparison of the cumulative total return on our common stock with the cumulative total return
on the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index and the MSCI US REIT Index. The MSCI US REIT Index represents performance of publicly-
traded REITs. Returns over the indicated period are based on historical data and should not be considered indicative of future
returns. The graph covers the period from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2024 and assumes that $100 was invested in our
common stock and in each index on December 31, 2019 and that all dividends were reinvested.

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by
reference into any filing by us under the Securities Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.

ITEM 6. [Reserved]

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis is based on, and should be read in conjunction with our audited historical financial
statements and related notes thereto as of and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Overview

We are a full service, vertically integrated, self-administered and self-managed REIT focused on the acquisition, ownership
and management of single and multi-tenant industrial properties, including distribution centers, warehouses, light industrial and
small bay industrial properties. The Company Portfolio consists of 129 industrial properties located in eleven states with an
aggregate of approximately 29.3 million rentable square feet leased to 443 different tenants. We also own a 35% equity interest in,
and provide asset management services to, a joint venture through a wholly owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership.

Investment Strategy

Our strategy is to acquire, own and manage single and multi-tenant industrial properties located in Primary Markets and
Secondary Markets, as well as select sub-markets, with access to large pools of skilled labor in the main industrial, distribution and
logistics corridors of the United States. We seek to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns for our stockholders through a
combination of dividends and capital appreciation.
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Factors That May Influence Future Results of Operations
Business and Strategy

Our core investment strategy is to acquire industrial properties located in Primary Markets and Secondary Markets across the
U.S., as well as select sub-markets across the U.S. We expect to acquire these properties through third-party purchases and structured
sale-leasebacks where we believe we can achieve attractive initial yields and strong ongoing cash-on-cash returns.

Our target markets are located in Primary Markets and Secondary Markets, as well as select sub-markets, because we believe
these markets tend to have less occupancy and rental rate volatility and less buyer competition relative to Gateway Markets. We
also believe that the systematic aggregation of such properties will result in a diversified portfolio that will produce sustainable risk-
adjusted returns. Future results of operations may be affected, either positively or negatively, by our ability to effectively execute
this strategy.

We also intend to continue pursuing joint venture arrangements with institutional partners which could provide management
fee income, residual profit-sharing income and the ability to purchase properties out of the joint venture over time. Such joint
ventures may involve investing in industrial assets that would be characterized as opportunistic or value-add investments. These
may involve development or redevelopment strategies that may require significant up-front capital expenditures, lengthy lease-up
periods and result in inconsistent cash flows. As such, these properties’ risk profiles and return metrics would likely differ from the
non-joint venture properties that we target for acquisition.

Rental Revenue

We receive income primarily from rental revenue from our properties. The amount of rental revenue generated by the Company
Portfolio depends principally on the occupancy levels and lease rates at our properties, our ability to lease currently available space
and space that becomes available as a result of lease expirations and on the rental rates at our properties. The Company Portfolio
was approximately 92.3% and 98.1% occupied as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively. Our occupancy rate is impacted
by general market conditions in the geographic areas which our properties are located and the financial condition of tenants in our
target markets.

Scheduled Lease Expirations & Leasing Activity

Our ability to re-lease space subject to expiring leases will impact our results of operations and will be affected by economic
and competitive conditions in the markets in which we operate and by the desirability of our individual properties. During the period
from January 1, 2025, to December 31, 2026, an aggregate of 33.7% of the annualized base rent leases in the Company Portfolio
are scheduled to expire, which we believe will provide us an opportunity to increase certain rents under below market leases to
then-current rental rates.

The table below reflects certain data about our new and renewed leases with terms of greater than six months executed in the
year ended December 31, 2024.

% of Total Tenant Lease
Square Square Expiring New % Improvements Commissions
Year Ended December 31, 2024 Footage Footage Rent Rent Change $/SF/YR $/SF/YR
Renewals ........coeeeiiiiiiiiieae 4,180,593 71.7% § 402 $ 4.54 129% $ 0.15 3 0.13
New Leases......coceverienirieninienineeicnnee 1,646,543 283% § 425 § 5.45 282% $ 0.51 $ 0.29
Total/weighted average............cocveeevene... 5,827,136 100% $ 4.09 $ 4.79 171% $ 025 § 0.17

Conditions in Our Markets

The Company Portfolio is located in various Primary Markets and Secondary Markets within the main industrial distribution
and logistics corridors of the United States. Positive or negative changes in economic or other conditions, adverse weather conditions
and natural disasters in these markets are likely to affect our overall performance.

Property Expenses

Our rental expenses generally consist of utilities, real estate taxes, insurance and repair and maintenance costs. For the majority
of the Company Portfolio, property expenses are controlled, in part, by either the triple net provisions or modified gross lease
expense reimbursement provisions in tenant leases. However, the terms of our tenant leases vary and in some instances the leases
may provide that we are responsible for certain property expenses. Accordingly, our overall financial results will be impacted by
the extent to which we are able to pass-through property expenses to our tenants.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“GAAP”) requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reported period. Certain estimates, judgments and assumptions are inherently subjective and
based on the existing business and market conditions and are therefore continually evaluated based upon available information and
experience. The following item requires significant estimation or judgement.
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Purchase Price Accounting

We have determined that judgments regarding the allocation of the purchase price of acquired real estate properties based upon
the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be a critical accounting estimate. As discussed below in the section
titled “Critical Accounting Policies,” we allocate the purchase price of acquired real estate properties based upon the fair value of
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, which generally consist of land, buildings, tenant improvements, mortgage debt assumed,
if applicable, and deferred leasing intangibles, which includes in-place leases, above market and below market leases, and tenant
relationships, and is therefore subject to subjective analysis and uncertainty. The purchase price is allocated to the fair value of the
tangible assets of an acquired property by valuing the property as if it were vacant. The determination of fair value includes the use
of significant assumptions such as rental rates, land value, discount rates, and exit capitalization rates. Acquired above and below
market lease intangibles are valued based on the present value of the difference between prevailing market rental rates and the in-
place rental rates measured over a period equal to the remaining term of the lease for above market leases or the remaining term of
the lease plus the term of any below market fixed rate renewal options for below market leases. The purchase price is further
allocated to in-place lease values based on an estimate of the lease revenue received during a reasonable lease-up period as if the
property was vacant on the date of acquisition. The allocation of the purchase price to mortgage debt assumed, if applicable, is
determined by comparing the net present value of remaining debt payments at the stated rate per the mortgage agreement to the net
present value of the remaining debt payments using the prevailing market borrowing rates. We do not believe that the conclusions
we reached regarding the allocation of the purchase price of acquired real estate properties, in the current economic and operating
environment, would result in a materially different conclusion within any reasonable range of assumptions that could have been
applied.

Fair Market Value of Warrants

The warrants issued by the Operating Partnership are not traded in an active market and the fair market value is determined
using a Monte Carlo valuation model. Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair market value of warrants
requires considerable judgment and use of estimates. The determination of fair market value includes the use of significant
assumptions, such as volatility and expected dividend yield. Changes in these estimates would cause the value to be higher or lower
than that reported in the consolidated balance sheet each reporting period. Changes in the fair market value of the warrant liability
is recorded in the consolidated statement of operations each reporting period.

Fair Market Value of the Forward Contract Asset

The forward contract asset represents the fair market value of the Company’s Operating Partnership’s obligation to sell
additional Series C Preferred Units. The forward contract’s fair market value is determined using a Black-Derman-Toy valuation
model. Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair market value of the forward contract requires
considerable judgement and use of estimates. The determination of fair market value includes the use of significant assumptions,
such as volatility and estimated credit spread. Changes in these estimates would cause the value to be higher or lower than that
reported in the consolidated balance sheet each reporting period the instrument remains outstanding. Changes in the fair market
value of the forward contract is recorded in the consolidated statement of operations each reporting period the instrument remains
outstanding.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the carrying values of our respective long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of these assets may not be fully recoverable. Long-lived assets are primarily
comprised of real estate properties.

On a quarterly basis, management assesses whether there are any indicators, including changes in the anticipated holding
period, general market conditions, and property operating performance, that may indicate an impairment exists. Recoverability of
real estate properties is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of the property to the estimated future undiscounted cash
flows to be generated from the use and eventual disposition of that property. If our analysis indicates that the carrying value of the
real estate property is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, we recognize an impairment charge for the amount by
which the carrying value exceeds the current estimated fair value of the real estate property. Fair value is determined through various
valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow models, applying a capitalization rate to estimated net operating income of a
property and quoted market values and third-party appraisals, where considered necessary. The Company determined there was no
impairment of value of real estate properties as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Impairment of Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

We account for our investment in unconsolidated joint ventures under the equity method. Under the equity method of
accounting, we initially recognize our investment at cost and subsequently adjust the carrying amount of the investment for our
share of the earnings or losses, distributions received, and other-than-temporary impairments.

Our unconsolidated joint ventures are evaluated for impairment when conditions exist that may indicate that the decrease in
the carrying amount of our investment has occurred and is other than temporary. Triggering events or impairment indicators for our
unconsolidated joint ventures include, recurring operating losses of an investee, absence of an ability to recover the carrying amount
of the investee, the ability of an investee to sustain an earnings capacity, a carrying amount that exceeds the fair value of the
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investment and that decline in fair value is other-than-temporary. Upon determination that an other-than-temporary impairment has
occurred, a write-down is recognized to reduce the carrying amount of investment to its estimated fair value. Fair value estimates
are made as of a specific point in time, are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, no other-than-temporary impairment related to our unconsolidated joint
ventures were identified.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our company’s historical financial condition and results of operations are based upon its
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial
statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions in certain circumstances that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenue and expenses
in the reporting period. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates and assumptions.

We believe our most critical accounting policies are the regular evaluation of whether the value of a real estate asset and
unconsolidated joint ventures has been impaired, accounting for acquisitions and the fair market value of warrants and forward
contract assets. Each of these items involves estimates that require management to make judgments that are subjective in nature.
We collect historical data and current market data, and based on our experience we analyze these assumptions in order to arrive at
what we believe to be reasonable estimates. Under different conditions or assumptions, materially different amounts could be
reported related to the accounting policies described below. In addition, application of these accounting policies involves the
exercise of judgments on the use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could materially differ from
these estimates.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Management makes significant estimates regarding the allocation of tangible and intangible assets and liabilities for real estate
acquisitions, impairments of long-lived assets and unconsolidated joint ventures, stock-based compensation, preferred unit forward
contract asset and its warrant liability. These estimates and assumptions are based on management’s best estimates and judgment.
Management evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors, including
the then-current economic environment. Management adjusts such estimates when facts and circumstances dictate. As future events
and their effects cannot be determined with precision, actual results could differ materially from those estimates and assumptions.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We record all derivatives on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair
value of derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative, whether we have elected to designate a derivative in a hedging
relationship and apply hedge accounting, and whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge
accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or
firm commitment attributable to a particular risk, such as interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges. Derivatives designated
and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are
considered cash flow hedges. Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss recognition on the
hedging instrument with the recognition of the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the
hedged risk in a fair value hedge or the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge. We may enter
into derivative contracts that are intended to economically hedge certain of its risks, even though hedge accounting does not apply,
or we elect not to apply hedge accounting.

In accordance with fair value measurement guidance, we made an accounting policy election to measure the credit risk of our
derivative financial instruments that are subject to master netting arrangements on a net basis by the counterparty portfolio. Credit
risk is the risk of failure of the counterparty to perform under the terms of the contract. We minimize the credit risk in our derivative
financial instruments by entering into transactions with various high-quality counterparties. Our exposure to credit risk at any point
is generally limited to amounts recorded as assets or liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Forward Contract

The Company accounts for its Operating Partnership’s forward contract to issue redeemable preferred units as a financial
instrument as it represents a forward sale on redeemable equity. A forward contract on redeemable equity is classified as a liability
or asset because it creates an obligation of the Company’s Operating Partnership to repurchase its own equity and settle in cash.
Asset or liability-classified financial instruments are measured at fair market value at issuance and at the end of each reporting
period. Any change in the fair market value of the financial instrument is recorded in the consolidated financial statements through
earnings.
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Real Estate Property Acquisitions

The Company accounts for its real estate property acquisitions in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805. The Company has concluded that the acquisition of real estate
properties will be accounted for as an asset acquisition as opposed to a business combination. The significant difference between
the two accounting models is that within an acquisition of assets, acquisition costs are capitalized as a cost of the assets, whereas in
a business combination acquisition costs are expensed and not included as part of the consideration transferred.

The accounting for real estate property acquisitions requires estimates and judgment as to expectations for future cash flows of
the acquired property, the allocation of those cash flows to identifiable intangible assets and liabilities, and in determining the
estimated fair value for assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The amounts allocated to lease intangibles (leases in place, leasing
commissions, tenant relationships, and above and below market leases) are based on management’s estimates and assumptions, as
well as other information compiled by management, including independent third party analysis and market data, and are generally
amortized over the remaining life of the related leases excluding renewal options, except in the case of below market fixed rate rent
amounts, which are amortized over the applicable renewal period. Such inputs are Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. The process
for determining the allocation to these components requires management to make estimates and assumptions, including rental rates,
land value, discount rates, and exit capitalization rates.

Revenue Recognition

Minimum rental revenue from real estate operations is recognized on a straight-line basis. The straight-line rent calculation on
leases includes the effects of rent concessions and scheduled rent increases, and the calculated straight-line rent income is recognized
over the term of the individual leases. In accordance with ASC 842, we assess the collectability of lease receivables (including
future minimum rental payments) both at commencement and throughout the lease term. If our assessment of collectability changes
during the lease term, any difference between the revenue that would have been received under the straight-line method and the
lease payments that have been collected will be recognized as a current period adjustment to rental revenue. Rental revenue
associated with leases where collectability has been deemed less than probable is recognized on a cash basis in accordance with
ASC 842.

Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest — Preferred Units

The Company applies the guidance enumerated in ASC 480, when determining the classification and measurement of its
Operating Partnership’s preferred units. Preferred units subject to mandatory redemption, if any, is classified as a liability and is
measured at fair value. The Company classifies conditionally redeemable preferred units, which includes preferred units that feature
redemption rights that are either within the control of the holder or subject to redemption upon the occurrence of uncertain events
not solely within the Company’s control, as mezzanine equity. The Company subsequently measures mezzanine equity based on
whether the instrument is currently redeemable or whether or not it is probable the instrument will become redeemable. Upon
determination that the instrument is probable of redemption, the Company will adjust the carrying value to the redemption value. If
redemption is not probable, the Company will not adjust the carrying value of the instrument recorded as mezzanine equity other
than to reflect dividends accrued and not yet paid, but which will be payable under the redemption feature.

Warrants

The Company accounts for its Operating Partnership’s warrants as either derivative liabilities or as equity instruments
depending on the specific terms of the warrant agreement. Warrants that are not considered indexed to the Company’s own stock
are required to be accounted for as a liability. Liability-classified financial instruments are measured at fair market value on the
issuance date and at the end of each reporting period. Any change in the fair market value of the financial instrument after the
issuance date is recorded in the consolidated financial statements through earnings.

Results of Operations (dollars in thousands)

Our consolidated results of operations are often not comparable from period to period due to the effect of property acquisitions
and dispositions completed during the comparative reporting periods. Our total portfolio represents all of the properties owned
during the reported periods. To eliminate the effect of changes in our total portfolio due to acquisitions, dispositions and other and
to highlight the operating results of our on-going business, we have separately presented the results of our Same Store Portfolio and
Acquisitions, Dispositions and Other.

For the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, we define the Same Store Portfolio as a subset of our total portfolio and
includes properties that were wholly owned by us for the entire period presented. We define Acquisitions, Dispositions and Other
as any properties that were acquired, sold, placed into service or held for development or repositioning during the period from
January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2024.

The discussion of our Same Store Portfolio and our total portfolio for the comparison of the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022 that are not included in this Form 10-K can be found in “Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, which was filed
with the SEC on February 22, 2024.
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Year Ended December 31, 2024, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023

The following table summarizes the results of operations for our Same Store Portfolio, our Acquisitions, Dispositions and Other
and total portfolio for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Same Store Portfolio Acquisitions, Dispositions and Other Total Portfolio
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, Change December 31, Change December 31, Change
2024 2023 $ % 2024 2023 $ % 2024 2023 $ %
Revenue:
Rental revenue.................. $150,417 $147,635 $ 2,782 1.9% $47,146 $ 52,125 $ (4979) (9.6%) $197,563 $199,760 $ (2,197) (1.1%)
Management fee revenue and
other inCOMe .......oveeeeennenn — — — — 792 88 704 800.0% 792 88 704 800.0%
Total revenues.................. 150,417 147,635 2,782 1.9% 47,938 52,213 (4,275)  (8.2%) 198,355 199,848 (1,493)  (0.7%)
Property expenses.............. 45,156 42,527 2,629 6.2% 16,562 20,015 (3,453)  (17.3%) 61,718 62,542 (824)  (1.3%)
Depreciation and amortization........ 85,729 92,891 (7,162) (7.7%)
General and administrative ..... 14,764 14,904 (140) (0.9%)
Total Operating eXPEnSes ............euueeeuueeerueeeeuneeniieeenaeennnns 162,211 170,337 (8,126) (4.8%)
Other income (expense):
TNEEIESt EXPEISE vvvueeeririiiieeeeeeriiiieeeeeettbieeeeeetaiaeeeeeennaaaes (37,412) (38,278) 866 (2.3%)
Loss in investment of unconsolidated joint ventures (5,145) (5,145) 100.0%
Loss on extinguishment of debt ...........ccoevuueeeeee. (269) (72) (197) 273.6%
Gain on sale of real estate.............. 145,396 22,646 122,750  542.0%
Gain on financing transaction.. 6,660 6,660  100.0%
Loss on interest rate SWap..........eeevuneens. (481) (481) 100.0%
Unrealized loss from interest rate swap.... (39) — (39) 100.0%
Total other income (expense) ........... 108,710 (15,704) 124,414 792.2%
Income tax provision .........eeeeveneeennns (2,487) (2,487) 100.0%
Net inCOME (10SS) uueererruuiieeeeiiiiiiie e et eeeiieeeeeeerii e e e eeniiaeeeeees $142,367 $ 13,807 $128,560 931.1%

Rental revenue: Rental revenue decreased $2,197 to $197,563 for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $199,760
for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease was primarily related to a net decrease in rental revenue from Acquisitions,
Dispositions and Other of $4,979, offset by an increase of $2,782 from Same Store Portfolio primarily from an increase in rent
income of $3,242 due to leasing activities, an increase of $2,946 in tenant recoveries, partially offset by a decrease in non-cash rent
adjustments of $3,406 for the year ended December 31, 2024,

Property expenses: Property expenses decreased $824 for the year ended December 31, 2024 to $61,718 as compared to
$62,542 for the year ended December 31, 2023 primarily due to a net decrease in expenses related to Acquisitions, Dispositions
and Other of $3,453 and an increase of $2,629 from the Same Store Portfolio driven primarily by an increase in operating expenses
and utilities of $3,071, partially offset by a decrease in real estate taxes of $442.

Depreciation and amortization: Depreciation and amortization expense decreased by $7,162 to $85,729 for the year ended
December 31, 2024, as compared to $92,891 for the year ended December 31, 2023, due to net decreases from Acquisitions,
Dispositions and Other of $3,719 primarily due to the real estate properties contributed to the Joint Venture no longer being
depreciated and amortized as of August 26, 2024, and net decreases from the Same Store Portfolio of $3,443 related to the full
depreciation and amortization of certain assets during the year ended December 31, 2024.

General and administrative: General and administrative expenses decreased approximately $140 to $14,764 for the year ended
December 31, 2024 as compared to $14,904 for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease is attributable primarily to
decreased compensation and professional expenses of $1,141, a decrease in acquisition expenses of $85, partially offset by an
increase in non-cash stock compensation of $1,130.

Interest expense: Interest expense decreased by approximately $866 to $37,412 for the year ended December 31, 2024, as
compared to $38,278 for the year ended December 31, 2023. The schedule below is a comparative analysis of the components of
interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

(In thousands) Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Changes 1N aCCIUEA INTETESE .....evievieiieiieitieitieie e eeeeee et e steebeesseessestaesseesseessesssesseeseensesseennas $ (1,648) $ 984
Amortization of debt related COSS .....oommiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt 1,909 2,184
Total change in accrued interest and amortization of debt related costs 261 3,168
Cash INLEIESt PAIA......ccvieiieiieiieiieieete ettt ettt ettt e e e et e et e ste e beebeensessaessnesseeseenns 37,545 36,212
CaPItaliIZEA INLETESE .....veeieeeieiieii ettt ettt et et et e et e esee st e ebeenseenaesneesseenseensesneenns (394) (1,102)
TOtAl INTETESE EXPEIISE ..evvievveeeieeiieiieiteeteetesete st esseeeeeseeesteesseesseesseessesssesseesseesseensesnsesssesseenseenns $ 37412 $ 38,278

Loss in investment of unconsolidated joint ventures: Loss in investment of unconsolidated joint ventures in the amount of
$5,145 represents our share of loss related to our investment in unconsolidated joint ventures. There was no loss in investment of
unconsolidated joint ventures for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Loss on extinguishment of debt: Loss on extinguishment of debt of $269 for the year ended December 31, 2024 was due to the
write off of deferred financing costs related to the modification of debt for the unsecured debt and borrowings under line of credit.
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Loss on extinguishment of debt of $72 for the year ended December 31, 2023 was due to the partial repayment of the Transamerica
Loan.

Gain on sale of real estate: Gain on sale of real estate for years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 of $145,396 and $22,646,
respectively, represents the following:

For the year ended December 31, 2024:
e  The contribution of the 34 properties within the Chicago market, recognizing a net gain of $136,751.

e Gain recognized upon a tenant’s notice to exercise its purchase option and the reclassification of the property to
net investment in sales-type lease, recognizing a net gain of $7,796.

e The sale of a single, 221,911 square foot property located in Kansas City, MO, recognizing a net gain of $849.
For the year ended December 31, 2023:

e The Company sold a single, 306,000 square foot property located in Chicago, IL, and a single, 157,000 square
foot property in Marlton, NJ, recognizing a net gain of $22,646.

Gain on financing transaction: Gain on financing transaction for the year ended December 31, 2024 of $6,660 is related to
$43,948 of net gain related to adjustments to the fair market value of warrants, offset by the initial loss of $18,746 and corresponding
issuance costs of $12,000 realized upon the issuance of the Series C Preferred Units and $6,542 of net loss related to fair market
value adjustments of forward contract. There was no gain on financing transactions for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Loss on interest rate swap: Loss on interest rate swap of $481 is related to the amount of realized loss on interest rate swaps
reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into earnings for the year ended December 31, 2024. There was
no loss on interest rate swap for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Unrealized loss from interest rate swap: Loss on interest rate swap of $39 is related to the mark-to-market adjustment of the
de-designated interest rate swaps for the year ended December 31, 2024. There was no unrealized loss from interest rate swap for
the year ended December 31, 2023.

Supplemental Earnings Measures

Investors in and industry analysts following the real estate industry utilize supplemental earnings measures such as net operating
income (“NOI”), earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization for real estate (“EBITDAre”), funds from operations
(“FFO”), core funds from operations (“Core FFO”) and adjusted funds from operations (“AFFO”) as supplemental operating
performance measures of an equity REIT. Historical cost accounting for real estate assets in accordance with GAAP implicitly
assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time through depreciation. Since real estate values instead
have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, many industry analysts and investors prefer to supplement operating results
that use historical cost accounting with measures such as NOI, EBITDAre, FFO, Core FFO and AFFO, among others. We provide
information related to NOI, EBITDAre, FFO, Core FFO and AFFO both because such industry analysts are interested in such
information, and because our management believes NOI, EBITDAre, FFO, Core FFO and AFFO are important performance
measures. NOI, EBITDAre, FFO, Core FFO and AFFO are factors used by management in measuring our performance. Neither
NOI, EBITDAre, FFO, Core FFO or AFFO should be considered as a substitute for net income, or any other measures derived in
accordance with GAAP. Neither NOI, EBITDAre, FFO, Core FFO or AFFO represents cash generated from operating activities in
accordance with GAAP and neither should be considered as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities as a measure of
our liquidity, nor is either indicative of funds available for our cash needs, including our ability to make cash distributions.

NOI

We consider net operating income to be an appropriate supplemental measure to net income in that it helps both investors and
management understand the core operations of our properties. We define NOI as total revenue (including rental revenue and tenant
recoveries) less property-level operating expenses. NOI excludes depreciation and amortization, income tax provision, general and
administrative expenses, impairments, loss in investment of unconsolidated joint ventures, gain on sale of real estate, interest
expense, gain on financing transaction, loss on interest rate swap, unrealized loss from interest rate swap, appreciation (depreciation)
of warrants and other non-operating items.
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The following is a reconciliation from historical reported net income (loss), the most directly comparable financial measure
calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, to NOI:

(In thousands) Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
NOI:
Net iNCOME (10SS) ..vvvivivieietiiiieiete ettt ettt ettt eveeneaea $ 142,367  $ 13,807 § (17,096)
INCOME tAX PIOVISION ...eovvieeiieiietieiieeieeiieeee st ere e seesreesaeesseesseesaesseeseensens 2,487 — —
General and admMINISITATIVE ...........cc.eeeieiuiieeeeee e 14,764 14,904 15,939
Depreciation and amortiZation............eccveeeerueeriesierieneenieeeeeeeseeeeeveeenens 85,729 92,891 95,312
INEETEST EXPEIISE ..ottt ettt ettt et e e s 37,412 38,278 32,217
Loss in investment of unconsolidated joint ventures.............ccceevvveeeveeennenn. 5,145 — 147
Loss on extinguishment of debt..........cccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee 269 72 2,176
Gain on sale 0f 1eal €StAte .....c..ecviiiuieiieiicieceee e (145,396) (22,646) —
Gain on financing tranSaCtioN .........c.eeeeveeriieeeiieerieerieereeeieeereeeeeesaeeeaee s (6,660) — —
L0SS ON INETESE TALE SWAP ..eeevvreeerieiiieeiieesieenteeesieeenteeeteeeseeereesseesnseesnneens 481 — —
Unrealized 1oss from interest rate SWap .......ccocveevveervereerieenieeieeieseesieenens 39 — —
Appreciation (depreciation) of Warrants ..........cceeeeeevereereerreenreecneeeeseennens — — (1,760)
Management fee revenue and other inCOME ...........ccceevveeverienreecienieeiennen. (792) (88) (94)
INOIL ..ttt sttt $ 135,845  $ 137,218  $ 126,841
EBITDAre

We define earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization for real estate in accordance with the standards
established by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”). EBITDAre represents net income (loss),
computed in accordance with GAAP, before interest expense, income tax provision, depreciation and amortization, gain on sale of
real estate, appreciation (depreciation) of warrants, impairments, gain on financing transaction, loss on interest rate swap, unrealized
loss from interest rate swap and loss on extinguishment of debt. Our proportionate share of EBITDAre for unconsolidated joint
ventures is calculated to reflect EBITDAre on the same basis. We believe that EBITDAre is helpful to investors as a supplemental
measure of our operating performance as a real estate company as it is a direct measure of the actual operating results of our
industrial properties. The following table sets forth a reconciliation of our historical net income (loss) to EBITDAre for the periods
presented:

(In thousands) Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
EBITDAre:
Net iNCOME (10SS) ..vvvivieriieeiiiieieti ettt ettt ettt ettt et eneaeas $ 142,367  $ 13,807 § (17,096)
INCOME tAX PrOVISION ...eovvieeiieeietieiieieeieesiee st e e eeesee st e seeente e e eeeeseeneeeneens 2,487 — —
Depreciation and amortiZation............ceeveeeereerieeriesiesiesieeeeie e eeeeseeneees 85,729 92,891 95,312
TNLETEST EXPEIISE ..ottt ettt ettt ettt sttt st e st e st eaee s 37,412 38,278 32,217
Loss on extinguishment of debt..........cccoooviieiiiiiiieiiieeee e 269 72 2,176
Gain on sale 0f 1eal €StALE .......eeeuiieiieciiecie e (145,396) (22,646) —
Gain on financing tranSACtION .........eevueeveiieriereeie e (6,660) — —
L0SS ON INLETESE TALE SWAP ..eevvvreeeiieeiiieeiieesieentteesieeesseeeteeeaeesreesseesseesneens 481 — —
Proportionate share of EBITDAre from unconsolidated joint ventures...... 6,309 — —
Unrealized loss from interest rate SWap ......c.ceccveereeerieniieeniieesieeeveesveenes 39 — —
Appreciation (depreciation) of WaIrants ..........cc.eeeeeeeeeereerreenreecneevesnennens — — (1,760)
EBITDAFC. ..ottt $ 123,037  $ 122,402 $ 110,849
FFO and Core FFO

Funds from operations, or FFO, is a non-GAAP financial measure that is widely recognized as a measure of a REIT’s operating
performance, thereby, providing investors the potential to compare our operating performance with that of other REITs. We consider
FFO to be an appropriate supplemental measure of our operating performance as it is based on a net income analysis of property
portfolio performance that excludes non-cash items such as depreciation. The historical accounting convention used for real estate
assets requires straight-line depreciation of buildings and improvements, which implies that the value of real estate assets diminishes
predictably over time. Since real estate values rise and fall with market conditions, presentations of operating results for a REIT,
using historical accounting for depreciation, could be less informative. In December 2018, NAREIT issued a white paper restating
the definition of FFO. The purpose of the restatement was not to change the fundamental definition of FFO, but to clarify existing
NAREIT guidance. The restated definition of FFO is as follows: Net Income (Loss) (calculated in accordance with GAAP),
excluding: (i) Depreciation and amortization related to real estate, (ii) Gains and losses from the sale of certain real estate assets,
(iii) Gain and losses from change in control, and (iv) Impairment write-downs of certain real estate assets and investments in entities
when the impairment is directly attributable to decreases in the value of depreciable real estate held by the entity. We define FFO,
consistent with the NAREIT definition. Adjustments for unconsolidated joint ventures will be calculated to reflect FFO on the same
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basis. Other equity REITs may not calculate FFO as we do, and, accordingly, our FFO may not be comparable to such other REITS’
FFO. FFO should not be used as a measure of our liquidity and is not indicative of funds available for our cash needs, including our
ability to pay dividends.

We calculate Core FFO by adjusting FFO for items such as dividends paid or accrued to holders of our preferred stock and
redeemable non-controlling interest, acquisition and transaction related expenses for transactions not completed, gain on financing
transaction, income tax provision, and certain non-cash operating expenses such as unrealized loss from interest rate swap, loss on
interest rate swap, appreciation (depreciation) of warrants and loss on extinguishment of debt. We believe that Core FFO is a useful
supplemental measure in addition to FFO by adjusting for items that are not considered by us to be part of the period-over-period
operating performance of our property portfolio, thereby, providing a more meaningful and consistent comparison of our operating
and financial performance during the periods presented below. As with FFO, our reported Core FFO may not be comparable to
other REITs’ Core FFO, should not be used as a measure of our liquidity, and is not indicative of funds available for our cash needs,
including our ability to pay dividends.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of our historical net income (loss) to FFO and Core FFO for the periods presented:

(In thousands) Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
FFO:
Net iNCOME (10SS) ...vivviviiriieeieiiieteeteet ettt ettt $ 142,367  $ 13,807 § (17,096)
Gain on sale 0f real eState .......ccvevvieiieiieieieeeeeeee e (145,396) (22,646) —
Depreciation and amortiZation ............c.eeverveerieeieniesieseeneee e seeseeeneeens 85,729 92,891 95,312
Proportionate share of FFO from unconsolidated joint ventures ................ 5,826 — 268
FFO oottt $ 88,526 § 84,052 $ 78,484
Preferred stock dividends...........ccuveveeiiiiiiieniieiecieeeee e — (2,509) (4,866)
Redeemable non-controlling — Series C Preferred Unit dividends (1,503) — —
INCOME tAX PrOVISION. .. ..eiiuiiiieeieiieiieeiiestt et et eete ettt e e eae e sneesaeenseeneeenes 2,487 — —
Loss on extinguishment of debt ..........cccvevieiiieiiiieiieieee e, 269 72 2,176
Gain on financing tranSaACtION .........cueeeeruierieiiieieeie et (6,660) — —
L 0SS ON INEETESt TATE SWAD -.e.vveneieneienieeiietieteeiteeeeeeieesieeteeee e eneesneeeeeeneeenes 481 — —
Unrealized loss from interest rate SWap ........coooveeeverieereereenieeneeieeieeeeneens 39 — —
ACQUISTLION EXPEISES .oevvrerurieerreeeireenieesreenreenreesseessseesreessseessaeessseesseeenses — 85 201
Appreciation (depreciation) of Warrants ..........c.ceeceervveervieerveenieeneeenneennns — — (1,760)
COre FFO ..o $ 83,639 $ 81,700  $ 74,235
AFFO

Adjusted funds from operations, or AFFO, is presented in addition to Core FFO. AFFO is defined as Core FFO, excluding
certain non-cash operating revenues and expenses, capitalized interest and recurring capitalized expenditures. Recurring capitalized
expenditures include expenditures required to maintain and re-tenant our properties, tenant improvements and leasing commissions.
AFFO further adjusts Core FFO for certain other non-cash items, including the amortization or accretion of above or below market
rents included in revenues, straight line rent adjustments, non-cash equity compensation, non-cash interest expense and adjustments
for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. Our proportionate share of AFFO for unconsolidated joint ventures is calculated
to reflect AFFO on the same basis.

We believe AFFO provides a useful supplemental measure of our operating performance because it provides a consistent
comparison of our operating performance across time periods that is comparable for each type of real estate investment and is
consistent with management’s analysis of the operating performance of our properties. As a result, we believe that the use of AFFO,
together with the required GAAP presentations, provide a more complete understanding of our operating performance.

As with Core FFO, our reported AFFO may not be comparable to other REITs” AFFO, should not be used as a measure of our
liquidity, and is not indicative of funds available for our cash needs, including our ability to pay dividends.
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The following table sets forth a reconciliation of FFO attributable to common stockholders and unit holders to AFFO.

(In thousands) Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
AFFO:
COTE FFO .. $ 83,639 $ 81,700  $ 74,235
Amortization of debt related COSTS ......coovviiiiiiiiiiiiieceee e 1,909 2,184 2,163
NON-Cash INtEIESt EXPEINSE ...ocvveveerrreiieiieieereeie e eeeeeee e eseesreesseeseesseennees (1,648) 984 2,248
StOCK COMPENSALION .....vveeeeeiieiieiieie ettt ee e 4,197 2,966 2,603
CapitaliZed INLETEST ......eevvereieiieiieie ettt neees (394) (1,102) (1,125)
Straight 1Ne TeNT ......eovvieiieiieiiceceeee e 761 (1,944) (3,682)
Above/below market 1€aSe TeNtS .......c.eeivieriieiiieie e (1,204) (2,221) (3,151)
Proportionate share of AFFO from unconsolidated joint ventures ............. (189) — —
Recurring capital expenditures ) ............c.oooevoviiiiiieeeeeeeeeee (7,278) (5,743) (6,793)
AFFQO ..ottt ettt $ 79,793  $ 76,824  § 66,498

(1)  Excludes non-recurring capital expenditures of $21,755, $30,366 and $60,350 for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
Cash Flow

A summary of our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

(In thousands) Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Net cash provided by operating aCtiviti€s ............covveirrerieiiieietierceeeceeeeeteeeee e $ 96,070 $ 81,872
Net cash provided by (used in) INVEStING ACHIVILIES ....vevveervieiiieieeieiiecieeie e $ 87,463 $ (79)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activitieS .........c.cvververierrererieeiieieieieieieeese e $ (166,110) § (86,802)

Operating activities: Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 increased approximately
$14,198 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in accounts payable,
accrued expenses and other liabilities for capital expenditure liabilities, partially offset by the timing of cash payments.

Investing activities: Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 increased approximately
$87,542 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 primarily due to an increase in net proceeds from the sale of real estate of
$182,277, an increase in proceeds from net investment in sales-type lease of $21,244, and decrease in capital expenditures of
$10,525, partially offset by an increase in property acquisitions completed during the year ended December 31, 2024 totaling
$122,043 as opposed to $0 during the year ended December 31, 2023 and an increase in contributions to and investments in joint
ventures of $4,461.

Financing activities: Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024, increased $79,308
compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. The change was predominantly driven by a decrease in net proceeds from the line
of credit facility of $213,300, a decrease of $50,005 in net proceeds from common stock, an increase in debt issuance costs and
dividends and distributions paid of $7,639, partially offset by an increase in net proceeds from financing transaction of $54,375,
decrease in cash used for the repurchase and redemption of Series A Preferred Stock of $48,886 and a decrease in repayment of
secured debt of $88,375.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We intend to make reserve contributions as necessary to aid our objective of preserving capital for our investors by supporting
the maintenance and viability of properties we acquire in the future. If reserves and any other available income become insufficient
to cover our operating expenses and liabilities, it may be necessary to obtain additional funds by borrowing, refinancing properties
or liquidating our investments.

Our short-term liquidity requirements consist primarily of funds to pay for operating expenses and other expenditures directly
associated with our properties, including:

e property expenses that are not borne by our tenants under our leases;

* principal and interest expense on outstanding indebtedness;

o general and administrative expenses; and

*  capital expenditures for tenant improvements and leasing commissions.

We intend to satisfy our short-term liquidity requirements through our existing cash, cash flow from operating activities and
the net proceeds of any potential future offerings.

Our long-term liquidity needs consist primarily of funds necessary to pay for acquisitions, recurring and non-recurring capital
expenditures and scheduled debt maturities. We intend to satisfy our long-term liquidity needs through cash flow from operations,
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long-term secured and unsecured borrowings, future issuances of equity and debt securities, property dispositions and joint venture
transactions, and, in connection with acquisitions of additional properties, the issuance of OP Units.

As of December 31, 2024, we had available liquidity of approximately $499.5 million, comprised of $19.5 million in cash and
cash equivalents and $480.0 million of borrowing capacity on our KeyBank unsecured line of credit. The Company anticipates it
will have sufficient liquidity and access to capital resources to meet its current obligations and to meet any scheduled debt maturities.

Variable Interest Rates (3 in thousands)

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates. Interest rate exposure relates primarily to the effect of interest
rate changes on borrowings outstanding under our KeyBank unsecured line of credit and unsecured KeyBank Term Loans, which
bear interest at a variable rate.

At December 31, 2024, we had $470,000 of outstanding variable rate debt. As of December 31, 2024, all our outstanding
variable debt was fixed with interest rate swaps through maturity, with the exception of the balance of $20,000 under the KeyBank
unsecured line of credit. The KeyBank unsecured line of credit was subject to a weighted average interest rate of 5.89% during the
year ended December 31, 2024. Based on the variable rate borrowings for our KeyBank unsecured line of credit outstanding during
the year ended December 31, 2024, we estimate that had the average interest rate on our weighted average borrowings increased by
25 basis points for the year ended December 31, 2024, our interest expense for the year would have increased by approximately
$30. This estimate assumes the interest rate of each borrowing is raised by 25 basis points. The impact on future interest expense
as a result of future changes in interest rates will depend largely on the gross amount of our borrowings at that time.

Existing Indebtedness as of December 31, 2024

The following is a schedule of our indebtedness as of December 31, 2024 ($ in thousands):

Outstanding Interest rate at
Loan Balance December 31, 2024 Maturity Date
Secured debt:
ATHANZ LOAN ... 60,085 4.07% April 10, 2026
NatioNWide LOAN.........ccoiiiiiiiii e 14,632 2.97% October 1, 2027
Lincoln Life Gateway MOItZage........c.cevveeuerienienieriieee e sieenieeeeens 28,800 3.43% January 1, 2028
Minnesota Life Memphis Industrial Loan..........ccccoceevevieiininincncnnne. 53,782 3.15% January 1, 2028
Minnesota Life LOan.........cccooooiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 19,101 3.78% May 1, 2028
Total secured deDt.............c..ocooviiiiiiieieeceeceeeeee e $ 176,400
Unamortized debt iSSUance Costs, NEt ........cccvveeveeeriieriieeriieeieerveesee s (408)
Unamortized premium/(discount), N€t...........cceevveeeeveenreeieeieeeesieenns (12)
Secured debt, NEt..........c..ccooviiiiiiiiei et $ 175,980
Unsecured debt:
$200m KeyBank Term LOan...........c.cooveveveuieeeueeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeennns 200,000 3.03% D@ February 11,2027
$150m KeyBank Term LOan...........ccoeveveveuieicieeeeieeeeeeeeeeensennans 150,000 4.40% 1@ May 2, 2027
$100m KeyBank Term LOan...........c.coveveverieiereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeveennns 100,000 3.00%M@ November 6, 2028
Total unsecured deDt ...............ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiceceeceeeeee e $ 450,000
Unamortized debt iSSUance Costs, NEt ........cccvveevueerviercieeriieeieerieeseeenns (2,259)
Unsecured debt, et .................ccoooiiiiiiiiiiieieceeceeeeeeee e $ 447,741
Borrowings under line of credit:
KeyBank unsecured line of credit...........ocooveveeveeerieeecieeeeeeeeeee 20,000 5.89%M November 6, 2028
Total borrowings under line of credit ....................ccoocooiiiiiiiiniennn, $ 20,000

(1) For the month of December 2024, the one-month term SOFR for our unsecured debt was at a weighted average of 4.520% and the one-month term SOFR for
our borrowings under line of credit was at a weighted average of 4.338%. The spread over the applicable rate for the $100m, $150m, and $200m KeyBank
Term Loans and KeyBank unsecured line of credit is based on the Company’s total leverage ratio plus the 0.1% SOFR index adjustment.

(2) AsofDecember 31,2024, the one-month term SOFR for the $100m, $150m and $200m KeyBank Term Loans was swapped to a fixed rate of 1.504%, 2.904%,
1.527% respectively.

2024 Debt Activity

On November 13, 2024, the Company repaid in full, the outstanding principal balance of approximately $10,470 on the Midland
National Life Insurance Mortgage. The Company also executed an assignment of the Transamerica Loan which had a remaining
principal balance of approximately $56,684.

On November 6, 2024, the Company entered into a $600 million amended and restated unsecured credit facility, comprised of
(1) a revolving credit facility that expands from $350 million to $500 million, maturing in November 2028 and has one, one-year
extension option, subject to certain conditions; and (2) a $100 million term loan that matures in November 2028 and has one, one-
year extension option, subject to certain conditions. The $100 million term loan replaces the current $100m KeyBank Term Loan
set to mature August 11, 2026. The amended and restated unsecured credit facility includes an accordion feature enabling the
Company to increase the total borrowing capacity under the credit facility and term loans up to an aggregate of $1.5 billion, subject
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to certain conditions. Borrowings under the credit agreement, as amended, bear interest at either (1) the base rate (determined as
the highest of (a) KeyBank’s prime rate, (b) the Federal Funds rate plus 0.50% and (c) the Adjusted Term SOFR for a one month
tenor plus 1.0%) or (2) SOFR, plus, in either case, a spread (A) between 35 and 90 basis points for revolver base rate loans or
between 135 and 190 basis points for revolver SOFR rate loans and (B) between 30 and 85 basis points for term base rate loans or
between 130 and 185 basis points for term SOFR rate loans, with the amount of the spread depending on the Company’s total
leverage ratio.

On August 1, 2024, the Company repaid in full, the outstanding principal and interest balance of approximately $18,087 on the
Ohio National Life Mortgage using proceeds from the KeyBank unsecured line of credit.

Stock Issuances ($ in thousands)
Universal Shelf S-3 Registration Statement

On February 27, 2024, the Company and Operating Partnership filed an automatic shelf registration statement on Form S-3
(“2024 $750 Million S-3 Filing”) with the SEC registering an aggregate of $750,000 of securities, consisting of an indeterminate
amount of common stock, preferred stock, depository shares, warrants, rights to purchase our common stock and debt securities.
As of December 31, 2024, the Company has $750,000 available for issuance under the 2024 $750 Million S-3 Filing.

ATM Program

On February 27, 2024, the Company and the Operating Partnership entered into a distribution agreement with certain sales
agents, forward sellers and forward purchasers, as applicable, pursuant to which the Company may issue and sell, from time to time,
shares of its common stock, with aggregate gross proceeds not to exceed $200,000 through an “at-the-market” equity offering
program (the “2024 $200 Million ATM Program”). The 2024 $200 Million ATM Program replaced the previous $200 million ATM
program, which was entered into on February 28, 2023 (“2023 $200 Million ATM Program”).

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company did not issue any shares of its common stock under the 2024 $200 Million
ATM Program or 2023 $200 Million ATM Program. The Company has approximately $200,000 available for issuance under the
2024 $200 Million ATM Program.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table sets forth our obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2024:

(in thousands) Payments Due by Period
Total 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter

Principal payments - secured debt ..................... $ 176,400 $ 3246 $ 60,951 §$ 15,783  § 96,420 $ — 3 —
Principal payments - unsecured debt ................. 450,000 — — 350,000 100,000 — —
Principal payments - borrowings under line of

CIEAIL vt 20,000 — — — 20,000 — —
Interest payments - secured debt..........cccceenee. 14,862 6,231 4,538 3,604 489 — —
Interest payments - unsecured debt.................... 42,018 16,110 16,110 6,956 2,842 — —
Interest payments - borrowings under line of

Credit 1 .o 4,613 1,178 1,178 1,178 1,079 — —

Office Leases........coccueuvriniiiiiciciciceisieiriceenes 4,943 928 837 855 826 810 687
Ground Leases @........ccccocoene. 8,192 207 209 209 209 209 7,149

Total Contractual Obligations ...................... $ 721,028 § 27,900 $ 83,823 § 378585 § 221,865 $§ 1,019 § 7,836

(1) Interest payments for the $100m, $150m and $200m KeyBank Term Loans are calculated using a fixed rate of 1.504%, 2.904%, and 1.527%, respectively.
Interest payments for the borrowings under line of credit is calculated using a fixed interest rate of 5.888%.
(2) Includes two ground subleases with a lease term through the end of December 31, 2055. Lease term includes one, twenty-year renewal option at a stated rent.

In addition to the contractual obligations set forth in the table above, we have entered into employment agreements with certain
of our executive officers. As approved by the compensation committee of the board of directors the agreements provide for base
salaries ranging from $350 to $650 annually with discretionary cash and stock performance awards. The agreements contain
provisions for equity awards, general benefits, and termination and severance provisions, consistent with similar positions and
companies.

We also enter into contracts for maintenance and other services at certain properties from time to time.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2024, we have an investment in an unconsolidated joint venture with our ownership percentage at 35%.
We exercise significant influence over, but do not control, the entity. As a result, we account for this using the equity method of
accounting. As of December 31, 2024, the aggregate carrying amount of non-recourse debt including both our and our partners’
share incurred by the joint venture was approximately $176,576 (of which our proportionate share is approximately $61,802). The
table below summarizes the outstanding debt of the joint venture properties as of December 31, 2024,
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Stated Deferred Carrying

Venture Stated Principal Financing Carrying  Amount (Our Maturity
Ownership % Interest Rate Amount Costs, Net Amount Share) Date
35% 4.35% § 56,684 $ — $§ 56,576 § 19,802 8/1/2028
35% 6.51% § 30,000 $ — $ 30,000 $§ 10,500 8/1/2028
35% 5.60% $ 90,000 $ — $ 90,000 $ 31,500 12/1/2029

As of December 31, 2023, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements.
Inflation

Inflation could increase in the future and remain at elevated levels. The majority of our leases are either triple net or provide
for tenant recoveries for costs related to real estate taxes and operating expenses. In addition, most of the leases provide for fixed
rent increases. We believe that inflationary increases may be at least partially offset by the contractual rent increases and tenant
payment of taxes and expenses described above. We do not believe that inflation has had a material impact on our historical financial
position or results of operations.

Interest Rate Risk ($ in thousands)

The Company uses interest rate swap agreements as a derivative instrument to manage interest rate risk and is recognized on
the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. As of December 31, 2024, all our outstanding variable rate debt was fixed with interest
rate swaps through maturity with the exception of the balance of $20,000 under the KeyBank unsecured line of credit. We recognize
all derivatives within the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. If the derivative is a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge,
changes in the fair value of derivatives are either offset against the change in fair value of the hedged assets, liabilities, or firm
commitments through earnings or recognized in other comprehensive income, which is a component of stockholders’ equity. The
ineffective portion of a derivative’s change in fair value is immediately recognized in earnings. As of December 31, 2024, the
Company had entered into eight interest rate swap agreements.

The following table details our outstanding interest rate swaps as of December 31, 2024:

Interest Rate SOFR Interest  Notional Value®” Fair Value®
Swap Counterparty Trade Date Effective Date Maturity Date Strike Rate December 31, 2024

Capital One, N.A. July 13,2022 July 1, 2022 February 11, 2027 1.527% $ 200,000 $ 10,113
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. July 13,2022 July 1, 2022 August 8, 2026 1.504% $ 100,000 $ 3,962
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. August 19, 2022 September 1, 2022 May 2, 2027 2.904% $ 75,000 $ 1,843

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. August 19, 2022 September 1, 2022 May 2, 2027 2.904% $ 37,500 $ 921

Capital One, N.A. August 19, 2022 September 1, 2022 May 2, 2027 2.904% $ 37,500 $ 921
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.® November 10,2023 November 10,2023  November 1, 2025 4.750% $ 50,000 $ (258)
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.® November 10,2023 November 10,2023  November 1, 2025 4.758% $ 25,000 $ (131)
Capital One, N.A. @ November 10, 2023  November 10,2023  November 1, 2025 4.758% $ 25,000 $ (131)

(1) Represents the notional value of interest rate swaps effective as of December 31, 2024.

(2) As of December 31, 2024, the fair value of five of our interest rate swaps were in an asset position of approximately $17.8 million and the remaining three
interest rate swaps were in a liability position of approximately $0.5 million.

(3) As of December 31, 2024, these interest rate swaps have been de-designated as a result of the hedge transactions related to these swaps no longer being
probable of occurring.

Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of
current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its counterparties. However, as of December 31, 2024, the
Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative
positions and has determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of its derivatives. As
a result, the Company has determined that its derivative valuations in their entirety are classified in Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

During the next twelve months, the Company estimates that an additional $13,009 will be reclassified as a decrease to interest
expense. No assurance can be given that any future hedging activities by us will have the desired beneficial effect on our results of
operations or financial condition.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment
Disclosures, which requires a public entity to disclose significant segment expenses and other segment items on an annual and
interim basis and to provide in interim periods all disclosures about a reportable segment’s profit or loss and assets that are currently
required annually. Public entities with a single reportable segment are required to provide the new disclosures and all the disclosures
required under ASC 280. The guidance is effective for our 2024 annual reporting. The guidance is applied retrospectively to all
periods presented in the financial statements, unless it is impracticable. We adopted ASU 2023-07 in the year ended December 31,
2024 and the adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

Response to this item is included in Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” above.

ITEM 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information with respect to this Item 8 is hereby incorporated by reference from our Consolidated Financial Statements
beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are designed to
provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the forms and rules of the SEC and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

In connection with the preparation of this annual report on Form 10-K, our management, including the CEO and CFO, evaluated
the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2024. As a result of this
evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2024
to provide the reasonable assurance described above.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting
is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024
using the criteria described in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on the evaluation, management has concluded that our internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 that
have materially affected, or were reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
(a) None.

(b) None of our directors or executive officers adopted or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or adopted or
terminated a non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement (as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K) during the quarter ended December
31, 2024.

ITEM 9C. HOLDING FOREIGN COMPANIES ACCOUNTABLE ACT
Not applicable.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information with respect to this Item 10 is incorporated by reference from our proxy statement, which we intend to file on or
before April 30, 2025, in connection with our 2025 annual meeting of stockholders.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information with respect to this Item 11 is incorporated by reference from our proxy statement, which we intend to file on or
before April 30, 2025, in connection with our 2025 annual meeting of stockholders.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Information with respect to this Item 12 is incorporated by reference from our proxy statement, which we intend to file on or
before April 30, 2025, in connection with our 2025 annual meeting of stockholders.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information with respect to this Item 13 is incorporated by reference from our proxy statement, which we intend to file on or
before April 30, 2025, in connection with our 2025 annual meeting of stockholders.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND EXPENSES

Information with respect to this Item 14 is incorporated by reference from our proxy statement, which we intend to file on or
before April 30, 2025, in connection with our 2025 annual meeting of stockholders.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Financial Statements
See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements set forth on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
(b) Financial Statement Schedule

Financial Statement Schedule III as listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements is filed as part of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(c) Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description

3.1 Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-196798) filed
on September 11, 2014)

3.2 Third Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38106) filed on September 9, 2021)

33 Articles of Amendment of Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to Amendment
No. 8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-19748) filed on June 1, 2017)

34 Certificate of Designations establishing and fixing the rights, limitations and preferences of Series C Cumulative
Preferred Units (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No.
001-38106) filed on November 12, 2024)

4.1 Description of Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K (File No. 001-38106) filed on February 27, 2020)

4.2+ Third Amended and Restated 2014 Incentive Award Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-38106) filed on February 22, 2024)

4.3+ Restricted Stock Agreement (Employee) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-251104) filed on December 3, 2020)

4.47 Restricted Stock Agreement (Director) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-251104) filed on December 3, 2020)

10.1 Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plymouth Industrial OP, LP (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-196798)
filed on September 11, 2014)

10.2+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Jeffrey E. Witherell, dated as of June 19, 2019 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-381061) filed on June 24,
2019)

10.37 Form of Indemnification Agreement between Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc. and its directors and officers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Amendment No. 6 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-11 (File No. 333-196798) filed on May 22, 2017)

10.4 Limited Liability Company Agreement of Plymouth Industrial 20 LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to
Amendment No. 4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-196798) filed on March 29,
2017)

10.5 Loan Agreement, dated as of July 10, 2018, by and among Transamerica Life Insurance Company and the Borrowers
named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No.
001-38106) filed on July 17, 2018)

10.6* Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2024, by and among Plymouth Industrial
OP, LP, the Guarantors from time to time party thereto, KeyBank National Association and the other Lenders party
thereto

10.7 First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2021, by and among
Plymouth Industrial OP, LP, the Guarantors, KeyBank National Association and the other Lenders (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38106) filed on August 17,
2021)

10.8 Term Loan Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2021, by and among Plymouth Industrial OP, LP, the Guarantors
from time to time party thereto, KeyBank National Association and the other Lenders party thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38106) filed on August 17,
2021)
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Exhibit

Number Description

10.9 Distribution Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2023, by and among Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc., Plymouth
Industrial OP, LP and the Agents party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38106) filed on February 28, 2023)

10.107 Employment Agreement with Anthony Saladino, dated as of February 23, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-381061) filed on February 23, 2022)

10.11 Second Amendment, Increase and Joinder Agreement to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as
of May 2, 2022, by and among Plymouth Industrial OP, LP, the Guarantors from time-to-time party thereto,
KeyBank National Association and the other Lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-381061) filed on May 4, 2022)

10.12 First Amendment and Joinder to Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of May 2, 2022, by and among Plymouth
Industrial OP, LP, the Guarantors from time-to-time party thereto, KeyBank National Association and the other
Lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 001-381061) filed on May 4, 2022)

10.13 Amendment No. 1 to Distribution Agreement, dated as of May 9, 2023, by and among Plymouth Industrial REIT,
Inc., Plymouth Industrial OP, LP and the Agents party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38106) filed on May 9, 2023)

10.14 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 26, 2024, by and among Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc.,
Plymouth Industrial OP, LP and Isosceles Investments, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-381006) filed on August 27, 2024)

10.15 Warrant Agreement, dated as of August 26, 2024, by and among Plymouth Industrial OP, LP, Plymouth Industrial
REIT, Inc., and Isosceles Investments, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-38106) filed on November 12, 2024)

10.16 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 26, 2024, by and among Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc.,
Plymouth Industrial OP, LP and Isosceles Investments, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-38106) filed on November 12, 2024)

10.17 Board Observer Agreement, dated as of August 26, 2024, by and among Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc. and
Isosceles Investments, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q (File No. 001-38106) filed on November 12, 2024)

10.18 Limited Liability Company Interest Contribution Agreement, dated as of August 26, 2024, by and among Plymouth
Industrial OP, LP, Isosceles JV Investments, LLC and Isosceles JV, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5
of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-38106) filed on November 12, 2024)

19.1 Insider Trading Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 19.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File

’ No. 001-38106) filed on February 22, 2024)

21.1%* List of Subsidiaries

23.1%* Consent of Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP

31.1% Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2% Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

30 1% Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

' Act 0f 2002

32.2% Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act 0f 2002

97.1 Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc. Incentive Based Compensation Recoupment Policy (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 97.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-38106) filed on February 22, 2024)

101.INS*  Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its
XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.XSD* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File - formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101

* Filed herewith.
+ Management contract or compensation plan or arrangement.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has caused this
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PLYMOUTH INDUSTRIAL REIT, INC.
By: /s/ Jeffrey E. Witherell

Name: Jeffrey E. Witherell
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Jeffrey E. Witherell Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 3, 2025
Jeffrey E. Witherell (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Anthony Saladino President and Chief Financial Officer March 3, 2025
Anthony Saladino (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Pendleton P. White, Jr. Director March 3, 2025

Pendleton P. White, Jr.

/s/ Philip S. Cottone Director March 3, 2025
Philip S. Cottone

/s/ Richard DeAgazio Director March 3, 2025
Richard DeAgazio

/s/ David G. Gaw Director March 3, 2025
David G. Gaw

/s/ John W. Guinee I1I Director March 3, 2025

John W. Guinee III

/s/ Caitlin Murphy Director March 3, 2025
Caitlin Murphy
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc.
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of
comprehensive income (loss), of changes in preferred stock, redeemable non-controlling interest and equity, and of
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, including the related notes and financial
statement schedule listed in the accompanying index (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A.
Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated
financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i)
relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter
in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating
the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or
disclosures to which they relate.

Real Estate Property Acquisitions

As described in Notes 2 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, during 2024, the Company completed 9 real
estate property acquisitions for a total purchase price of $122 million, including $1.4 million of acquisition costs, of
which $18.7 million of land, $86.8 million of buildings, $4.9 million of site improvements, and $11.8 million of net
deferred lease intangibles were recorded. The accounting for real estate property acquisitions requires estimates and
judgment as to expectations for future cash flows of the acquired property, the allocation of those cash flows to
identifiable intangible assets and liabilities, and in determining the estimated fair value for assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. The amounts allocated to lease intangibles (leases in place, leasing commissions, tenant
relationships, and above and below market leases) are based on management’s estimates and assumptions, as well as
other information compiled by management, including independent third party analysis and market data. The process
for determining the allocation to these components requires management to make estimates and assumptions,
including rental rates, land value, discount rates, and exit capitalization rates.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to real estate property
acquisitions is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management in developing the fair value
estimates of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment,
subjectivity and effort in performing procedures and evaluating management’s assumptions related to rental rates,
land value, discount rates, and exit capitalization rates, and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with
specialized skill and knowledge.
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Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our
overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of
controls relating to purchase price accounting, including controls over the allocation of the purchase price to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These procedures also included, among others, for a sample of acquisitions (i)
reading the purchase agreements, (ii) testing management’s process for developing the fair value estimates of the
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, (iii) evaluating the appropriateness of the future cash
flow models used by management, (iv) testing the completeness and accuracy of the data used in the models, and (v)
evaluating the reasonableness of assumptions used by management related to rental rates, land value, discount rates,
and exit capitalization rates. Evaluating these assumptions involved evaluating whether the assumptions used by
management were reasonable considering (i) the consistency with external market and industry data and (ii) whether
the assumptions were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. For certain acquisitions,
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating (i) the appropriateness of the
future cash flow models used by management and (ii) the reasonableness of assumptions related to rental rates, land
value, discount rates, and exit capitalization rates.

Classification and Valuation of Warrants

As described in Notes 2, 11 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements, on August 26, 2024, the Company,
through Plymouth Industrial Operating Partnership L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”), entered into a Purchase
Agreement with Sixth Street Partners, LLC (“Investor”) to issue and sell to the Investor warrants to purchase, in the
aggregate, up to 11,760,000 Operating Partnership units. As of December 31, 2024, management accounted for the
warrants as derivative liabilities with a fair market value of $45.9 million. The Company accounts for its Operating
Partnership’s warrants as either derivative liabilities or as equity instruments depending on the specific terms of the
warrant agreement. Warrants that are not considered indexed to the Company’s own stock are required to be
accounted for as a liability. Liability-classified financial instruments are measured at fair market value on the issuance
date and at the end of each reporting period. The warrants issued by the Operating Partnership are not traded in an
active market and the fair market value is determined using a Monte Carlo valuation model. Determining the
appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair market value of warrants requires considerable judgment and use
of estimates. The determination of fair market value includes the use of significant assumptions, such as volatility and
expected dividend yield.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the classification and
valuation of warrants is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when determining the
classification of the warrants as derivative liabilities versus equity investments, as well as when developing the fair
value estimate of the warrants at issuance and at the end of the reporting period, (ii) a high degree of auditor
judgment, subjectivity and effort in performing procedures and evaluating management’s determination of the
classification of the warrants and management’s significant assumptions related to volatility and expected dividend
yield, and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our
overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of
controls relating to the evaluation of the classification of the warrants and the valuation of the warrants, including
controls over the valuation model, significant assumptions, and underlying data. These procedures also included,
among others, (i) testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data provided by management and (ii) the
involvement of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in evaluating (a) management’s
determination of the classification of the warrants and (b) the reasonableness of management’s estimate by
developing an independent range of values for the warrant liability using an independently determined model and
assumptions and comparing the independent range of values to management’s estimate.
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Valuation of the Forward Contract

As described in Notes 2 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements, on August 26, 2024, the Company, through its
Operating Partnership, issued a forward contract pursuant to which the Operating Partnership will sell an additional
79,090 Non-Convertible Cumulative Series C Preferred Units (“Series C Preferred Units”) at a price of $1,000 per
Series C Preferred Unit. As of December 31, 2024, management accounted for the forward contract as an asset with a
fair market value of $3.7 million. The Company accounts for its Operating Partnership’s forward contract to issue
redeemable preferred units as a financial instrument as it represents a forward sale on redeemable equity. A forward
contract on redeemable equity is classified as a liability or asset because it creates an obligation of the Company’s
Operating Partnership to repurchase its own equity and settle in cash. Asset or liability-classified financial
instruments are measured at fair market value at issuance and at the end of each reporting period. The forward
contract’s fair market value is determined using a Black-Derman-Toy valuation model. Determining the appropriate
fair value model and calculating the fair market value of the forward contract requires considerable judgement and
use of estimates. The determination of fair market value includes the use of significant assumptions, such as volatility
and estimated credit spread.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the valuation of the
forward contract is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when developing the fair
value estimate of the forward contract at issuance and at the end of the reporting period, (ii) a high degree of auditor
judgment, subjectivity and effort in performing procedures and evaluating management’s significant assumptions
related to volatility and estimated credit spread, and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with
specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our
overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of
controls relating to the determination of the fair market value of the forward contract asset, including controls over
the valuation model, significant assumptions, and underlying data. These procedures also included, among others, (i)
testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data provided by management and (ii) the involvement of
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in evaluating the reasonableness of management’s
estimate by developing an independent range of values for the forward contract asset using an independently
determined model and assumptions and comparing the independent range of values to management’s estimate.

/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 3, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.
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PLYMOUTH INDUSTRIAL REIT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Assets
REAL €SLALE PIOPEITICS.....uvieviiitieirieieeiiectieitee st eteeee et e eteeeteebeesbe e b e e taesteesseesseesseeraesssesseesseenseans $ 1,418,305 $ 1,567,866
Less accumulated depreCiation...........c.uieveeiieiieieiteeiie ettt et eae e ees (261,608) (268,046)
Real eState PrOPEIties, NET.....cvicvieiieieitieitieie et ettt eteeete et eb et e s e e s e e steeseeseesaesreesseesseenseens 1,156,697 1,299,820
SNttt et e e ae e re e ereeeanas 17,546 14,493
CaSh NEIA 1N ©SCIOW.....eveiiiieiieeeeeee et e et e e et e e s e e e eneens 1,964 4716
RESIICTEA CASN.......eeeiiiieie e e et e e e e e e e eaeeeenns 24,117 6,995
Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures 62,377 —
Deferred lease intan@ibles, MOt ........cveiieriieriieiiiie ettt s e e ense e 41,677 51,474
TNEETESE TALE SWAPS ..eevvieiirieeiiieiteeeteesteesieeesteeesteeestbeessteetseessseessseessseessseesssaessseessseessseessseenseas 17,760 21,667
(017115 G L1 £~ 42,622 42,734
FOrward CONIACE ASSEL.......coiuviiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e e e aaeeeeeeseenseaneeeeas 3,658 —
TTOAL ASSEES ..ottt ettt et e e e e e e e et e e e e e et e et e et eea e e e e e e e e e eeaeeeaeeeneereneenee e $ 1368418 $§ 1,441,899
Liabilities, Redeemable Non-controlling Interest and Equity
Liabilities:
SECUTEA AEDE, TIEL ..ottt e et eeae e e st e et e st e eeeeeeeeenesneneen $ 175,980  $ 266,887
UNSECUIEA AEDE, NMEL.....oiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee et e e e et e e e e e e e r e e e e e e seensaaneeeeas 447,741 447,990
Borrowings under 1ine of Credit..........coouiiiiiieiiei e 20,000 155,400
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities ...........ccoceeieviiciiiieniecie e, 83,827 73,904
Warrant liability 45,908 —
Deferred lease intan@ibles, MOt ........cc.eiiiiuiiiiieiieii ettt eve e eene e 5,026 6,044
TNEETESE TALE SWADS ..eevvieiitieeiiieetteeteeette et ee st ettt ettt e tte e bt eesabeetbeesabeessbeessseensbeennbeennseesnseennnes 520 1,161
Financing 1€ase HaDIlity.......c..ccviiiiiiiiieiieiicte ettt 2,297 2,271
TOtAl HADIIITIES .....veeeeeeeee ettt e e e e et e e e e eaae e e e enteeeeeaaeeeenaeeesenneeeens 781,299 953,657
Commitments and contingencies (NOtE 15) ......cciviiriirieiiiiieciecreeie e
Redeemable non-controlling interest - Series C Preferred Units, 500,000 units authorized,
(aggregate liquidation preference of $81,985 and $0 at December 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023, 1€SPECLIVELY).ueeuviiiiiieeiieriieii ettt ettt ettt neeenaeseeens 1,259 —
Equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value: 900,000,000 shares authorized; 45,389,186 and
45,250,184 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively...... 454 452
Additional paid I CAPItAL.........cceoviiiiieiieicti et 604,839 644,938
Accumulated defiCTt........oiiiiiiiiiii ettt (43,262) (182,6006)
Accumulated other comprehensive INCOME .......cceevviiiiiiiriicii et 17,517 20,233
Total StOCKNOIAETS" EQUILY ..eovievieiiieeiieiieetecte ettt ettt bbbt sae e e ens 579,548 483,017
NON-CONITOIING TNTETESE .....veiviiirieeiieiiieiieete ettt ettt ettt et teesteesteesseesseeneesaeesseenseans 6,312 5,225
TOAL CQUILY c.vevvetiete ettt ettt ettt ettt et et e te e e aeeeae e b e esbeesseeseesbeesseenseenseeneesseeseenns 585,860 488,242
Total liabilities, redeemable non-controlling interest and eqUItY .........c.ccceeveeveerieeieeeeceeeneenn, $ 1,368,418 $ 1,441,899

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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PLYMOUTH INDUSTRIAL REIT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

RENEAL TEVEIUE ...ttt $ 197,563  $ 199,760  $ 183,442
Management fee revenue and other iNCOME .........ccceevveeriienieeniieeieeenen 792 88 94
TOtAl FEVEIMUES ...t eaaeeeee s 198,355 199,848 183,536
Operating expenses:

PLOPEILY ..ttt 61,718 62,542 56,601

Depreciation and amortization ..............cceeeveeeereerieerreeeeeeesieeveeveseeenens 85,729 92,891 95,312

General and admINISIrAtiVE. .........covvuveeiiiiieieeie et 14,764 14,904 15,939
Total operating eXPenSes ............cccueevveeiieenieeniieenieeieeeieeesteeenaeeeaeeeaeeas 162,211 170,337 167,852
Other income (expense):

INEETESE EXPEIISE . .vievieeeiieriieeiieeeite ettt estee et e eteeeteesbaeebeeensaeenseesnseeenseeans (37,412) (38,278) (32,217)

Loss in investment of unconsolidated joint ventures ............cccceeevveveennne (5,145) — (147)

Loss on extinguishment of debt ............ccoooverieiieniiiiieeeeeee (269) (72) (2,176)

Gain on sale 0f 1eal €STALE ......c..vevieeeieieiie e 145,396 22,646 —

Gain on financing tranSaction ............c.eceeveereereereeriesieseeneeeeeeeeeaesenens 6,660 — —

L 0SS 0N INLETESt TALE SWAD .eevveeuveeieiieeieieeieeiiesieeteeseeeeeeseeeeeenseeeaeseaenseas (481) — —

Unrealized loss from interest rate SWap .........cceeceeevereeeceeeeesveneeneeneeenes 39) — —

(Appreciation) depreciation of Warrants............ceeeeveereereenieneeseeiennens — — 1,760
Total other income (EXPENSE) ..........c.ccvevvieriierieeiieiieeieeieee e 108,710 (15,704) (32,780)
Income before income tax provision ................cccoccovveviiiieiieieeie e, 144,854 13,807 (17,096)

INCOME tAX PIOVISION ..eiviieieiieiieieeiie e sieesieeeeeeeseeesteenteeneeenseenaessaenneas (2,487) — —
Net inCOME (I0SS) .....cc.oeiiuiiiiiiieiieeciie ettt e e 142,367 13,807 (17,096)
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest................. 1,520 147 (210)
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest
- Series C Preferred UnitS.........ccoveiiiiiiiiiiiecccee e 1,503 — —
Net income (loss) attributable to Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc......... 139,344 13,660 (16,886)
Less: Preferred Stock dividends...........ccc.oooeiiiiiiiiieieiiieeeee e, — 2,509 4,866
Less: Series B Preferred Stock accretion to redemption value ................... — — 4,621
Less: Loss on extinguishment/redemption of Series A Preferred Stock..... — 2,023 99
Less: Amount allocated to participating SECUrities ..........ccoovevveeveeverreennenn 1,478 337 256
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders........................ $ 137,866  $ 8,791  $ (26,728)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders — basic $ 3.06 8§ 020 9§ (0.67)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders — diluted  $ 3.06 $ 020 $ (0.67)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding — basic.................c...... 44,989,288 43,554,504 39,779,128
Weighted-average common shares outstanding — diluted...................... 45,046,432 43,631,693 39,779,128

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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PLYMOUTH INDUSTRIAL REIT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Net iNCOME (I0SS) ......c.ocvoviiviiieieeeeeeeeeeee et $ 142,367 $ 13,807 $ (17,096)
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Unrealized gain (10ss) on interest rate SWaps .........oceeveervverreerveseesneenneenns (3,227) (9,609) 30,115

L 0SS ON INEIESt TAtE SWAD ..vevveveeiieiieeeieeiieteeieeeeeeeesteeseesaeeneeseeesaeenseenns 481 — —

Other comprehensive inComMe (10SS) ....cvevverierierieeieiienieie e (2,746) (9,609) 30,115
Comprehensive income (10SS)...........cccovvieeiiiiiiieeiie e 139,621 4,198 13,019
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest................. 1,520 147 (210)
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest
- Series C Preferred UnNitS ......cc.veiiieeiiieeie e 1,503 — —
Less: Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to non-controlling

IEETEST .. veieetieeeie ettt ettt ettt e et e et e e et e e et eeeaseestseeetseestseeetaeestseesseensseensseeens (30) (103) 376
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Plymouth Industrial

REIT, INC. ..ottt $ 136,628  $ 4,154  § 12,853

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Operating activities
Net income (loss)

(In thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by

operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Straight line rent adjustment
Intangible amortization in rental revenue, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Amortization of debt related costs
Gain on financing transaction
Appreciation (depreciation) of warrants
Stock based compensation
Gain on sale of real estate
Unrealized loss from interest rate swap
Loss on interest rate swap
Loss in investment of unconsolidated joint ventures

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Other assets

Deferred leasing costs
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities
Acquisition of real estate properties
Real estate improvements
Proceeds from sale of real estate, net
Contribution to and investment in Joint Venture
Net investment in sales-type lease
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Financing activities
(Payment) Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net
Repayment of secured debt
Proceeds from issuance of unsecured debt
Proceeds from line of credit facility
Repayment of line of credit facility
Repurchase of Series A Preferred Stock
Redemption of Series A Preferred Stock
Redemption of Series B Preferred Stock
Proceeds from financing transaction
Financing transaction issuance costs
Debt issuance costs
Dividends and distributions paid

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash held in escrow, and restricted cash
Cash, cash held in escrow, and restricted cash at beginning of period .....
Cash, cash held in escrow, and restricted cash at end of period................

F-12

PLYMOUTH INDUSTRIAL REIT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
$ 142367 $ 13,807 $  (17,096)
85,729 92,891 95,312
761 (1,944) (3,682)
(1,204) (2,221) (3,151)
269 72 2,176
1,909 2,184 2,163
(6,660) — —
— — (1,760)
4,197 2,966 2,603
(145,396) (22,646) —
39 — —
481 — —
5,145 — 147
(2,079) (3,091) (915)
(5,047) (6,394) (5,668)
15,559 6,248 2,099
96,070 81,872 72,228
(122,043) — (197,085)
(24,226) (34,751) (55,494)
216,949 34,672 222
(4,461) — —
21,244 - -
87,463 (79) (252,357)
(540) 49,465 58,179
(34,889) (123,264) (21,186)
— — 150,000
137,000 149,400 213,000
(272,400) (71,500) (173,500)
— (43) (1,728)
— (48,843) —
— — (15,000)
58,670 — —
(4,295) — —
(6,086) (83) (1,826)
(43,570) (41,934) (39,971)
(166,110) (86,802) 167,968
17,423 (5,009) (12,161)
26,204 31,213 43,374
$ 43,627  $ 26,204  $ 31,213




Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures:
Cash paid fOr INTETEST .......cccveieiiieiieciiecieece e

Assumption of cash, cash held in escrow, and restricted cash upon
consolidation of investment in joint VENTUIES ..........ccceevveeeverreriereenieereeeeene

Contribution of cash, cash held in escrow and restricted cash investment to
JOINE VENTUTE ..ottt et ete e aee e

Supplemental Non-cash Financing and Investing Activities:
Dividends declared included in dividends payable...........ccccooceiinininieiennenee.

Distribution payable to non-controlling interest holder.............cccceveevveennnnn.
Contribution of real estate properties to Joint Venture ............ccoeevveeveereneeenen.
Assumption of secured debt by Joint Venture ............ccccoevvveieveenriecneereenenen.

Assumption of accounts payables, accrued expenses and other liabilities by
JOINE VENTUTC ..ottt

Contribution of other assets to Joint Venture..............coceeeevveeeeiceeececneeeeene.

Financing transaction costs included in accounts payable, accrued expenses
and other HabilIties........cc.ccvverieiiiriiiicienceree e

Contribution to and investment in joint venture in accounts payable, accrued
expenses and other Habilities ...........ccovieriieiiiiiceeeeeee e

Real estate improvements included in accounts payable, accrued expenses
and other Habilities........c.oiiiiiiiiei e

Deferred leasing costs included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and
Other HHADIIITIES ..c..eveiuiiiiiiiiieiecr e

Conversion of common StOCK WarTants..........ceevereeruerriereenienieenieeiesieseeenneen
Series B accretion to redemption value..........cccoevieviieciiiiiieeiie e
Conversion of Series B Preferred Stock..........cocooiviviiiiiiininininniiccicee,
Consolidation of net book value of investment in joint venture ......................
Assumption of other assets upon consolidation of investment in joint venture

Assumption of accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities upon
consolidation of investment in jOINt VENTUTE ..........cccveevuieeeiieiieecie e

Assumption of secured debt upon consolidation of investment in joint
VEINTUTE .ottt e e et a s e e e e e aaaa e e e eeeaaas

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
37,545 $ 36212 $ 280931
— S — 3 2,895
2,772 $ — 8 —
11,039 $ 10216 $ 9,426
118 $ 110§ 108
60,921 $ — 3 —
56,232 S — 8 —
13,746 $ — 3 —
329§ —  $ —
5465 $ — 3 —
2,140 $ — 8 —
1,801 $ 1,868 $ 6,997
390 $ 575§ 483
— S — 3 3,758
— S — 3 4,621
— S — § 84,058
— S — 3 5,686
— S — 3 638
— S — 3 1,955
— S — $ 56,000




Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(all dollar amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

1. Nature of the Business and Basis of Presentation
Business

Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc., (the “Company”, “we” or the “REIT”) is a Maryland corporation formed on March 7, 2011.
The Company is structured as an umbrella partnership REIT, commonly called an UPREIT, and owns substantially all of its assets
and conducts substantially all of its business through its Operating Partnership, Plymouth Industrial Operating Partnership, L.P., a
Delaware limited partnership (the “Operating Partnership”). The Company, as general partner of the Operating Partnership, controls
the Operating Partnership and consolidates the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the Operating Partnership. As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company owned a 98.9% and 98.9%, respectively, equity interest in the Operating Partnership.

The Company is a real estate investment trust focused on the acquisition, ownership and management of single and multi-
tenant industrial properties, including distribution centers, warehouses, light industrial and small bay industrial properties, located
in Primary Markets and Secondary Markets within the main industrial, distribution and logistics corridors of the United States. As
of December 31, 2024, the Company, through its subsidiaries, wholly owned 129 industrial properties comprising 199 buildings
with an aggregate of approximately 29.3 million square feet (square feet unaudited herein and throughout the Notes), and our
regional property management office building located in Columbus, Ohio, totaling approximately 17,260 square feet. The Company
also owns a 35% equity interest in, and provides services to, a joint venture through a wholly owned subsidiary of the Operating
Partnership. The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method of accounting. As such, the operating data of the joint
venture is not consolidated with that of the Company.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company, the Operating Partnership and their subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated in the consolidation of entities.

Consolidation

We consolidate all entities that are wholly owned and those in which we own less than 100% but exercise control, as well as
any Variable Interest Entities (“VIEs”) in which we are the primary beneficiary. We evaluate our ability to control an entity and
whether the entity is a VIE and we are the primary beneficiary through consideration of the substantive terms of the arrangement
to identify which enterprise has the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impacts the entity’s economic
performance and the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity. Investments in entities
in which we do not control but over which we have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies
are presented under the equity method. Investments in entities that we do not control and over which we do not exercise significant
influence are carried at the lower of cost or fair value, as appropriate. Our ability to correctly assess our influence and/or control
over an entity affects the presentation of these investments in our consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated VIEs are those for which the Company is considered to be the primary beneficiary of a VIE. The primary
beneficiary is the entity that has a controlling financial interest in the VIE, which is defined by the entity having both of the following
characteristics: (1) the power to direct the activities that, when taken together, most significantly impact the VIE’s performance and
(2) the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive the returns from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.
The Company has determined that the Operating Partnership is a VIE and the Company is the primary beneficiary. The Company's
only significant asset is its investment in the Operating Partnership, and therefore, substantially all of the Company’s assets and
liabilities are the assets and liabilities of the Operating Partnership.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Management makes significant estimates regarding the allocation of tangible and intangible assets and liabilities for real estate
acquisitions, impairments of long-lived assets and unconsolidated joint ventures, stock-based compensation, preferred unit forward
contract asset and its warrant liability. These estimates and assumptions are based on management’s best estimates and judgment.
Management evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors, including
the then-current economic environment. Management adjusts such estimates when facts and circumstances dictate. As future events
and their effects cannot be determined with precision, actual results could differ materially from those estimates and assumptions.

Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents. The Company maintains cash and restricted cash, which includes tenant security deposits and capital expenditure
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Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(all dollar amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

escrows, and cash held in escrow for real estate tax, insurance, cash held on behalf of the Joint Venture for tenant capital
improvements and leasing commissions, in bank deposit accounts, which at times may exceed federally insured limits. As of
December 31, 2024, the Company has not realized any losses in such cash accounts and believes it mitigates its risk of loss by
depositing its cash and restricted cash in highly rated financial institutions or within accounts that are below the federally insured
limits.

The following table presents a reconciliation of cash, cash held in escrow, and restricted cash reported within our consolidated
balance sheets to amounts reported within our consolidated statements of cash flows:

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
(=T RO $ 17,546  $ 14,493
(@8 1Y 1 4 15 (e 5§ o) 4o ) AP RRORRTR 1,964 4,716
] g o1 1T o7 1 o DTSR 24,117 6,995
Cash, cash held in escrow, and restricted CaSh ........ocuviiiiiiiieeee e $ 43,627 $ 26,204

Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs other than those associated with the revolving line of credit facility are reflected as a reduction to the
respective loan amounts in the form of a debt discount. Amortization of this expense is included in interest expense in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Debt issuance costs amounted to $6,533 and $6,787 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and related accumulated
amortization amounted to $3,866 and $3,603 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the
Company has classified net unamortized debt issuance costs of $5,342 and $1,469, respectively, related to borrowings under the
line of credit to other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We record all derivatives on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair
value of derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative, whether we have elected to designate a derivative in a hedging
relationship and apply hedge accounting, and whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge
accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or
firm commitment attributable to a particular risk, such as interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges. Derivatives designated
and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are
considered cash flow hedges. Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss recognition on the
hedging instrument with the recognition of the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the
hedged risk in a fair value hedge or the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge. We may enter
into derivative contracts that are intended to economically hedge certain of its risks, even though hedge accounting does not apply,
or we elect not to apply hedge accounting.

In accordance with fair value measurement guidance, we made an accounting policy election to measure the credit risk of our
derivative financial instruments that are subject to master netting arrangements on a net basis by the counterparty portfolio. Credit
risk is the risk of failure of the counterparty to perform under the terms of the contract. We minimize the credit risk in our derivative
financial instruments by entering into transactions with various high-quality counterparties. Our exposure to credit risk at any point
is generally limited to amounts recorded as assets or liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Earnings (Loss) per Share

The Company follows the two-class method when computing net earnings (loss) per common share as the Company has issued
shares that meet the definition of participating securities. The two-class method determines net earnings (loss) per share for each
class of common and participating securities according to dividends declared or accumulated and participation rights in
undistributed earnings. The two-class method requires income available to common stockholders for the period to be allocated
between common and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income for the period
had been distributed. See “Note 13—Earnings per Share” in the accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional details.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company applies various valuation approaches in determining the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities within a
hierarchy that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that observable
inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based
on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s
assumptions about the inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability and are developed based on the best
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Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(all dollar amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

information available in the circumstances. The fair value hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the source of inputs
as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value drivers
are observable.

Level 3 — Significant inputs to the valuation model are unobservable.

The availability of observable inputs can vary among the various types of financial assets and liabilities. To the extent that the
valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value requires
more judgment. In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In
such cases, for financial statement disclosure purposes, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement
is categorized is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the overall fair value measurement. Level 3 inputs are applied
to some degree in determining the fair value of our debt, interest rate swaps and performance stock units discussed in Notes 7, 8,
and 12, respectively, in determining the fair value of the forward contract for preferred units discussed in Note 11, and in determining
the fair value of warrants to purchase partnership units in Note 14.

Financial instruments, including cash, restricted cash, cash held in escrow, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued
expenses and other current liabilities, are considered Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy. The amounts reported on the consolidated
balance sheets for these financial instruments approximate their fair value due to their relatively short maturities and prevailing
interest rates. Derivative financial instruments are considered Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as discussed in Note 8.

The following tables summarize the Company’s forward contract asset, warrant liability and interest rate swaps that are
accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2024

Fair Value as of

December 31,
Balance Sheet Line Item 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Forward CONtract @SSEt ........coveeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenennns $ 3,658 % — 3 — 3 3,658
Interest rate SWaps - ASS€t......c.cceeeveverennnnn. $ 17,760  $ — 3 17,760  $ —
Interest rate swaps - Liability $ (520) § — (520) § —
Warrant Hability ...........occooieveiieeeeeeeee e, $ (45,908) $ —  $ — 5 (45,908)

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2023

Fair Value as of
December 31,
Balance Sheet Line Item 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

(1,161)

Forward CONtract @SSEt .........coeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenennn $ — 3 — 3 — 5 —

Interest rate SWaps - ASSEl.......ecveervevrererrereererreeerenrenenes $ 21,667 $ —  § 21,667  $ —

Interest rate swaps - Liability.........cccccooeeveveverecerenennnn. $ $ — 3 $ —
$ $ $ $

(1,161)
Warrant Hability .......c.cooeeeviiieniiiiniieeiecceeceecee e —

Forward Contract

The Company accounts for its Operating Partnership’s forward contract to issue redeemable preferred units as a financial
instrument as it represents a forward sale on redeemable equity. A forward contract on redeemable equity is classified as a liability
or asset because it creates an obligation of the Company’s Operating Partnership to repurchase its own equity and settle in cash.
Asset or liability-classified financial instruments are measured at fair value at issuance and at the end of each reporting period. Any
change in the fair value of the financial instrument is recorded in the consolidated financial statements through earnings.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the carrying values of our respective long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of these assets may not be fully recoverable. Long-lived assets are primarily
comprised of real estate properties.

On a quarterly basis, management assesses whether there are any indicators, including changes in the anticipated holding
period, general market conditions, and property operating performance, that may indicate an impairment exists. Recoverability of
real estate properties is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of the property to the estimated future undiscounted cash
flows to be generated from the use and eventual disposition of that property. If our analysis indicates that the carrying value of the
real estate property is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, we recognize an impairment charge for the amount by
which the carrying value exceeds the current estimated fair value of the real estate property. Fair value is determined through various
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valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow models, applying a capitalization rate to estimated net operating income of a
property and quoted market values and third-party appraisals, where considered necessary. The Company determined there was no
impairment of value of real estate properties as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Income Taxes

The Company has operated in a manner that allows it to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. The Company
utilizes an UPREIT organizational structure with the intent to hold properties and securities through an Operating Partnership.

The Company elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and has operated as such beginning with the tax year ending December 31, 2012. To qualify as a REIT, the Company
must meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to distribute at least 90% of its annual REIT
taxable income to stockholders (which is computed without regard to the dividends-paid deduction or net capital gain and which
does not necessarily equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP). As a REIT, the Company generally will not be
subject to federal income tax on income that we distribute as dividends to its stockholders. If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT
in any taxable year, it will be subject to federal income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate income tax rates and generally
will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as a REIT for federal income tax purposes for the four tax years following the year
during which qualification is lost, unless it can obtain relief under certain statutory provisions. Such an event could materially and
adversely affect the net income and net cash available for distribution to stockholders. However, the Company intends to continue
to operate in a manner that allows it to qualify for treatment as a REIT.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and local jurisdictions. The statute of
limitations for the Company’s income tax returns is generally three years and as such, the Company’s returns that remain subject
to examination would be primarily from 2021 and thereafter. Accrued interest and penalties will be recorded as income tax expense
if the Company records a liability in the future.

To the extent the Company does not utilize the full amount of the annual federal net operating losses (“NOL”), the unused
amount may normally be carried forward for 20 years to offset taxable income in future years. The Company had federal NOL
carryforwards originating from 2012 through 2023 of approximately $35,322. The Company will incur federal taxable income
during 2024 after utilizing the dividends paid deduction and the net operating loss carryforward, resulting in net operating loss
carryforwards to 2025 to be $0. NOLs generated from 2018 and onwards are not limited to 20 years and can be carried forward
indefinitely with the exception that they can only offset up to 80% of federal taxable income in future years.

Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

For joint ventures that we do not control but exercise significant influence, we use the equity method of accounting. Our
judgment about the level of influence or control over an entity involves consideration of various factors including the form of our
ownership interest; our representation in the entity's governance; our ability to participate in policy-making decisions; and the rights
of other investors to participate in the decision-making process, and/or to liquidate the venture. Accordingly, we initially recorded
our investments at cost, and subsequently adjusted for equity in earnings or losses and cash contributions and distributions. Income
or loss and cash distributions from unconsolidated ventures are allocated according to the provisions of the respective venture
agreement, which may be different from its stated ownership percentage. Our net equity investment in the ventures was reflected
within the consolidated balance sheets, and our share of net income or loss from the ventures was included within the consolidated
statements of operations.

In 2024, the Company invested in unconsolidated joint ventures as discussed in Note 5.
Impairment of Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

We account for our investment in unconsolidated joint ventures under the equity method. Under the equity method of
accounting, we initially recognize our investment at cost and subsequently adjust the carrying amount of the investment for our
share of the earnings or losses, distributions received, and other-than-temporary impairments.

Our unconsolidated joint ventures are evaluated for impairment when conditions exist that may indicate that the decrease in
the carrying amount of our investment has occurred and is other than temporary. Triggering events or impairment indicators for our
unconsolidated joint ventures include, recurring operating losses of an investee, absence of an ability to recover the carrying amount
of the investee, the ability of an investee to sustain an earnings capacity, a carrying amount that exceeds the fair value of the
investment and that decline in fair value is other-than-temporary. Upon determination that an other-than-temporary impairment has
occurred, a write-down is recognized to reduce the carrying amount of investment to its estimated fair value. Fair value estimates
are made as of a specific point in time, are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, no other-than-temporary impairment related to our unconsolidated joint ventures
were identified.
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Leases

For leases in which we are the lessee, a right of use asset and lease liability is recorded on the consolidated balance sheets equal
to the present value of the fixed lease payments of the corresponding lease. To determine our operating right of use asset and lease
liability, we estimate an appropriate incremental borrowing rate on a fully-collateralized basis for the terms of the leases by utilizing
a market-based approach. Since the terms under our ground leases are significantly longer than the terms of borrowings available
to us on a fully-collateralized basis, the estimate of this rate requires significant judgment, and considers factors such as market
based pricing on longer duration financing instruments.

Non-controlling Interests

As further discussed in Note 11, the Company has issued non-controlling interests in its Operating Partnership. The net income
(loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests is presented in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest — Preferred Units

The Company applies the guidance enumerated in ASC 480, when determining the classification and measurement of its
Operating Partnership’s preferred units. Preferred units subject to mandatory redemption, if any, are classified as a liability and are
measured at fair value. The Company classifies conditionally redeemable preferred units, which includes preferred units that
features redemption rights that are either within the control of the holder or subject to redemption upon the occurrence of uncertain
events not solely within the Company’s control, as mezzanine equity. The Company subsequently measures mezzanine equity based
on whether the instrument is currently redeemable or whether or not it is probable the instrument will become redeemable. Upon
determination that the instrument is probable of redemption, the Company will adjust the carrying value to the redemption value. If
redemption is not probable, the Company will not adjust the carrying value of the instrument recorded as mezzanine equity other
than to reflect dividends accrued and not yet paid, but which will be payable under the redemption feature.

Real Estate Property Acquisitions

The Company accounts for its real estate property acquisitions in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) ASC 805. The Company has concluded that the acquisition of real estate properties will be accounted for as an asset
acquisition as opposed to a business combination. The significant difference between the two accounting models is that within an
acquisition of assets, acquisition costs are capitalized as a cost of the assets, whereas in a business combination acquisition costs
are expensed and not included as part of the consideration transferred.

The accounting for real estate property acquisitions requires estimates and judgment as to expectations for future cash flows of
the acquired property, the allocation of those cash flows to identifiable intangible assets and liabilities, and in determining the
estimated fair value for assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The amounts allocated to lease intangibles (leases in place, leasing
commissions, tenant relationships, and above and below market leases) are based on management’s estimates and assumptions, as
well as other information compiled by management, including independent third party analysis and market data, and are generally
amortized over the remaining life of the related leases excluding renewal options, except in the case of below market fixed rate rent
amounts, which are amortized over the applicable renewal period. Such inputs are Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. The process
for determining the allocation to these components requires management to make estimates and assumptions, including rental rates,
land value, discount rates, and exit capitalization rates.

Real Estate Depreciation and Amortization of Deferred Lease Intangibles - Assets and Liabilities

Real estate properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of buildings and other improvements is
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining useful lives of the assets, which generally range from 11 to
40 years for buildings and 3 to 13 years for site improvements. If the Company determines that impairment has occurred, the
affected assets are reduced to their fair value. Building improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repair expenses are
charged to expense as incurred. Significant renovations and improvements that improve or extend the useful life of the assets are
capitalized. Depreciation expense was $66,088, $67,968 and $63,623 for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

Deferred lease intangible assets consist of leases in place, leasing commissions, tenant relationships, and above market leases.
Deferred lease intangible liabilities represent below market leases. These intangibles have been recorded at their fair market value
in connection with the acquisition of properties. Intangible assets and liabilities are generally amortized over the remaining life of
the related lease following the evaluation of potential renewal options. Amortization of above and below market leases was recorded
as an adjustment to rental revenue and amounted to $1,204, $2,221 and $3,151 for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022, respectively. Amortization of all other deferred lease intangibles has been included in depreciation and amortization expense
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and amounted to $19,641, $24,923 and $31,689 for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Revenue Recognition

Minimum rental revenue from real estate operations is recognized on a straight-line basis. The straight-line rent calculation on
leases includes the effects of rent concessions and scheduled rent increases, and the calculated straight-line rent income is recognized
over the term of the individual leases. In accordance with ASC 842, we assess the collectability of lease receivables (including
future minimum rental payments) both at commencement and throughout the lease term. If our assessment of collectability changes
during the lease term, any difference between the revenue that would have been received under the straight-line method and the
lease payments that have been collected will be recognized as a current period adjustment to rental revenue. Rental revenue
associated with leases where collectability has been deemed less than probable is recognized on a cash basis in accordance with
ASC 842.

Segments

The Company manages its business activities on a consolidated basis and operates as a single operating segment, Industrial
Properties, and as such has one reportable segment. Through its subsidiaries, the Company derives all revenue within the United
States through the ownership and management of single and multi-tenant industrial properties. All revenues, expenses and assets
are attributable to the single segment and are consistent with amounts presented in the consolidated balance sheets and consolidated
statements of operations. All significant expenses are presented on the consolidated statements of operations and no other significant
segment expenses are regularly provided to the CODM.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM?”) is the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. The CODM uses net income that
is reported on the consolidated statements of operations to assess financial performance and make decisions on capital allocation.

The CODM also uses Funds from Operations (“FFO”) and Core Funds from Operations (“Core FFO”) to assess the segment’s
financial performance and to base decisions on capital allocation. FFO is defined as Net income (loss) (calculated in accordance
with GAAP), excluding: (i) Depreciation and amortization related to real estate, (i) Gains and losses from the sale of certain real
estate assets, (iii) Gain and losses from change in control, and (iv) Impairment write-downs of certain real estate assets and
investments in entities when the impairment is directly attributable to decreases in the value of depreciable real estate held by the
entity. Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures will be calculated to reflect FFO on the same basis. We
calculate Core FFO by adjusting FFO for items such as dividends paid or accrued to holders of our preferred stock and redeemable
non-controlling interest, acquisition and transaction related expenses for transactions not completed, gain on financing transaction,
income tax provision, and certain non-cash operating expenses such as our proportionate share of FFO, unrealized loss from interest
rate swap, loss on interest rate swap, appreciation (depreciation) of warrants and loss on extinguishment of debt. The Company's
measure of segment profit or loss is net income as it is the measure determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The CODM uses net income, FFO and Core FFO during the forecasting process, and the results of these measures are used to
evaluate segment performance and to make decisions on allocation of resources to the segment.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company grants stock-based compensation awards to our employees and directors typically in the form of restricted shares
of common stock, and performance stock units for certain executive officers and key employees. The Company measures stock-
based compensation expense based on the fair value of the awards on the grant date and recognizes the expense ratably over the
applicable vesting period. Forfeitures of unvested shares are recognized in the period in which the forfeiture occurs.

Warrants

The Company accounts for its Operating Partnership’s warrants as either derivative liabilities or as equity instruments
depending on the specific terms of the warrant agreement. Warrants that are not considered indexed to the Company’s own stock
are required to be accounted for as a liability. Liability-classified financial instruments are measured at fair market value on the
issuance date and at the end of each reporting period. Any change in the fair market value of the financial instrument after the
issuance date is recorded in the consolidated financial statements through earnings.

Accounting Pronouncements

In 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment
Disclosures, which requires a public entity to disclose significant segment expenses and other segment items on an annual and
interim basis and to provide in interim periods all disclosures about a reportable segment’s profit or loss and assets that are currently
required annually. Public entities with a single reportable segment are required to provide the new disclosures and all the disclosures
required under ASC 280. The guidance is applied retrospectively to all periods presented in the financial statements, unless it is
impracticable. We adopted ASU 2023-07 in the year ended December 31, 2024 and the adoption did not have a material impact on
our consolidated financial statements.
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3. Real Estate Properties, Net
Real estate properties, net consisted of the following at December 31, 2024 and 2023:

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
LANA ittt et e et e et e e e tte e e tbeeeaeeetneeeaae e $ 181,357  § 226,020
Buildings and iMProVEMENTS ..........c..ccuerierieriieiieieeiesieseesteesreeeeseeseesseesseesseesseessesssesseessens 1,114,970 1,203,355
SItE IMPIOVEIMEILS ...e.vvivieivietiestieeieeteesteeteeeseeetesteesseeseessesssesseesseesseesseesseesseessesssesseeseensesssenses 116,341 130,638
CONSIIUCTION TN PTOZIESS ..vveuveenveeueeeuiersierteesteeseeteeseesseesseesseaseesessesseesssesseesseenseesseessesssesseessens 5,637 7,853

1,418,305 1,567,866
Less accumulated depreCiation ..........cc.eeiereieriieieeie e sieeseesteesie e ee e see et enseeneeesaesseesseeseas (261,608) (268,0406)
Real eState PrOPEIties, MET ....eevieiieieeiiertieie et et eee et et et e steeste e e s eeesaeesseenseenseeseeesaenseenseensens $ 1,156,697 $ 1,299,820

Acquisition of Properties

The Company made the following acquisitions of properties during the year ended December 31, 2024:

Date Square Purchase
Location Acquired Feet Properties Price”
Memphis, TN .....oooiiieiieeeee e July 18,2024 1,621,241 4 3 100,500
Cincinnati, OH ...........cccooeiiiiiiieie e December 19, 2024 258,082 5 20,149
Year ended December 31,2024................cccuvveeeee.. 1,879,323 9 § 120,649

(1) Purchase price does not include capitalized acquisition costs.

There were no acquisitions of properties during the year ended December 31, 2023.

1)

The allocation of the aggregate purchase price in accordance with FASB, ASU 2017-01 (Topic 805) “Business Combinations,’
of the assets and liabilities acquired at their relative fair values as of their acquisition date, is as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2024

Weighted
Average
Amortization
Period (years)
Purchase of Intangibles
Purchase price allocation Price at Acquisition
Total Purchase Price
PUTCRASE PIICE ..vviviiiiiiieiieee ettt ettt ettt et et ettt et e b et eebeeaeessessessesseseebeeneesneneas $ 120,649 N/A
ACGUISTEION COSES .vrvvieviitietieteeteettesteesteeseestessteeseesseesseesseessesssesseesseesseessesssesssesseesseensesssenssenseens 1,394 N/A
TOLALL .ttt h bt h ettt b e bt bt h e ea ettt e enes $ 122,043
Allocation of Purchase Price
AN .ottt e e $ 18,667 N/A
BUILAINE. ¢ttt ettt ettt e bt et e s et ettt bt bt st e ne e e et et eneens 86,783 N/A
STLE IMPTOVEIMEIIES.......veeuvieeieetietieieeteetesteesteesteesesstesseesseesseesseesseessesssesseesseesseensesssesseesssesseesensns 4,843 N/A
Total 1€al ESLALE PIOPEITICS .. vvivierieiiietieeteeeteeeteette et et et eteereesaeereeeaeeeseebeesseesseesseessesseesseeseenseannas 110,293
Deferred Lease Intangibles
Tenant relatioNSRIPS ......ccviiiiiieiieicei ettt sttt ettt be b e eraeeaeene e 2,057 4.9
LeaSING COMIMUISSIONS ....cuvvetieutieieeiieeiiesttesteeteeteeetesseeteenteessessaesseesseenseensesnsesssesseesseenseensenssenseens 1,292 4.7
ADOVE MATKEE LEASC .....evivieiieiieie ettt ettt ste et e s e e aeeaesneesseesseenseenseesaenseens 723 6.6
BeloW MAarket IEASE ....c.veeueeieieiiieiiee ettt enaen (1,831) 5.7
T R U o) oSSR PRRSR 9,509 42
Net deferred 1ease iNtan@IDIES .........ceevuieriieiiieiieieriieeee ettt e st e b e nbeeseenees 11,750
TOTALS . e $ 122,043

All acquisitions completed during the year ended December 31, 2024 were considered asset acquisitions under ASC 805.
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Disposition of Real Estate

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company sold a single, 221,911 square foot property located in Kansas City,
MO for approximately $9,150, recognizing a net gain of $849. On August 26, 2024, the Operating Partnership, Isosceles JV
Investments, LLC, an affiliate of Sixth Street Partners, LLC (the “Investor”), and Isosceles JV, LLC, an affiliate of Sixth Street
Partners, LLC (the “Joint Venture”), entered into a Limited Liability Company Interest Contribution Agreement, pursuant to which
the Operating Partnership ultimately contributed (the “Contribution’) 100% of its equity interests in directly and indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiaries owning 34 properties located in and around the Chicago metropolitan statistical area (each, a “Chicago Property”
and, collectively the “Chicago Properties”) to the Joint Venture in exchange for a 35% equity interest. The Joint Venture is owned
35% by Plymouth Chicago Portfolio, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership, and 65% by the Investor. The
Operating Partnership completed the Contribution on November 13, 2024 at which time the Company derecognized the Chicago
Properties and recognized a net gain of $136,751. Refer to Note 5.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company sold a single, 306,000 square foot property located in Chicago, IL for
approximately $19,926, and a single, 157,000 square foot property located in Marlton, NJ for approximately $16,750, recognizing
a net gain of $22,646.

There were no sales of real estate during the year ended December 31, 2022.
4. Deferred Lease Intangibles, Net
Deferred lease intangible assets, net consisted of the following at December 31, 2024 and 2023:

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

ADOVE MATKEL LEASE..... vttt ettt e ettt eaeeeaeeeteeaeenaeeneans $ 6,085 $ 5,652
BT NI U o) Tt TSRS 74,263 88,394
Tenant Te1AtIONSNIPS ...ccuvieeiieiiiecie ettt ettt e et e e et e et e eteeebeeebeeeseeebaeensseessaeesaeeanas 21,717 25,008
Leasing COMMUISSIONS......ccuvieitrierereeitteesteeeiteeesteeeseeesteeeseeesseeseeeseeesesessseenseeenssaensseessseessseenses 36,090 42,437

138,155 161,491
Less accumulated amortiZation............cuieiuiieiuieeciee e eciee ettt ettt e et e e e et eesaeeeeaeeaaeenes (96,478) (110,017)
Deferred lease intan@ible aSSEts, NEt........ccvieruiieiiiiiiieiie e eiee et eee et e et e reeereeeae s $ 41,677 % 51,474

Deferred lease intangible liabilities, net consisted of the following at December 31, 2024 and 2023:

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
BElOW MATKEE LEASES ...ttt ettt ettt eae e eae et et et e e e eaeeaeeaeeaean $ 14,148  $ 19,257
Less accumulated amortiZation............cuieiuiieiiieeciee e eciie et eiee e eiee et e e e eaeeesaeeeaaeenaee e (9,122) (13,213)
Deferred lease intangible [iabilities, Net.........ceoieriirieiierieieeee e $ 5,026 $ 6,044

Projected amortization of deferred lease intangibles for the next five years and thereafter as of December 31,2024 is as follows:

Amortization Net Increase to
Expense Rental Revenue
Related to Related to
Other Above and
Intangible Lease Below Market
Assets and Lease
Year Liabilities Amortization
2025 oottt e et e et e e e e e e s ee st e e e s ees e s ee s $ 13,429 $ (952)
2026 vt e st e e et e st s e e et s s ee e eee e $ 8,843 § (564)
2027 oo et reeeeeae $ 6,235 $ (411)
D028 oo ettt e e e et e e s e e e s e ee s e et r e eer e e s eee e $ 4484 $ (245)
2029 oottt e et e e e e s s e e $ 2,840 $ (324)
TRETEATIET. . .c.cvivieeeet ettt ettt ettt bbb s b te s ssese s essesesbessere s essereaan $ 4,068 § (752)

5. Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures
Isosceles Joint Venture

On November 13, 2024, the Company entered into a venture agreement (“Isosceles Venture Agreement”) to form Isosceles JV,
LLC (“Isosceles” or the “Joint Venture”) with an unrelated third-party partner (the “Sixth Street Partner”). The purpose of the
Isosceles venture is to acquire, manage and develop industrial properties that meet certain criteria as outlined within the Isosceles
Venture Agreement. The Company owns a 35% equity interest in Isosceles. The Company determined the venture was not a variable
interest entity (“VIE”). As a result, the Company used the voting interest model under the accounting standard for consolidation in
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order to determine whether to consolidate the investment. The Company does not have a controlling financial interest in Isosceles
but does exercise significant influence over Isosceles. Therefore, the Company accounts for its investment in Isosceles as an equity
method investment. The Company’s initial investment was funded by a contribution of real estate with a fair value of $356,641. As
of December 31, 2024, the carrying amount of the Company’s investment is $60,156.

The Isosceles Venture Agreement provided for liquidation rights and distribution priorities that were different from the
Company’s stated ownership percentage based on total equity contributions. As such, the Company used the hypothetical-
liquidation-at-book-value method (“HLBV”) to determine its equity in the earnings of Isosceles. The HLBV method is commonly
applied to equity investments in real estate, where cash distribution percentages vary at different points in time and are not directly
linked to an investor's ownership percentage.

AIP Joint Venture

On November 14, 2024, the Company entered into a venture agreement (“AIP Venture Agreement”) to invest in AIP OP, LP
(“AIP OP”). AIP Realty USA, Inc. (“AIP”), an unrelated party to the Company, is the general partner and an investor in AIP OP.
AIP is a real estate investment trust with a portfolio of light industrial flex facilities. The Company’s $2,221 investment in AIP OP
represents an ownership interest of approximately 42%. AIP OP is financed with the equity investments from its members. AIP OP
is a VIE. The Company is not the party with power to direct the activities most significant to the economic performance of AIP OP
and is not the primary beneficiary of AIP. Decision making power is generally held by AIP in its managing role of AIP OP, while
the Company has only protective rights. As such, the Company holds a variable interest in the form of an equity interest in AIP OP
and will account for its investment in AIP OP as an equity method investment. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss is limited
to the potential loss of assets recognized by the Company relating to this entity, which is equal to the Company’s equity interest.
As of December 31, 2024, the carrying amount of the Company’s investment is $2,221.

The AIP Venture Agreement provides for liquidation rights and distribution priorities that were different from the Company’s
stated ownership percentage based on total equity contributions. As such, the Company used the HLBV method to determine its
equity in the earnings of its investment in AIP. The HLBV method is commonly applied to equity investments in real estate, where
cash distribution percentages vary at different points in time and are not directly linked to an investor's ownership percentage.

The Company’s investment allows for conversion from existing A-1 Preferred Units to A-2 Preferred Units upon the closing
of AIP’s acquisition of AllTrades, Inc. The A-1 and A-2 Preferred Units have the same rights; thus, the conversion would not
change the Company’s ownership percentages or provide any additional control or influence over AIP OP. The A-2 Preferred Units
would be eligible for conversion to common units in the parent of AIP, upon an initial public offering. As of December 31, 2024,
none of the events providing for conversion have occurred and the Company will evaluate the impact of the conversion if and when
it occurs.

6. Leases

As a Lessor

Operating [eases

We lease our properties to tenants under agreements that are typically classified as operating leases. We recognize the total
minimum lease payments provided for under the leases on a straight-line basis over the applicable lease term. Many of our leases
have triple-net provisions or modified gross lease expense reimbursement provisions, which entitle us to recover certain operating
expenses such as common area maintenance, insurance, real estate taxes and utilities from our tenants. The recovery of such
operating expenses is recognized in rental revenue in the consolidated statements of operations. Some of our tenants’ leases are
subject to rent increases based on increases in the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”).

As of December 31, 2024, undiscounted future minimum fixed rental payments due under non-cancellable operating leases for
each of the next five years and thereafter were as follows:

Future Minimum

Fixed Rental

Year Payments

200 ettt ettt ettt ettt e ate ettt e hte e bt e e hte e bt e e hte e baeentee e bteenaee e baeenteeenteeenbeeeabeeenbeesnbeeenneenn $ 123,943
2026 ettt ettt et te ettt et e e ettt e ate ettt e hte e ba e e hteeabteentee e bteentee e baeenbee e baeetee e beeenbeeenbeeennee s 101,732
20027 e ettt bt ettt e b e et e e bt e ettt e bt ea bt e e b e e e bt e e b e e e bt e bt e eabeeeab e e e b eeeabeeeabeennbeennbeenee s 76,436
20028 ettt h e bt e bt e e bt e bt e e b et e bt e e bt e bt e e bt e bt e e bt e e b e e e bt e bbe e bt e e beeenbeeeabeeennee s 58,812
20020 ettt e e e e e—ee e t—e e —ee e bae e heeetteebteebeeabeeetaeebeeetteeteeetaeebeeebaeenaeeesbaeeseensbeenraeennres 40,820
BN TS TN () SRS 65,851
Total minimum fiXed reNtal TECEIPES .....eeuvireiiitieiieie ettt ettt sttt e b e ae e e s eseeeseeeneeneeens $ 467,594

These amounts do not reflect future rental revenue from the renewal or replacement of existing leases and excludes tenant
recoveries and rental increases that are not fixed or indexed to CPI.
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The Company includes accounts receivable and straight-line rent receivables within other assets in the consolidated balance
sheets. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, rental revenue was derived from various tenants. As such, future
receipts are dependent upon the financial strength of the lessees and their ability to perform under the lease agreements.

Rental revenue is comprised of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

TNCOME TTOMN LEASES ...ttt $ 147,207  $ 147,293  § 134,252
Straight-line rent adjustments .........c..cccevieriieriieieniereee e (761) 1,944 3,682
TENANT TECOVETICS ....uvveeeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaee e e e e e et eeer e e e eaeeeeereeeeeneeeeennens 49,282 48,302 42,357
Amortization of above market 1€aSes............ccevierieiiinciinieieee e (583) (636) (723)
Amortization of below market 1€ases ...........cocvvveeevieeeiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen 1,787 2,857 3,874

TOMAL ettt ettt e reeeree s $ 196,932  $ 199,760  $ 183,442

Tenant recoveries included within rental revenue for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are variable in nature.

Sales Type Leases

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the tenant occupying a single-tenant industrial property located in Columbus, Ohio,
provided notice of its intention to exercise its option to purchase the property at a fixed price of $21,480. As a result, we reclassified
the respective real estate property to net investment in sales-type lease totaling $21,480 in our consolidated balance sheets, effective
as of the date of tenant notice, in the following amounts: (i) $19,605 from Real estate properties, (ii) $8,094 from Accumulated
depreciation, (iii) $877 from net Deferred lease intangible assets, and (iv) $1,062 from Other assets. Further, we recognized a Gain
on sale of real estate of $8,030 related to this transaction. On August 30, 2024, we completed the sale of the property and recognized
selling costs of $234.

Earnings from our Net investment in sales-type leases are included in Rental revenue in the consolidated statements of
operations and totaled $631, $0 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Prior to this
reclassification to Net investment in sales-type lease, earnings from this lease were recognized in Rental revenue in the consolidated
statements of operations.

Net investment in sales-type leases are assessed for credit loss allowances. No such allowances were recorded as of December
31,2024, 2023 or 2022.

As a Lessee

Operating [eases

As of December 31, 2024, we have four office space operating leases and a single ground operating sublease. The office lease
agreements do not contain residual value guarantees or an option to renew. The ground sublease agreement does not contain residual
value guarantees and includes multiple options to extend the sublease between nineteen and twenty years for each respective option.
The operating leases have remaining lease terms ranging from 0.1 years to 31.0 years, which includes the exercise of a single
twenty-year renewal option pertaining to the ground sublease. The Company’s consolidated balance sheets include the total
operating right-of-use assets within other assets, and lease liabilities within accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities.
As of December 31, 2024, total operating right of use assets and lease liabilities were approximately $4,205 and $4,943,
respectively. The operating lease liability as of December 31, 2024 represents a weighted-average incremental borrowing rate of
4.0% over the weighted-average remaining lease term of 8.0 years. The incremental borrowing rate is our estimated borrowing rate
on a fully-collateralized basis for the term of the respective leases.

As of December 31, 2023, we had five office space operating leases and a single ground operating sublease. The office lease
agreements do not contain residual value guarantees or an option to renew. The ground sublease agreement does not contain residual
value guarantees and includes multiple options to extend the sublease between nineteen and twenty years for each respective option.
The operating leases had remaining lease terms ranging from 0.4 years to 32.0 years, which includes the exercise of a single twenty-
year renewal option pertaining to the ground sublease. The Company’s consolidated balance sheets include the total operating right-
of-use assets within other assets, and lease liabilities within accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities. As of
December 31, 2023, total operating right of use assets and lease liabilities were approximately $4,829 and $5,789, respectively. The
operating lease liability as of December 31, 2023 represents a weighted-average incremental borrowing rate of 4.0% over the
weighted-average remaining lease term of 8.3 years. The incremental borrowing rate is our estimated borrowing rate on a fully-
collateralized basis for the term of the respective leases.

As of December 31, 2022, we had five office space operating leases and a single ground operating sublease. The office lease
agreements do not contain residual value guarantees or an option to renew. The ground sublease agreement does not contain residual
value guarantees and includes multiple options to extend the sublease between nineteen and twenty years for each respective option.
The operating leases had remaining lease terms ranging from 1.4 years to 33.0 years, which includes the exercise of a single twenty-
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year renewal option pertaining to the ground sublease. The Company’s consolidated balance sheets include the total operating right-
of-use assets within other assets, and lease liabilities within accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities. As of
December 31, 2022, total operating right of use assets and lease liabilities were approximately $5,703 and $6,844, respectively. The
operating lease liability as of December 31, 2022 represents a weighted-average incremental borrowing rate of 4.0% over the
weighted-average remaining lease term of 8.6 years. The incremental borrowing rate is our estimated borrowing rate on a fully-
collateralized basis for the term of the respective leases.

The following table summarizes the operating lease expense recognized during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022 included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Operating lease expense included in general and administrative expense
attributable to OffiCE LEASES ....cvovvveveeiicreeiieeeeieeeet e $ 775 $ 772§ 838
Operating lease expense included in property expense attributable to
IOUNA SUDICASE. .....eviiiieiieie et 48 32 36
Non-cash adjustment due to straight-line rent adjustments 178 145 109
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
(operating cash flOWS).........coeeveueuieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 1,001 § 949 § 983

The following table summarizes the maturity analysis of our operating leases, which is discounted by our incremental
borrowing rate to calculate the lease liability as included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities in the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets for the operating leases in which we are the lessee:

Year

2025 ettt ettt ettt et e bt te b e st et e b et Re b et Ae e A e At eRe b e st eRe s eateRe b entete s eneeke s e st be s eseebe s eneeae s enenbensns $ 965
2026 ..ttt ettt ettt et ettt h et ke b ettt s et AR e st st A e At e Rt s enteRe s ent e R se At eReeh e st et e ebe st eseebeneeseeseneenesens 876
2027 ettt ettt ettt et et bt b e st et e b eat et ehenteRe A e Rt Rt A e At e Rt s e st eRe b e At e R e s eneeRe et e st ebe s eneebe s eneeae s enenaenens 894
2028 ettt ettt ettt et ettt et ettt et e st et e b ettt b en e e R R en e Rt h e At Rt A e At Rt s enteRe b e Rt eReeh e st teebentebeebentese s eneenesens 865
2029 ettt ettt ettt et a bttt h e ket e Rt oA e Rt Rt A ea e Rt b en e eh e b en e Rt b ene ek et e st e b et ene b et eneebe e eneebeneene 849
BT T2 N () RPN 1,809
Total minimum OpPerating 1aSe PAYIMEILS ........ccuevuerieriierieeteeieeeesteesteeseesteeseesseesseesseeseessesseesseesseesseesseessesssesseens $ 6,258
LSS TMPULEA TNLETESE ...vvevvieeiieiiiieie ettt ettt et e et e st e ste e bt esbeesaesseesseeseesseesseesseessesssesseessaesseensesnsesssesseenseenseensenssens (1,315)
Total operating 16aSe LHADIIIEY .........cverieriieieeiieiestere ettt ettt e et steeste e beesseessessaesaaesseenseenseessenssensaens $ 4,943

Financing [ eases

As of December 31, 2024, we have a single finance lease in which we are the sublessee for a ground lease. The Company
includes the financing lease right of use asset in the amount of $818 and $845 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively,
within real estate properties and the corresponding liability within financing lease liability in the consolidated balance sheets. The
ground sublease agreement does not contain a residual value guarantee and includes multiple options to extend the sublease between
nineteen and twenty years for each respective option. The lease has a remaining lease term of approximately 31 years, which
includes the exercise of a single twenty-year renewal option. The financing lease liability in the amount of $2,297 and $2,271 as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, represents a weighted-average incremental borrowing rate of 7.8% over the weighted-
average remaining lease term of 31.0 years. The incremental borrowing rate is our estimated borrowing rate on a fully-collateralized
basis for the term of the respective lease.

The following table summarizes the financing lease expense recognized during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022 included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Depreciation/amortization of financing lease right-of-use assets ............... $ 28 S 26§ 28
Interest expense for financing lease liability..........ccccoevievieriiiiiiieiienen, 180 178 176
Total fiNancing 1€aSE COSt......oviiiiiiiieriiiiietieteeee et $ 208§ 204§ 204
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The following table summarizes the maturity analysis of our financing lease:

Year

2025 ettt b h b h e eh et h e eh bt e h e eh et ea et h bt bt bt e heeh s e et et et e st ebenbeebe bt eae s $ 170
2026 .ttt h e bt h e h e eh et b e e h b e h e bt e et ea et eh e bbbt e aeea s ettt be bt ebeebe bt et enten 170
2027 ettt b h bt h ettt h e h bt eh e bt et e a ettt h e eh e bt bt e bt e st ettt eb bbbt eaeas 170
2028 ettt te ettt ettt e eaten s et e bt ahe Rt Rt Rt en s et e b e Rt Rt Rt eRteRtenten b et e Rt eRees e et e entens et e seaseeseeseentansensantn 170
2029 ettt ettt atent e te bttt eh e Rt Rt enteat et e Re st Rt eRteR e enten s e se st eRe Rt et e eneenten s et enseeseeseeneeneeneenen 170
TRETEATIET ...ttt et e e et e e et e e e e e e s eaa e e e e eaeeeeeeaa e e e e nae e e e enat e e e e e e e et e e e eenaeeeeanaes 6,027
Total minimum fiNANCING [€ASE PAYIMENLS .......eeiuvieriieirieeieeiteeeteeseeesteeesteeesteeeteeesaeeestaeeseeesseeseeeseeanseeeseeenseeas $ 6,877
eSS TMPULEA TNEETESE ....eeuvieiiieeiie ettt stte ettt et e et eestteesteeestee e tbeeseeessaeensaeessaeenseesasaeenseeansseenseesnseeanseeenseeenseenn 4,580)
Total fiNanCiNg 168SE THADIIILY .....ecvevvivirieeieiiieietiieieeset ettt ettt eb b seebe s seebe s eseenessenens $ 2,297
7. Indebtedness

The following table sets forth a summary of the Company’s borrowings outstanding under its respective secured debt,
unsecured line of credit and unsecured debt as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Outstanding Balance at Interest rate at

December 31, December 31, December 31,
Debt 2024 2023 2024 Maturity Date
Secured debt:
Ohio National Life Mortgage .......cc.cccevververeeeerierieneeeenns — 18,409 4.14% August 1, 2024
ATHANZ LOAN ..oiiiiiciiice e 60,085 61,260 4.07% April 10, 2026
Nationwide Loan ..........cooovviiieiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 14,632 14,948 2.97% October 1, 2027
Lincoln Life Gateway Mortgage..........cccceveveeeeveneenvenennenne. 28,800 28,800 3.43% January 1, 2028
Minnesota Life Memphis Industrial Loan ...............ccccceeeee.. 53,782 54,956 3.15% January 1, 2028
Midland National Life Insurance Mortgage.............cccceeuenv. — 10,665 3.50% March 10, 2028
Minnesota Life Loan............cccoviiiiiiieeciiiiecie e 19,101 19,569 3.78% May 1, 2028
Transamerica Loan .............ccoceeieeiiiiieiiic e — 59,357 4.35% August 1, 2028
Total secured debt........covevieeeieeeieeeeeeeeeeee e $ 176,400 $ 267,964
Unamortized debt issuance costs, Net ........ccceccveerveerveenneens (408) (1,174)
Unamortized premium/(discount), net........c..ccevvverrrerreennnnne. (12) 97
Total secured debt, net .................ccooeviiiiiiiiiiieieceeee, $ 175980 $ 266,887
Unsecured debt:
$200m KeyBank Term Loan ............ccccoeeeveveeeeveeeeeeeeeenann. 200,000 200,000 3.03%M@ February 11, 2027
$150m KeyBank Term Loan ...........ccccceeeveeieeveieeereeieeeee 150,000 150,000 4.40%1 May 2, 2027
$100m KeyBank Term Loan ............cccoeveveveereveceeeeeeenn. 100,000 100,000 3.00%M@ November 6, 2028
Total unsecured debt........ooveeuieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 450,000 $ 450,000
Unamortized debt issuance costs, Net ........ccccccveevveerveenneenns (2,259) (2,010)
Total unsecured debt, Net..................cooeeveviieiiiiiieeeene, $ 447,741 § 447,990
Borrowings under line of credit:
KeyBank unsecured line of credit.............ccoceveveveecececennnnn. 20,000 155,400 5.89%M November 6, 2028
Total borrowings under line of credit .............................. $ 20,000 $§ 155,400

(1) For the month of December 2024, the one-month term SOFR for our unsecured debt was at a weighted average of 4.520% and the one-month term SOFR for
our borrowings under line of credit was at a weighted average of 4.338%. The spread over the applicable rate for the $100m, $150m, and $200m KeyBank
Term Loans and KeyBank unsecured line of credit is based on the Company’s total leverage ratio plus the 0.1% SOFR index adjustment.

(2) AsofDecember 31, 2024, the one-month term SOFR for the $100m, $150m and $200m KeyBank Term Loans was swapped to a fixed rate of 1.504%, 2.904%,
1.527% respectively.

2024 Debt Activity

On November 13, 2024, the Company repaid in full, the outstanding principal and interest balance of approximately $10,470
on the Midland National Life Insurance Mortgage. The Company also completed an assignment of the Transamerica Loan which
had a remaining principal and interest balance of approximately $56,684 to the Isosceles joint venture.

On November 6, 2024, the Company entered into a $600 million amended and restated unsecured credit facility, comprised of
(1) a revolving credit facility that expands from $350 million to $500 million, maturing in November 2028 and has one, one-year
extension option, subject to certain conditions; and (2) a $100 million term loan that matures in November 2028 and has one, one-
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year extension option, subject to certain conditions. The $100 million term loan replaces the current $100m KeyBank Term Loan
set to mature August 11, 2026. The amended and restated unsecured credit facility includes an accordion feature enabling the
Company to increase the total borrowing capacity under the credit facility and term loans up to an aggregate of $1.5 billion, subject
to certain conditions. Borrowings under the credit agreement, as amended, bear interest at either (1) the base rate (determined as
the highest of (a) KeyBank’s prime rate, (b) the Federal Funds rate plus 0.50% and (c) the Adjusted Term SOFR for a one month
tenor plus 1.0%) or (2) SOFR, plus, in either case, a spread (A) between 35 and 90 basis points for revolver base rate loans or
between 135 and 190 basis points for revolver SOFR rate loans and (B) between 30 and 85 basis points for term base rate loans or
between 130 and 185 basis points for term SOFR rate loans, with the amount of the spread depending on the Company’s total
leverage ratio.

On August 1, 2024, the Company repaid in full, the outstanding principal and interest balance of approximately $18,087 on the
Ohio National Life Mortgage using proceeds from the KeyBank unsecured line of credit.

2023 Debt Activity

On November 1, 2023, the Company repaid in full, the outstanding principal and interest balance of approximately $110,019
on the AIG Loan using proceeds from the KeyBank unsecured line of credit.

Financial Covenant Considerations

The Company is in compliance with all respective financial covenants for our secured and unsecured debt and unsecured line
of credit as of December 31, 2024.

Fair Value of Debt

The fair value of our debt and borrowings under our revolving line of credit was estimated using Level 3 inputs by calculating
the present value of principal and interest payments, using discount rates that best reflect current market interest rates for financings
with similar characteristics and credit quality, and assuming each loan is outstanding through its maturity.

The following table summarizes the aggregate principal outstanding under the Company’s indebtedness and the corresponding
estimate of fair value as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Principal Principal
Indebtedness Outstanding Fair Value Outstanding Fair Value
Secured debt.......covieiiiiiiieee e $ 176,400 $ 166,165 $ 267,964 $ 254,114
Unsecured debt ........oceevierieriieiieiieie e 450,000 450,000 450,000 455,229
Borrowings under line of credit, net ...........cccccveeeveeennen. 20,000 20,000 155,400 155,599
Total ..o 646,400 $ 636,165 $ 873,364 $ 864,942
Unamortized debt issuance cost, net.........ccccveveeneene. (2,667) (3,184)
Unamortized premium/(discount), net ........................ (12) 97
Total carrying value..............cocoevviiiinienieieeeeeee $ 643,721 $ 870,277

Future Principal Payments of Debt

Principal payments on the Company’s long-term debt due in each of the next five years and thereafter as of December 31, 2024
are as follows:

Year Amount

202 ettt ettt ettt e Rt en s ettt eteehtes e entent et et e st oAt eReenteRtea s et e Rt eheeReeR e ensensens e te s e eneeneeseentententesensenns $ 3,246
2026 ettt et ettt ekttt ekt ea e eR e et et ekt Rt Rt eReeR s et et e Rt Rt eh e eReeR e ea e et e be ekt ebeeneen e et enteteeseene e 60,951
20027 ettt et a ettt ekttt ekt ea e ea e et et e bt R e eR e eRteR s ea s et e Rt Rt eR e eR e ee e en e et et et e ebeeheeneentententennenene 365,783
2028 ettt h et eh e ettt e he et ekt ea e eR e et et ekt oA £ eR e eR e eR e ea s et e Rt eheeh e eR e ee e ent et e be ekt ebeeneen e et enteteeneene e 216,420
2029 ettt h e et eh e a e Rttt h e E e ekt Rt eh s et et e bt e bt bt bt ekt et et et bt e bt bt ehe et et et et ene e —
T RETEATTRT ...ttt b et ettt ettt e bbbt st ettt b e eh e bt et e s et e b b eaeeneen —
Total aggregate PrinCipal PAYIMEILS .......c..ecviervieieiieiiestterte et eteeteesteesteeseesbeeseesttesseeseesseessesssesseesseenseenseassenssesseens $ 646,400

8. Derivative Financial Instruments
Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives

The Company is exposed to certain risk arising from both its business operations and economic conditions. The Company
principally manages its exposures to a wide variety of business and operational risks through management of its core business
activities. The Company manages economic risks, including interest rate, liquidity, and credit risk primarily by managing the
amount, sources, and duration of its assets and liabilities and the use of derivative financial instruments. Specifically, the Company
enters into derivative financial instruments to manage exposures that arise from business activities that result in the receipt or
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payment of future known and uncertain cash amounts, the value of which are determined by interest rates. The Company’s derivative
financial instruments are used to manage differences in the amount, timing, and duration of the Company’s known or expected cash
receipts and its known or expected cash payments principally related to the Company’s borrowings.

Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk

The Company’s objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability to interest expense and to manage its exposure
to interest rate movements. To accomplish this objective, the Company primarily uses interest rate swaps as part of its interest rate
risk management strategy. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable amounts from a
counterparty in exchange for the Company making fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange of the
underlying notional amount. During 2024 and 2023, such derivatives were used to hedge the variable cash flows associated with
existing variable-rate debt.

The following table sets forth a summary of our interest rate swaps as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Notional Value" Fair Value®
Interest Rate Swap Trade Effective Maturity SOFR Interest December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Counterparty Date Date Date Strike Rate 2024 2023 2024 2023
Capital One, N.A. July 13,2022  July 1,2022  Feb. 11,2027 1.527% $ 200,000 $ 200,000 $ 10,113 § 12,539
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. July 13,2022  July 1,2022  Aug. 8,2026 1.504% $ 100,000 $ 100,000 $ 3,962 $ 5,692
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. Aug. 19,2022 Sept. 1,2022 May 2, 2027 2.904% $ 75,000 $ 75,000 $ 1,843 $ 1,723
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. Aug. 19,2022 Sept. 1,2022 May 2, 2027 2.904% $ 37,500 $ 37,500 $ 921 § 861
Capital One, N.A. Aug. 19,2022 Sept. 1,2022 May 2, 2027 2.904% $ 37,500 $ 37,500 $ 921 $ 852
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.® Nov. 10,2023 Nov. 10,2023 Nov. 1, 2025 4.750% $ 50,000 $ 50,000 $ (258)$ (577)
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.®  Nov. 10,2023 Nov. 10,2023 Nov. 1, 2025 4.758% $ 25,000 $ 25,000 $ 131)$ (292)
Capital One, N.A. @ Nov. 10,2023 Nov. 10,2023 Nov. 1, 2025 4.758% $ 25,000 $ 25,000 $ (131 $ (292)

(1) Represents the notional value of interest rate swaps effective as of December 31, 2024.

(2) As of December 31, 2024, the fair value of five of the interest rate swaps were in an asset position of approximately $17.8 million and the remaining three
interest rate swaps were in a liability position of approximately $0.5 million. As of December 31, 2023, the fair value of five of the interest rate swaps were in
an asset position of approximately $21.7 million and the remaining three interest rate swaps were in a liability position of approximately $1.2 million.

(3) As of December 31, 2024, these interest rate swaps have been de-designated as a result of the hedge transactions related to these swaps no longer being
probable of occurring.

For derivatives designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk, the gain or loss on the derivative is recorded
in accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) and subsequently reclassified into interest expense in the same period during
which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Amounts reported in AOCI related to derivatives will be reclassified to interest
expense as interest payments are made on the Company’s variable-rate debt. During the next twelve months, the Company estimates
that an additional $13,009 will be reclassified as a decrease to interest expense. The ineffective portion of the change in fair value
of the derivatives is recognized directly in earnings. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded a loss of $481
within Loss on interest rate swap on the consolidated statements of operations as a result of the discontinuance of cash flow hedges
due to forecasted transactions that were no longer expected to occur and $62 related to unrealized loss from ineffective hedges, of
which $39 is recorded within Unrealized loss from interest rate swap and $23 is recorded within Interest expense on the consolidated
statements of operations. There were no ineffective hedges for the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022.

The following table sets forth the impact of our interest rate swaps on our consolidated financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Year Ended December 31,
Interest Rate Swaps in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships: 2024 2023 2022
Amount of unrealized gain (loss) recognized in AOCI on derivatives........ $ (3,227) $ (9,609) $ 30,115
Total interest expense presented in the consolidated statements of
operations in which the effects of cash flow hedges are recorded............. $ 14988 § 13,959 § 3,643

Non-designated Hedges

The following table summarizes the Company’s derivatives not designated as hedging instruments for the year ended December
31,2024, 2023 and 2022:

Amount of gain (loss) recognized in net income on
derivatives for the year ended,

December 31, December 31, December 31,
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments 2024 2023 2022
INLETESE TATE SWAPS.....cvvveieeretieeeeeeeeeeteteeeteteee et eseeeseses s e eee e eseas s s eesneseenas $ (62) $ — 3 —
TOUAL. ..ottt ettt $ (62) $ — —
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Fair Value of Interest Rate Swaps

The Company’s valuation of the interest rate swaps is determined using widely accepted valuation techniques including
discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each derivative. This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the
derivatives, including the period to maturity, and uses observable market-based inputs including interest rate curves.

The Company incorporates credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own nonperformance risk and the
respective counterparty’s nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. In adjusting the fair value of its derivative contracts
for the effect of nonperformance risk, the Company has considered the impact of netting and any applicable credit enhancements,
such as collateral postings, thresholds, mutual puts, and guarantees.

Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current
credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its counterparties. However, as of December 31, 2023, and 2024,
the Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative
positions and has determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of its derivatives. As
a result, the Company has determined that its derivative valuations in their entirety are classified in Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

Credit-risk-related Contingent Features

The Company has agreements with each of its derivative counterparties that contain a provision where if the Company either
defaults or is capable of being declared in default on any of its indebtedness, then the Company could also be declared in default
on its derivative obligations. Specifically, the Company could be declared in default on its derivative obligations if repayment of
the underlying indebtedness is accelerated by the lender due to the Company's default on the indebtedness.

As of December 31, 2024, the fair value of three of the eight interest rate swaps were in a net liability position. As of December
31, 2024, the Company has not posted any collateral related to these agreements. If the Company had breached any of these
provisions at December 31, 2024, it could have been required to settle its obligations under the agreements at their termination
value.

9. Common Stock
ATM Program

On February 27, 2024, the Company and the Operating Partnership entered into a distribution agreement with certain sales
agents, forward sellers and forward purchasers, as applicable, pursuant to which the Company may issue and sell, from time to time,
shares of its common stock, with aggregate gross proceeds not to exceed $200,000 through an “at-the-market” equity offering
program (the “2024 $200 Million ATM Program™). The 2024 $200 Million ATM Program replaced the previous $200 million ATM
program, which was entered into on February 28, 2023 (“2023 $200 Million ATM Program”).

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company did not issue any shares of its common stock under the 2024 $200 Million
ATM Program or 2023 $200 Million ATM Program. The Company has approximately $200,000 available for issuance under the
2024 $200 Million ATM Program.

Common Stock Warrants

On March 23, 2022, the common stock warrants were exercised in full and converted on a cashless basis, resulting in 139,940
shares of common stock transferred to the holder of the warrants at a fair value of $3,757. Prior to the full exercise of the common
stock warrants, the Company had warrants outstanding to acquire 354,230 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise
price of $16.24 per share. The warrants were accounted for as a liability within accounts payable, accrued expenses and other
liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as they contained provisions that are considered outside of the
Company’s control, such as the holders’ option to receive cash in lieu and other securities in the event of a reorganization of the
Company’s common stock underlying such warrants. The fair value of these warrants was re-measured at each financial reporting
period with any changes in fair value recognized as an appreciation/depreciation of warrants in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. The warrants were not included in the computation of diluted net loss per share as they were anti-dilutive
during the years ended December 31, 2022. No warrants remained outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2024.

A roll-forward of the warrants is as follows:

Balance at JANUATY 1, 2022 ........oooiiiiiiiii ettt e et e et e e teeeteeebeeebeeebeeebeeebaeanbaeebaeebeeebaeenreeans $ 5,517
ApPPreciation/(AEPrECIATION) .......c.veevierieiieeieitteeteeteete et e etee st e st ebeesseessesseesteesseesseessesssesssesseenseasseessesssesssesseanseennas (1,760)
Balance at March 23, 2022 (€XerciSe date)............cceeriiiiiiiniiiiiiieiieeiieeete et see st e e seeesaeessaeeseaeessaeessaeenseeens 3,757
Conversion 0f COMMON STOCK WATTANES ......ccuviiruieeiieriiesieesteesteesteeseeestteeseeeesteeeseesseeeseeesaeessaeeseeesessnseeeseeans (3,757)
Balance at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 ..........oooooiiiiieeee e e e S —
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Common Stock Dividends

The following table sets forth the common stock distributions that were declared during the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023.

Cash Dividends
Declared per Aggregate
Share Amount

2024

FATSE QUATTET «.....veeeeeee ettt ettt ettt ee et ee et es s eseaenseseseasesesensesesennesenas $ 0.2400 $ 10,904

SCCONA QUATTET.....ecuvieeiieiieciieie ettt ettt ettt e steesbeebeesaesseesseesseesseenseessessaesseesseensennnas 0.2400 10,928

TRIC QUATTET o..vvevvieeiicee ettt ettt ettt et eeeaesteesbaebeesseessesnneeseeseenns 0.2400 10,927

FOUITh QUATTET....c.viiiiiiiiciieceee ettt ettt sbe e beenseessesaeeereenseenns 0.2400 10,926

TOLAL ...ttt bbbttt e enes $ 0.9600 $ 43,685
2023

FATSE QUATTET «.....ceceeeeecee ettt ettt ettt e e s ee s eeeses e e eeeeeaseseseasesesenseneseenesens $ 02250 $ 9,682

SECONA QUATTET.....ecvvieeiietiectiesie ettt ettt ettt et e etaeste e beebeesaesseesseesseesseenseessessaesseesseensennnas 0.2250 9,709

TRICA QUATTET o..vvevvieiiieiie ettt ettt te ettt e et eetaestaesbeebeenseensesnnesseesseenns 0.2250 10,193

FOUITN QUATTET...c.viiiiiiii ettt ettt e sbaesbeesseessesaseeseesseenns 0.2250 10,193

TOLAL ...ttt bttt $ 0.9000 $ 39,777

Characterization of Common Stock Dividends

Earnings and profits (as defined under the Internal Revenue Code), the current and accumulated amounts of which determine
the taxability of distributions to stockholders, vary from net income attributable to common stockholders and taxable income
because of the different depreciation recovery periods, depreciation methods, and other items. Distributions in excess of earnings
and profits generally constitute a return of capital. The following table shows the characterization of the distributions on the
Company’s common stock for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Cash Ordinary Capital Gain Return of
Declaration Date Date of Record Payable Date Distribution Dividend Distribution Capital
2/21/2024 3/28/2024 4/30/2024 $ 0.240000 $ — §$ 0.240000 $ —
6/14/2024 6/28/2024 7/31/2024 $ 0.240000 $ — $ 0.240000 $ —
9/13/2024 9/30/2024 10/31/2024 $  0.240000 $ — $ 0.240000 $ —
12/13/2024 12/31/2024 1/31/2025 $ 0.240000 $ — $ 0.240000 $ —

10. Preferred Stock
Series A Preferred Stock

In the fourth quarter of 2017, the Company completed the offering of 2,040,000 shares of 7.50% Series A Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Stock (“Series A Preferred Stock™), including 240,000 shares exercised under the underwriter’s over-
allotment, at a per share price of $25.00 for net cash proceeds of $48,868. The offering of the Series A Preferred Stock was registered
with the SEC, pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-11 declared effective on October 18, 2017.

On September 6, 2023 (“Redemption Date”), the Series A Preferred Stock was redeemed in cash at a redemption price equal
to $25.00 per share, and a dividend in the amount of $0.34647 per share of Series A Preferred Stock was paid in cash to holders of
record at the close of business on August 25, 2023. As of the Redemption Date and through December 31, 2023, the shares of Series
A Preferred Stock were no longer outstanding. The Company repurchased and retired 1,730 shares of Series A Preferred Stock prior
to the Redemption Date during the year ended December 31, 2023. The Company had no outstanding Series A Preferred Stock as
of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The relevant features of the Series A Preferred Stock were as follows:
Liquidation Rights

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of the affairs of the Company, the holders
of shares of the Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Company available for distribution to
its stockholders as set forth below, before any payment shall be made to the holders of Common Stock, an amount per share equal
to $25.00 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends.

Redemption Rights
Holders of the Series A Preferred Stock have the right to require the Company to redeem for cash, their shares of Series A

Preferred Stock in the event of a change in control of the Company or a delisting of the Company’s shares. The Company also has
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the right to redeem the shares of Series A Preferred Stock in the event of a change in control of the Company or a delisting of the
Company’s shares. Since this contingent redemption right is outside of the control of the Company, the Company has presented its
Series A Preferred Stock as temporary equity. The redemption price is $25.00 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends.

The Company has the right to redeem the Series A Preferred Stock at its option commencing on December 31, 2022 at $25.00
per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends.

Conversion
The shares of Series A Preferred Stock are not convertible.
Voting Rights

Holders of shares of the Series A Preferred Stock generally do not have any voting rights, except in the event dividends are in
arrears for six or more quarterly periods (whether or not consecutive), the number of directors of the Company’s board of directors
will automatically be increased by two and holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class with any
other then-outstanding class or series of capital stock ranking on parity with the Series A Preferred Stock upon which like voting
rights have been conferred and are exercisable, or collectively, any Voting Preferred Stock and the holders of Series A Preferred
Stock will be entitled to vote for the election of two additional directors to serve on our board of directors, until all unpaid dividends
for past dividend periods shall have been paid in full.

Protective Rights

As long as the shares of Series A Preferred Stock remain outstanding, the Company cannot, without the affirmative vote or
consent of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock voting together as a single class
with any voting preferred stock, among other things, authorize, create or issue, or increase the number of authorized or issued shares
of, any class or series of capital stock ranking senior to the Series A Preferred Stock with respect to payment of dividends or the
distribution of assets upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or reclassify any of our authorized capital stock into such
capital stock, or create, authorize or issue any obligation or security convertible into or evidencing the right to purchase such capital
stock.

Dividend Rights

When, as and if authorized by our board of directors, holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive cumulative
cash dividends from, and including, the issue date, payable quarterly in arrears on the last day of March, June, September and
December of each year, beginning on December 31, 2017 until December 31, 2024, at the rate of 7.5% per annum on the $25.00
liquidation preference per share (equivalent to a fixed annual rate of $1.875 per share (“Initial Rate™)).

On and after December 31, 2024, if any shares of Series A Preferred Stock are outstanding, the Company will pay cumulative
cash dividends on each then-outstanding share of Series A Preferred Stock at an annual dividend rate equal to the Initial Rate plus
an additional 1.5% of the liquidation preference per annum, which will increase by an additional 1.5% of the liquidation preference
per annum on each subsequent December 31 thereafter, subject to a maximum annual dividend rate of 11.5% while the Series A
Preferred Stock remains outstanding.

The following table sets forth the Series A Preferred Stock dividends that were declared or paid during the year ended December
31,2023.

Cash Dividends
Declared per Aggregate
Share Amount
2023
FATSE QUATTET ...ttt ettt s et as st s st et e s s s ess s s se e sens $ 0468750 S 916
SECONA QUATLET ......eeeiieiiieeieeetee ettt st e et e e et eesbe e st e e ssbeessbeeesseeesseesnseensseesnseensss 0.468750 916
THILA QUATTET......vieetieiieteecte ettt ettt et e e e eaaeeaeeeteebeenseenseessesssesseeeeas 0.346470 677
FOUITN QUATTET ....veeeieeieeee ettt ettt e et e et e e sbeesabeessbaeenseesnsaeenseesnsaeenseean — —
TOtAL ...ttt st $ 1.283970 § 2,509

No Series A Preferred Stock were outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2024, and as such no dividends were
declared or paid during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Series B Preferred Stock

On December 14, 2018, the Company, in a private placement exempt from registration under the federal securities laws (the
“Private Placement”), completed the offering of 4,411,764 shares of the Company’s Series B Convertible Redeemable Preferred
Stock (the “Series B Preferred Stock™) at a purchase price of $17.00 per share for an aggregate consideration of $75,000 (the
“Purchase Price”) or $71,800, net of issuance costs.
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On April 29, 2022, 2,205,882 shares of the Company’s Series B Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock were converted to
our common stock on a one-to-one basis.

On August 12, 2022, the holder of the Company's Series B Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock informed the Company
that it had elected to convert the remaining 2,205,882 shares of Series B Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock into the
Company's common stock. Pursuant to the terms of the Series B Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock agreement, the Company
elected a combination settlement comprised of 1,915,511 shares of common stock and $15,000 in cash, which was settled on August
17,2022.

The Company had no outstanding Series B Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.
The relevant features of the Series B Preferred Stock were as follows:
Liquidation Preference

The Series B Preferred Stock ranks senior to the shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the
“Common Stock™), and ranks on a parity with the shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock, in each case, with respect to
dividend rights and rights on the distribution of assets on any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the
affairs of the Company. The shares of Series B Preferred Stock have a Liquidation Preference, (Series B Liquidation Preference)
which is defined as an amount per share equal to the greater of (a) an amount necessary for the investor to receive a 12.0% annual
internal rate of return on the issue price of $17.00, taking into account dividends paid from December 14, 2018 until (i) the date of
the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company, (ii) the Conversion Date, or (iii)
the Redemption Date, as the case may be, and (b) $21.89 (subject to adjustment), plus accrued and unpaid dividends through and
including (x) the date of such voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company, (y) the
Conversion Date, or (z) the Redemption Date, as the case may be. For the year ended December 31, 2022, accretion recorded in
relation to the 12% annual internal rate of return and offering costs was $4,621.

Redemption Rights

The Company and the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock each have the right to redeem the shares of the Series B Preferred
Stock upon certain change of control events, including a delisting of the Company’s common stock. At the option of each holder of
Series B Preferred Stock, the Company shall redeem all of the Series B Preferred Stock at a price equal to the greater of (1) an
amount in cash equal to 100% of the Liquidation Preference thereof and (2) the consideration the holders would have received if
they had converted their shares of Series B Preferred Stock into Common Stock immediately prior to the change of control event.
At any time, following December 31, 2022, the Company may elect to redeem up to fifty percent (50.0%) of the outstanding shares
of Series B Preferred Stock, and at any time following December 31, 2023, the Company may elect to redeem up to one hundred
percent (100.0%) of the outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock for an amount in cash per share of Series B Preferred Stock
equal to the Redemption Price per share of Series B Preferred Stock. The Redemption Price is defined as the greater of (i) the
Liquidation Preference per share of Series B Preferred Stock as of the Redemption Date or (ii) the 20-day volume weighted average
price per share; provided, however, following such time as the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock that shall have been
redeemed is equal to the maximum number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock that can be converted (whether into cash or shares
of Common Stock) such that, if all such shares of Series B Preferred Stock had been converted into Common Stock, the certain
percentage investment ownership thresholds would have been reached (but not exceeded), the Redemption Price shall be equal to
the Liquidation Preference.

Since the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock have a contingent redemption right that is outside the control of the Company,
the Company has presented its Series B Preferred Stock as temporary equity.

Conversion Rights

The holders of the Series B Preferred Stock have the right to convert their shares of Series B Preferred Stock commencing
January 1, 2022. Beginning January 1, 2022, if the 20-day volume weighted average price per share of Common Stock is equal to
or exceeds $26.35 (subject to adjustment), the Company has the right to convert each share of Series B Preferred Stock.
Commencing December 31, 2024, the Series B Preferred Stock, subject to availability of funds, are to be automatically converted.

Any conversion of shares of Series B Preferred Stock may be settled by the Company, at its option, in shares of Common Stock,
cash or any combination thereof. However, unless and until the Company’s stockholders have approved the issuance of greater than
19.99% of the outstanding Common Stock as of the date of the closing of the Private Placement (December 14, 2018) as required
by the NYSE rules and regulations (“stockholder approval”), the Series B Preferred Stock may not be converted into more than
19.99% of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock as of the date of the closing of the Private Placement. In addition, the
Company cannot opt to convert the Series B Preferred Stock into more than 9.9% of the outstanding Common Stock without
approval of the holders of Series B Preferred Stock.

The initial conversion rate is one share of Series B Preferred Stock for one share of Common Stock, subject to proportionate
adjustments for certain transactions affecting the Company’s securities such as stock dividends, stock splits, combinations and other
corporate reorganization events, provided that the value of the Common Stock, determined in accordance with terms of the Articles
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Supplementary is equal to or greater that the liquidation preference of the Series B Preferred Stock. To the extent the Company
opts to settle the conversion of shares of Series B Preferred Stock in cash, (1) until such time as the maximum number of shares of
Series B Preferred Stock have been converted such that, if all such shares had been converted into Common Stock, stockholder
approval would be necessary to convert additional shares into Common Stock, the Company will pay cash equal to the greater of
the liquidation preference or the 20-day volume weighted average price per share (20 Day VWAP), and (2) following such time,
the Company will pay cash equal to the liquidation preference per share of Series B Preferred Stock. On December 31, 2024, all
issued and outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock are required to convert at the Settlement Amount as of that date, provided,
however, that prior to the receipt of stockholder approval, conversion of the Series B Preferred Stock into Common Stock shall be
subject to the 19.99% threshold; provided, further, however, that prior to the receipt of the 10.0% Consent, conversion of the Series
B Preferred Stock into Common Stock shall be subject to the 10.0% threshold. The Settlement Amount is defined as follows:

« IfaPhysical Settlement is elected by the Company, the Company shall deliver to the converting holder in respect of each
share of Series B Preferred Stock being converted a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the greater of (i) one (1)
share of Common Stock or (ii) the quotient of the Liquidation Preference divided by the 20-Day VWAP;

e Ifa Cash Settlement is elected by the Company, the Company shall pay to the converting holder in respect of each share
of Series B Preferred Stock being converted into cash in an amount equal to the greater of (i) the Liquidation Preference
or (ii) the 20-Day VWAP. This Cash Settlement is without regard to the 10.0% Threshold or the 19.99% Threshold;
provided, however, following such time as the maximum number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock have been converted
pursuant to this Conversion Section (whether into cash or shares of Common Stock) such that, if all such shares of Series
B Preferred Stock had been converted into Common Stock (disregarding the 10.0% Threshold), the 19.99% Threshold
would have been reached (but not exceeded), the Cash Settlement Amount shall be equal to the Liquidation Preference;
and

» Ifa Combination Settlement is elected by the Company, the Company shall pay or deliver, as the case may be, in respect
of each share of Series B Preferred Stock being converted, a Settlement Amount equal to, at the election of the Company,
either (i) cash equal to the Cash Settlement Amount or (ii) a number of shares of Common Stock; provided, however, that
any Physical Settlement or Combination Settlement shall be subject to (i) the 10.0% Threshold until such time as the 10.0%
Consent is received and (ii) the 19.99% Threshold until such time as the stockholder approval is received.

Voting Rights

Holders of the Series B Preferred Stock generally do not have any voting rights, except in the event dividends are in arrears for
six or more quarterly periods (whether or not consecutive), the number of directors of the Company’s board of directors will
automatically be increased by two and holders of Series B Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class with the holders of the
Series A Preferred or any other then-outstanding class or series of capital stock ranking on parity with the Series B Preferred Stock
upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable, or collectively, any Voting Preferred Stock and the holders
of Series B Preferred Stock will be entitled to vote for the election of two additional directors to serve on our board of directors,
until all unpaid dividends for past dividend periods shall have been paid in full.

After December 31, 2024, holders of Series B Preferred Stock will be entitled to vote as a single class with the holders of
Common Stock on an as-converted basis (up to a maximum of 19.99% of the Common Stock outstanding on the date of the closing
of the Private Placement, unless stockholder approval has been received).

Protective Rights

The Company is required to obtain an affirmative vote of a majority of the holders of Series B Preferred Stock to (i) authorize,
create, issue or increase, or reclassify any class of capital stock into any class or series of Senior Equity Securities or Parity Equity
Securities (as such terms are defined in the Articles Supplementary), (ii) authorize any class of partnership interests in the Operating
Partnership that are senior to the partnership interests currently in existence, (iii) amend, alter, repeal or otherwise change the rights,
preferences, preferences, privileges or powers of the Series B Preferred Stock, (iv) approve any dividend other than cash dividends
paid in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, or required to be paid by the Company to maintain REIT status,
(v) affect any voluntary deregistration under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or voluntary delisting with the
NYSE with respect to the Common Stock, (vi) incur any indebtedness in excess of the limits set forth in the Articles Supplementary,
(vii) adopt a “poison pill” or similar anti-takeover agreement or plan, and (viii) following December 31, 2024, enter into a Change
in Control Transaction (as defined in the Articles Supplementary) or make certain acquisitions.

Dividend Rights

The Series B Preferred Stock bears cumulative dividends, payable in cash, at a rate equal to (a) 3.25% for the period from the
issue date through and including December 31, 2019, (b) 3.50% from January 1, 2020 through and including December 31, 2020,
(c) 3.75% from January 1, 2021 through and including December 31, 2021, (d) 4.00% from January 1, 2022 through and including
December 31, 2022, (e) 6.50% from January 1, 2023 through and including December 31, 2023, (f) 12.00% from January 1, 2024
through and including December 31, 2024 and (g) 15.00% from and after January 1, 2025. Dividends on the Series B Preferred
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Stock are payable quarterly in arrears on January 15, April 15, July 15 and October 15 of each year or, if such date is not a Business
Day, on the immediately succeeding Business Day.

No Series B Preferred Stock were outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, as such no dividends were
declared for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

11. Non-Controlling Interests
Operating Partnership Units

In connection with prior acquisitions of real estate property, the Company, through its Operating Partnership, had issued OP
Units to the former owners as part of the acquisition consideration. The holders of the OP Units are entitled to receive distributions
concurrent with the dividends paid on our common stock. The holders of the OP Units can also elect to tender their respective OP
Units for redemption by the Company for cash, or, at our election, for shares of our common stock on a 1-to-1 basis. Upon
conversion, the Company adjusts the carrying value of non-controlling interest to reflect its modified share of the book value of the
Operating Partnership. Such adjustments are recorded to additional paid-in capital as a reallocation of non-controlling interest on
the accompanying consolidated statements of changes in preferred stock and equity.

No OP Units were redeemed during the year ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

The Company adjusted the carrying value of non-controlling interest to reflect its share of the book value of the Operating
Partnership reflecting the change in the Company’s ownership of the Operating Partnership. Such adjustments are recorded to
additional paid-in capital as a reallocation of non-controlling interest on the accompanying consolidated statements of changes in
preferred stock and equity. 490,299 OP Units were outstanding as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

The following table sets forth the OP Unit distributions that were declared during the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023.

Cash Distributions

Declared per Aggregate
OP Unit Amount
2024
FATSE QUATTET. ... cveviteeietit ettt ettt ettt ettt b et et e b st e b eseebe s eseete s eseesesns $ 0.2400 $ 118
SECONA QUATLET ...ttt ettt ettt st e b e et e et e ssee st et e enseesseeseesseenseenseennes 0.2400 118
TRIFA QUATTET ...ttt ettt ettt et e st e e et ebeemeeeneeeneesneenneenes 0.2400 118
FOUITh QUATTET ...eeeee ettt e e e 0.2400 118
TOEAL......oeiiiiceietiee ettt ettt ettt b st b b teeb e se b e b eseebe s neeae s neese s e $ 0.9600 $ 472
2023
FATSE QUATTET ... cvevieteeieti ettt ettt ettt ettt b et et se et e b eseebe s esseseseseesesens $ 02250 $ 110
SECONA QUATTET ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e et e st e sae et e enteesteeseesaeenseeneeenees 0.2250 110
TRIFA QUATTET ...ttt ettt e ettt et et s e s bt et e bt e e eneeeneesneeneeenes 0.2250 110
FOUItN QUATTET ....veeeeieieeeee ettt et e st e e seb e e s aaeesabeeessaesaseesnsaensseas 0.2250 110
TOEAL......eiviiceieiec ettt ettt ettt b st b b seeb e s b e b ese b b ne et s s se s e $ 0.9000 $ 440

The proportionate share of the net income (loss) attributed to the OP Units was $1,520, $147 and ($210) for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Redeemable Non-controlling Interest - Series C Preferred Units

On August 26, 2024, the Company, through its Operating Partnership, issued 60,910 Non-Convertible Cumulative Series C
Preferred Units (“Series C Preferred Units™), at a price of $1,000 per Series C Preferred Unit, for gross proceeds of $60,910, net of
$7,280 in investor fees to be paid in four equal installments at closing and each anniversary over the next three years and $4,068
issuance costs, to the Investor pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement (‘“Purchase Agreement”). Bundled with the issuance
0f 60,910 Series C Preferred Units, the Company, through its Operating Partnership, also issued (i) a forward contract, pursuant to
which the Operating Partnership will sell an additional 79,090 Series C Preferred Units at a price of $1,000 per Series C Preferred
Unit within 270 days upon execution of the Purchase Agreement, and (ii) warrants that are exercisable into 11,760,000 of OP Units
(“Warrants”). Refer to Note 14 for details.

The Company has classified the Series C Preferred Units as redeemable non-controlling interests within the mezzanine equity
section of the consolidated balance sheets as it includes a redemption feature outside the control of the Company. The forward
contract asset requires the issuance of additional shares of Series C Preferred Units, is therefore indexed to a contingent obligation
to redeem our own stock and settle in cash, and therefore is required to be classified as an asset (or liability as the case may be) and
recorded at fair value with changes in value recognized in earnings. As discussed in Note 14, the Warrants are liability-classified
with an initial fair value at issuance of $89,856, with subsequent changes in its fair value recognized in earnings. The net proceeds
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at issuance were first attributed to the Warrants and the forward contract asset, resulting in the Company recording a loss on issuance
of $19,400 and initially recording the Series C Preferred Units for a nominal amount of $0.01. Issuance costs are expensed as
incurred and included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations within Gain on financing transaction.

While the Series C Preferred Units can be redeemed contingent upon the occurrence of a person or group becoming the owner
of 50% or more of the total voting power of all shares of the Company’s capital stock, the consummation of a consolidation, merger
or similar transaction involving the Operating Partnership or the Company, or if the Company’s common stock (the “Common
Stock”) is delisted from the New York Stock Exchange, or cease to be traded in contemplation of a delisting of such shares of
Common Stock (simply, upon a “Fundamental Change”), the occurrence of a Fundamental Change is not within the control of the
Company. The Company determined that the occurrence of a Fundamental Change is not probable; as a result, the carrying amount
of the Series C Preferred Units will not be required to be accreted to redemption value until the Series C Preferred Units either
become currently redeemable or probable of becoming redeemable.

The relevant features of the Series C Preferred Units are as follows:
Liquidation Rights

In the event the Operating Partnership voluntarily or involuntarily liquidates, dissolves or winds up, the holders of Series C
Preferred Units at the time will be entitled to receive liquidating distributions in an amount equal to the “Liquidation Preference.”
The Liquidation Preference is calculated as the greater of: (i) the $1,000 stated value of the Series C Preferred Units plus accrued
and unpaid distributions on the Series C Preferred Units through the applicable liquidation date, or (ii) an amount of cash for each
Series C Preferred Unit equal to $1,350 less the aggregate amount of Cash Distributions (as defined below) actually paid in respect
of each Series C Preferred Unit after the issue date and through the applicable liquidation date.

The liquidating distributions will be paid out of assets legally available for distribution and before any distribution of assets are
made to holders of any other junior securities of the Operating Partnership.

Redemption Rights

The Operating Partnership shall have the right, at its option, to redeem the Series C Preferred Units, in whole or in part, at any
time in a cash amount equal to the liquidation preference in effect at the time of such redemption.

If the Operating Partnership or the Company executes an agreement whose performance would constitute a Fundamental
Change, then the Operating Partnership shall be required to redeem the Series C Preferred Units, in whole, on the applicable
redemption date at a price equal to the Liquidation Preference, to the extent the Operating Partnership has funds legally available
to do so.

Voting Rights
Holders of the Series C Preferred Units will not be entitled to vote on any matter or to participate in any meeting of partners.
Dividend Rights

Holders are entitled to receive, on a cumulative basis, (i) distributions in the form of fully paid Series C Preferred Units known
as “PIK Distributions” which will be payable at the “PIK Distribution Rate” and (ii) distributions in the form of cash known as
“Cash Distributions” which will be payable at the “Cash Distribution Rate.” The PIK Distributions and Cash Distributions will be
payable quarterly in arrears on January 15, April 15, July 15 and October 15 of each year.

The Cash Distribution Rate is a rate per annum equal to (a) 4.0% within the first 5 years after August 26, 2024, the (“Original
Issue Date”), (b) 8.0% in the 6th and 7th years after the Original Issue Date, and (c) 12.0% starting from the 8th year after the
Original Issue Date and each subsequent year thereafter.

The PIK Distribution Rate is a rate per annum equal to (a) within the first 5 years after the Original Issue Date, 7.0% less the
applicable Cash Distribution Rate, (b) in the 6th and 7th years after the Original Issue Date, the greater of: (i) 12.0% or (ii) SOFR
plus 650 basis points less the applicable Cash Distribution Rate, and (c) from the 8th year after the Original Issue Date and each
subsequent year thereafter, the greater of (i) 16.0% or (i1) SOFR plus 1,050 basis points, less the applicable Cash Distribution Rate.

Distributions on each Series C Preferred Unit will accrue on the $1,000 stated value of each Series C Preferred Unit as well as
on all unpaid distributions that have accrued and accumulated for all prior distribution periods. Unpaid distributions incurred as of
the end of the quarter are accreted and accumulated with prior unpaid distributions within redeemable non-controlling interest —
Series C Preferred Units on our consolidated balance sheets and as an adjustment to net income (loss) within the consolidated
statements of operations. Any cash distributions paid are recorded as an adjustment to the carrying value of the redeemable non-
controlling interest — Series C Preferred Units on our consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2024, the $1,259 reflected
within redeemable non-controlling interest — Series C Preferred Units represents the cash and PIK dividends accrued as of December
31, 2024.

The following table sets forth the Series C Preferred Unit distributions that were incurred during the third and fourth quarter of
2024. There were no distributions incurred prior to the third quarter of 2024.
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Aggregate
Cash Dividends Amount
2024 per Unit in Dollars
TRIEA QUATTET ...ttt ettt ettt et ae et et e s e et et eneete et eneeaeeseneerena $ 400 $ 243
FOUIN QUATTET ...ttt ettt et e et e et e et e ebaeeseeebaeesaeessaeensneenens 10.14 618
TORAL ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et et ete b et et e eb et te e b e st ete b et et e eb et eseebe b eseesenseseerennas $ 1414  $ 861
Aggregate
PIK Dividends Amount
2024 per Unit in Dollars
TRIEA QUATTET ...ttt ettt et et ettt ettt et et ess et et easete et essese s esserena $ 3.00 S 183
FOUIN QUATTET ..ottt ettt e et e et e et e et e e ebaeeaeeetaeeneeeaseeaneenens 7.54 459
TOEAL ...ttt bt ettt b e bbb ettt nae e $ 1054 § 642

Fair Market Value of the Forward Contract Asset

The forward contract asset represents the fair market value of the Company’s obligation to sell the additional 79,090 Series C
Preferred Units within 270 days upon the execution of the Purchase Agreement. The fair value of the forward contract asset is re-
measured at each financial reporting period with any changes in fair value recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements
of operations within Gain on financing transaction.

A roll-forward of the forward contract asset is as follows:

Balance upon issuance AUGUSE 26, 2024 .................occoeiiieierieiiiee ittt ettt eta bbbt e eteeseeenensenbesens $ 10,200
UNrealized GAIN (JOSS) ...vveeriieiieeiieeteeet ettt ettt e st e e ettt e st eestbeessbeesabeesaseessbeessseessseessseesseesssaesseensseesseensseenes (6,542)
Balance at DecembDer 31, 2024 .........o.ooiiiiiiiiee ettt ettt ettt e e eaeeenaeans $ 3,658

The initial value of the forward contract asset in the amount of $10,200 at August 26, 2024 represents its fair value determined
using a Black-Derman-Toy model applying Level 3 inputs as described in Note 2. The significant inputs into the model were: a
volatility of 20.0%, a term of 20.0 years and an estimated credit spread of 5.51%. The forward contract asset in the amount of
$3,658 at December 31, 2024 represents their fair value determined using a Black-Derman-Toy model applying Level 3 inputs as
described in Note 2. The significant inputs into the model were: a volatility of 20.0%, a term of 20.0 years and an estimated credit
spread of 3.35%.

12. Incentive Award Plan
Restricted Stock

In June 2023 the Company’s stockholders approved the Third Amended and Restated 2014 Incentive Award Plan, or Plan,
under which the Company may grant cash and equity incentive awards to eligible service providers in order to attract, motivate and
retain the talent for which we compete. The aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock and/or Long Term
Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) units of partnership interest in the Company’s Operating Partnership, or LTIP units that are available for
issuance under awards granted pursuant to the Plan is 1,375,000 shares/LTIP units. Shares and units granted under the Plan may be
authorized but unissued shares/LTIP units, or, if authorized by the board of directors, shares purchased in the open market. If an
award under the Plan is forfeited, expires or is settled for cash, any shares/LTIP units subject to such award may, to the extent of
such forfeiture, expiration or cash settlement, be used again for new grants under the Plan. However, the following shares/LTIP
units may not be used again for grant under the Plan: (1) shares/LTIP units tendered or withheld to satisfy grant or exercise price or
tax withholding obligations associated with an award; (2) shares subject to a stock appreciation right (“SAR”), that are not issued
in connection with the stock settlement of the SAR on its exercise; and (3) shares purchased on the open market with the cash
proceeds from the exercise of options.

The Plan provides for the grant of stock options, including incentive stock options (“ISOs”), and nonqualified stock options
(“NSOs”), restricted stock, dividend equivalents, stock payments, Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”), performance stock units
(“PSUs”), other incentive awards, LTIP units, SARs, and cash awards. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has only issued
restricted stock and performance stock units under the Plan. In addition, the Company will grant its Independent Board of Directors
restricted stock as part of their remuneration. Shares granted as part of the Plan vest equally over a four-year period while those
granted to the Company’s Independent Board of Directors vest equally over a three-year period. Annual grants given to the
Company’s Independent Board of Directors vest the earlier of one year from the date of grant, or the next annual shareholder
meeting. Holders of restricted shares of common stock have voting rights and rights to receive dividends, however, the restricted
shares of common stock may not be sold, transferred, assigned or pledged and are subject to forfeiture prior to the respective vesting
period.
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The following table is a summary of the total restricted shares granted for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Shares per Share
Unvested restricted stock at January 1, 2022 ..........cccccooiiiiiiiiniiineieeeceee e 227,356 $ 16.35
GIEANEEA ...ttt et e et e e et e e eat e e taeeeae e e etaeeeateeetaeeeraeeeaaeeeaaeens 141,000 $ 26.34
FOTTRILEA. ....evveeietieeeetet ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt bess et e bt e s essese s esseseesessens (8,750) S 20.50
VIESEEA ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et ettt et e et e et e e ens (79,532) $ 16.87
Unvested restricted stock at December 31, 2022 ............cc.ooooviiiiiiieiiicieeeeeeeeeeee e 280,074 $ 21.11
GITANLEA ..o e e 200,095 $ 21.59
FOTTRILEA. ....c.veeeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt et ettt ene e ene e nens — 3 —
VIESEEQ ..ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et ettt et et e eteeae et et s (109,326) $ 19.59
Unvested restricted stock at December 31,2023 ............cc..oooiiiiiiiiiiceeeeeeeeeee e 370,843 § 21.81
GTANTEA ...ttt et et et e e e et e et e et et e e eeeeeeeee s 146,102  $ 21.85
FOTTRILEA. ....c.veeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt ettt et e et eae et e aseaenens (7,100) S 22.66
VIESEEA ..ttt ettt ettt et ettt ettt et e ettt ettt et et e teeaeent et s (140,170) $ 20.97
Unvested restricted stock at December 31,2024 .................cooiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeeeeeeee e 369,675 $ 22.13

The Company recorded equity-based compensation expense related to the restricted stock in the amount of $3,128, $2,636 and
$2,603 for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which is included in general and administrative
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Equity-based compensation expense for shares issued to
employees and directors is based on the grant-date fair value of the award and recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite
period of the award. The unrecognized compensation expense associated with the Company’s restricted shares of common stock
was $5,348, $5,442 and $3,758 for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2.5 years, 2.7 years and 2.7 years, respectively. The fair value of the
146,102 restricted shares granted during the year ended December 31, 2024 was approximately $3,192 with a weighted average fair
value of $21.85 per share. The fair value of the 200,095 restricted shares granted during the year ended December 31, 2023 was
approximately $4,320 with a weighted average fair value of $21.59 per share. The fair value of the 141,000 restricted shares granted
during the year ended December 31, 2022 was approximately $3,714 with a weighted average fair value of $26.34 per share.

Performance Stock Units

On June 15, 2023, the compensation committee of the board of directors approved, and the Company granted, 51,410 PSUs
under the 2014 Incentive Award Plan to certain executive officers and key employees of the Company. The PSUs are subject to
performance-based criteria including the Company’s total shareholder return (65%) and total shareholder return compared to the
MSCI US REIT Index (35%) over a three-year performance period. Upon conclusion of the performance period, the final number
of PSUs vested will range between zero to a maximum of 102,820 PSUs. All vested performance stock units will convert into shares
of common stock on a 1-to-1 basis. Compensation expense is charged to earnings ratably from the grant date through to the end of
the performance period.

The fair value of the PSUs of $1,550 was determined using a lattice-binomial option-pricing model based on a Monte Carlo
simulation applying Level 3 inputs as described in Note 2. The significant inputs into the model were: grant date of June 15, 2023,
volatility of 29.0%, an expected annual dividend of 4.2%, and an annual risk-free interest rate of 4.2%.

On April 15, 2024, the compensation committee of the board of directors approved, and the Company granted, 85,983
Performance Stock Units (“PSUs”) under the 2014 Incentive Award Plan to certain executive officers and key employees of the
Company. The PSUs are subject to performance-based criteria including the Company’s total shareholder return (35%) and total
shareholder return compared to the MSCI US REIT Index (65%) over a three-year performance period. Upon conclusion of the
performance period, the final number of PSUs vested will range between zero to a maximum of 171,966 PSUs. All vested
performance stock units will convert into shares of common stock on a 1-to-1 basis. Equity-based compensation expense is charged
to earnings ratably from the grant date through to the end of the performance period.

The fair value of the PSUs of $1,757 was determined using a lattice-binomial option-pricing model based on a Monte Carlo
simulation applying Level 3 inputs as described in Note 2. The significant inputs into the model were: grant date of April 15, 2024,
volatility of 29.0%, an expected annual dividend of 4.2%, and an annual risk-free interest rate of 4.87%.
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The following table summarizes activity related to the Company’s unvested PSUs during the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023. No PSUs were granted for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Performance Fair Value per

Unvested Performance Stock Units Stock Units Unit
Balance at December 31, 2022 ......c..ooiiiiieieeeeee et — 3 —
(€11 =1« AR 51,410 30.15
V1]t RSP SPR — —
FOTTRILEA. ...ttt ettt ettt e st esse et e e s e enseeneesnneeneaseenes — —
Balance at December 31, 2023 ... 51,410 § 30.15
(€ 11 <1« AP RRR 85,983 20.44
V1]t PP — —
FOTTRILEA. ...ttt e et e et e et e esbeeebbeeseeebaeensseesseesneenees — —
Balance at December 31,2024 ............ooooiiiiioiiiie e e 137,393  § 24.07

The Company recorded equity-based compensation expense related to the PSUs in the amount of $1,069, $330, and $0 for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which is included in general and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The unrecognized compensation expense associated with the Company’s
PSUs at December 31, 2024 was approximately $1,908 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of
approximately 1.8 years.

13. Earnings per Share
Net Income (Loss) per Common Share
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders was calculated as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Numerator
Net iNCOME (10SS) .uvivrriiieieriieeietiieteetet ettt ettt ese et s e ebe s eseebe s eseeseesens $ 142,367 $ 13,807 § (17,096)
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest................ 1,520 147 (210)
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to redeemable non-controlling interest
— Series C Preferred UNItS .......oovveeeiiiiiiiiceieiieee e 1,503 — —
Net income (loss) attributable to Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc. ............. 139,344 13,660 (16,886)
Less: Preferred Stock dividends..........oooeouvveeiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeeeeeeeeee e — 2,509 4,866
Less: Series B Preferred Stock accretion to redemption value .................. — — 4,621
Less: Loss on extinguishment/redemption of Series A Preferred Stock.... — 2,023 99
Less: Amount allocated to participating SECUrities ............cceeveerreerveeenennen. 1,478 337 256
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders................c............ $ 137,866 $ 8,791 3 (26,728)
Denominator
Weighted-average common shares outstanding — basicC............cccceennenne. 44,989,288 43,554,504 39,779,128
Effect of dilutive securities
Add: Stock-based compensationD................ccocooveviiiieieee e 57,144 77,189 —
Weighted-average common shares outstanding — diluted........................ 45,046,432 43,631,693 39,779,128
Net income (loss) per share — basic and diluted
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders — basic $ 3.06 $ 020 $ (0.67)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders — diluted ~ $ 3.06 % 020 % (0.67)

(1) During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were approximately 33,175 and 69,903, respectively, unvested restricted shares of common stock on
a weighted average basis that were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share as including these shares would be anti-dilutive. During the year
ended December 31, 2022, all unvested restricted shares of common stock were deemed to be anti-dilutive due to the net loss attributable to common stockholders.

The Company uses the two-class method of computing earnings per common share in which participating securities are
included within the basic earnings per share (“EPS”) calculation. The amount allocated to participating securities is according to
dividends declared (whether paid or unpaid). The restricted stock does not have any participatory rights in undistributed earnings.
The unvested shares of restricted stock are accounted for as participating securities as they contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends.
PSUs, which are subject to vesting based on the Company achieving certain total shareholder return thresholds over a three-year
performance period, are included as contingently issuable shares in the calculation of diluted EPS when the total shareholder return
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thresholds are achieved at or above the threshold levels specific in the award agreements, assuming the reporting period is the end
of the performance period, and the effect is dilutive.

In periods where there is a net loss attributable to common stockholders, the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same. The
Company’s potential dilutive securities for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 include the 369,675 and 370,843 shares of
restricted common stock, respectively, and 137,393 and 67,967 PSUs, respectively. The restricted common shares, PSUs and out
of the money warrants have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders
for the year ended December 31, 2022 as the effect of including them would reduce the net loss per share.

14. Warrant Liability

On August 26, 2024, the Company and the Operating Partnership entered into the Purchase Agreement with the Investor, as
discussed in Note 11. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Operating Partnership agreed to issue and sell to the Investor warrants
(the “Warrants”) to purchase, in the aggregate, up to 11,760,000 OP Units.

The Warrants were issued in three tranches pursuant to a warrant agreement (the “Warrant Agreement”) entered into by the
Company, the Operating Partnership and the Investor on the Original Issue Date:

*  The first tranche is for 4,410,000 OP Units with an initial strike price of $25.25 per unit;
e The second tranche is for 2,940,000 OP Units with an initial strike price of $26.25 per unit; and,
e The third tranche is for 4,410,000 OP Units with an initial strike price of $27.25 per unit.

Once the holder of such Warrants exercises the Warrants into OP Units, the holder can elect to tender for redemption the OP
Units in exchange for cash, however the Company can elect to settle these OP Units for either cash or shares of the Company’s
Common Stock at the election of the Company pursuant to the exchange right set forth in the Warrant Agreement. The Warrants
are exercisable on a net settlement basis and expire on August 26, 2029, subject to a two-year extension under certain conditions.

The Warrants provide standard antidilution adjustments, as well as adjustments in the strike price of the Warrants to an amount
equal to the issuance price per share, of the Common Stock or OP Unit, if the Company or the Operating Partnership issues (or
otherwise sells) any shares of Common Stock, OP Units, or equity-linked securities, if Company or the Operating Partnership
reprices or amends any of its any existing equity-linked securities and upon the payment of dividends. This provision does not meet
the definition of a down round feature as it is not solely related to an issuance of equity securities. Therefore, the Warrants are not
considered indexed to the Operating Partnership’s own stock and are required to be accounted for as derivative liabilities, initially
recognized at fair value, and subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognized in earnings.

In accordance with the adjustment provisions outlined within the Warrant Agreement, the associated strike price and amount
of each tranche of Warrants were adjusted to the following at December 31, 2024:

e The first tranche is for 4,517,676 OP Units with an updated strike price of $24.65 per unit,
*  The second tranche is for 3,011,784 OP Units with an updated strike price of $25.62 per unit, and
*  The third tranche is for 4,517,676 OP Units with an updated strike price of $26.60 per unit.

Redemption

The Operating Partnership has the right to redeem all outstanding Warrants for cash if the volume-weighted average price of
the Common Stock for the 90 consecutive trading days ending on the 5" anniversary of the Original Issue Date (“Redemption
VWAP?”) is less than $21.00. This redemption right may only be exercised once and, if exercised, must be exercised in redemption
of all outstanding Warrants at such time. The Operating Partnership does not have the right to redeem the Warrants at its election.

In the event of a redemption, if the Operating Partnership does not pay the applicable redemption price, calculated in accordance
with the Warrant Agreement, prior to the close of business on the redemption date, then any amounts paid after the redemption date
shall accrue interest at a rate of 10.0% per annum, compounding monthly.

Exercise of Warrants

Holders of the Warrants will have the right to submit all, or any whole number of Warrants that is less than all of their Warrants
for exercise at any time during the first 5 years after the date of issuance of the Warrants. This can be extended to 7 years if the
volume-weighted average price of the Common Stock for the 90 consecutive trading days ending on the 5" anniversary of the
issuance date is equal to or less than the strike price of the Warrants.

Settlement Upon Exercise

Upon the exercise of any Warrant, the Operating Partnership will settle such exercise by paying or delivering OP Units
according to either a physical or cashless settlement.

The exercise price of the Warrants is subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of:

»  Stock dividends, splits or combinations,
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*  The distribution of rights, options or warrants of the Company’s Common Stock

* Distributions of shares of capital stock or other property

e Cash dividends and distributions

e Tender or exchange offers made by the Company or any of its subsidiaries for shares of Common Stock
e Degressive Issuances

Exchange Right

Each holder of the Warrants who exercises their Warrants to obtain OP Units will have the right to require the Operating
Partnership to redeem all or a portion of the OP Units held by the holder. The settlement amount subject to the redemption right is
a cash amount equal to:

*  The last reported sale price per share of Common Stock on the trading day immediately prior to the date that the redemption
is exercised, multiplied by the number of shares of Common Stock equal to the product of the number of OP Units offered
for redemption by the holder, multiplied by the Conversion Factor.

e The Conversion Factor is 1.0 but is subject to adjustment if the Company declares or pays a dividend on its Common Stock
or makes a distribution to all holders of its Common Stock in shares of outstanding Common Stock, subdivides its Common
Stock or combines its outstanding Common Stock. The Conversion Factor will also be adjusted if the Company enters into
a merger, acquisition, combination or consolidation where the Company is no longer the general partner of the Operating
Partnership.

If a holder exercises their redemption right, the Company will have the sole and absolute discretion to elect to redeem the OP
Units by paying to the holder either the settlement amount or an amount in the Company’s Common Stock.

Fair Market Value of Warrants

The fair value of the Warrants is re-measured at each financial reporting period with any changes in fair value recognized as
an unrealized loss/gain of Warrants in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, included within Gain on financing
transaction. The Warrants are not included in the computation of diluted net loss per share as they are anti-dilutive for the year
ended December 31, 2024.

A roll-forward of the warrant liability is as follows:

Balance upon issuance AUGUSE 26, 2024 .............cccooeiiieiiieiiieeieeiteerteesteeeeeesaeestteestaeesteeestbeenseeessaeeseeenseeensees $ 89,856
UNTEAlIZEA (ZAIN) 10SS ...iuviiiieiieii ettt ettt ettt et e e ete e b e e teeeteeeseesbeesseesseesseessesssesseesseenseensesssesseesseenseans 43,948)
Balance at DecembBer 31,2024 .........oc.ooiuiiiieee oottt ettt ettt ettt eae e eneeanes $ 45,908

The initial value of the Warrants in the amount of $89,856 at August 26, 2024 represent their fair value determined using a
Monte Carlo Model applying Level 3 inputs as described in Note 2. The significant inputs into the model were: exercise price of
$25.25, $26.25 and $27.25, respective to each tranche, volatility of 28.0%, an expected dividend yield of 4.3%, a variable term of
5 or 7 years and an annual risk-free interest rate of 3.7%. The warrants in the amount of $45,908 at December 31, 2024 represent
their fair value determined using a Monte Carlo Model applying Level 3 inputs as described in Note 2. The significant inputs into
the model were: exercise price of $25.25, $26.25 and $27.25, respective to each tranche, volatility of 28.0%, an expected dividend
yield of 4.6%, a variable term of 4.7 or 6.7 years and an annual risk-free interest rate of 4.4%.

15. Commitments and Contingencies
Employment Agreements

The Company has entered into employment agreements with the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Managing Director,
Chief Financial Officer, and Executive Vice President Asset Management. As approved by the compensation committee of the
Board of Directors the agreements provide for base salaries ranging from $350 to $650 annually with discretionary cash and stock
performance awards. The agreements contain provisions for equity awards, general benefits, and termination and severance
provisions, consistent with similar positions and companies.

Legal Proceedings

The Company is not currently party to any material legal proceedings. At each reporting date, the Company evaluates whether
or not a potential loss amount or a potential range of loss is probable and reasonably estimable under the provisions of the
authoritative guidance that addresses accounting for contingencies. The Company expenses, as incurred, the costs related to such
legal proceedings.
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Contingent Liability

Under the terms of the Plymouth MIR JV II LLC agreement executed July 6, 2023, the majority partner has the right to require
us to purchase its 98% interest in the 297,583 square foot property located in Atlanta, GA at the greater of the property’s then-
current fair market value, or, 150% of aggregate capital contributions made by the majority partner. Such right can be executed by
the majority partner no sooner than June 1, 2025, and no later than August 29, 2025. As of December 31, 2024 the projected fair
market value of the property at the date the put option is exercisable is expected to exceed the 150% of the aggregate capital
contributions made by the majority partner, and as such, there is no contingent liability to recognize.

16. Retirement Plan

The Company in December 2014 established an individual SEP IRA retirement account plan for all employees. The Company
has accrued a contribution for 2024 in the amount of $457 and an amount of $403 for 2023, which is included in accounts payable,
accrued expenses and other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. The Company has no control or administrative responsibility related to the individual accounts and is not obligated to
fund them in future years.

17. Subsequent Events

On February 20, 2025, the Company acquired a single building, single-tenant industrial property, consisting of approximately
263,000 square feet, located in Cincinnati, OH for an aggregate purchase price of $23.3 million.
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Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc.
Real Estate Properties and Accumulated Depreciation
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

(8 in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Real Estate
Balance at the beginning of the year $ 1,567,866 $§ 1,555846 $ 1,254,007
Additions during the Year........c.cueeeueeiueeiueeiieeiieeiieeieeeieeeeeeeeaeeanns 130,659 29,615 302,265
Disposals during the Year........ceeuuevunerreeiueeieeiieeiieeieeieeeeeeneeseesnnn. (280,220) (17,595) (426)
Balance at the end of the Year ..............oveivuiiiiiiiiiiieiiie e $ 1,418305 $ 1,567,866 $ 1,555,846
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at the beginning of the year.............coevvvueiiiiviiiieiiieeineeennn. $ 268,046 $ 205,629 $ 142,192
Depreciation EXPEINSE .uu.vunerrnerrernerrnerrerueernerenerenersnerneerneerneesneesaeres 65,789 67,920 63,557
Disposals during the year..........ceeuvieiuiiiiiiiiiiiniiiiiiiiiiee e, (72,227) (5,503) (120)
Balance at the end of the Year ..........eeiiiiieieiiiiiiee e $ 261,608 $ 268,046 $ 205,629
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